
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, October 19, 2022

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

22-1306 Common Council Meeting Minutes & Common Council Special Session 

Meeting Minutes of October 5, 2022

CC Minutes 10-5-22 Special Session.pdf

CC Minutes 10-5-22.pdf

Attachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

22-1109 Public Hearing for Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment #3-22 for 

Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, 

Opportunity Site #7 Soldier's Square/YMCA Parking Ramp

 

TA 3-22 Public Hearing Notice.pdfAttachments:

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21855
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=df83883a-3cbc-44de-b018-4a60a406915f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=54abef26-8a2a-40af-a262-9bcd1e9717fe.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21658
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=88378d89-0414-4010-a060-6f9cd4ce4c96.pdf


October 19, 2022Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

22-1280 Rankin Street, from 200’ south of Alton Street to College Avenue, be 

reconstructed with asphalt pavement and curb and gutter.  The dimensions 

of the Rankin Street reconstruction project are as follows:

200’ south of Alton Street - Alton St:  New asphalt pavement to be 

constructed to a width of 25’ from back of curb to back of curb, 

which is 1’ narrower than the existing street within this portion of the 

project.  Existing on-street parking to remain unchanged within this 

portion of the project.

Alton St - College Ave:  New asphalt pavement to be constructed 

to a width of 31’ from back of curb to back of curb, which is 2’ 

narrower than the existing street within this portion of the project.  

Existing on-street parking to remain unchanged within this portion of 

the project.

 

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

22-1292 Summit Street, from Packard Street to Elsie Street, be reconstructed with 

asphalt pavement and concrete curb & gutter to a width of 26’ from back of 

curb to back of curb, which is 2’ narrower than the existing street.  Existing 

on-street parking would be restricted along the west side of Summit Street, 

within the project limits.

 

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

22-1267 Cigarette License application for Pillow Talk-N-Wine LLC, Lisa Pitts, 

Applicant, located at 2310 W College Ave Unit C.

Pillow Talk n Wine S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21829
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21841
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21816
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9f82340a-6c6e-46e3-9ce9-f53f0f785fc3.pdf


October 19, 2022Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

22-1132 Request to approve Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Text Amendment 

#3-22 to amend Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown 

Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier's Square/YMCA 

Parking Ramp on Pages 314, 318 and 319, as identified in the attached 

documents and approve attached Resolution

StaffReport_SoldiersSquare_CompPlanTextAmend_For09-14-22.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

9/14/22 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on October 19, 2022.

22-1133 Request to approve the Trail View Estates South 3 Final Plat as shown on 

the attached maps and subject to the conditions in the attached staff report

StaffReport_TrailViewEstatesSouth3_FinalPlat_For10-12-22.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

22-1247 Request to approve Special Use Permit #11-22 for a restaurant with 

alcohol sales and service and associated outdoor area located at 2821 N. 

Ballard Road (Tax Id #31-1-6536-00), as shown on the attached materials 

and per attached plan of operation, to run with the land subject to the 

conditions in the attached staff report and approve attached Resolution 

(2/3 vote of Common Council required for approval)

StaffReport_2821NBallardRd_SUP_For10-12-22.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

22-1278 Request to reject base bid from Staab Construction in the amount of 

$643,600 for the 2022 AWWTP Blended Sludge Piping and Preliminary 

Heat Exchanger Replacement Project.

 

Finance Memo_SSB Construction Project Bid Rejection.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Finance Committee recommended for approval

22-1282 Request to award the 2022 AWWTP Biogas Boiler System Upgrades 

Project contract to Rohde Brothers, Inc. in the amount of $333,450 with a 

12% contingency of $40,014 for a project total not to exceed $373,464.

 

2022 AWWTP BIOGAS BOILER SYSTEM HVAC Upgrades Project_.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21681
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=25e17c8e-168b-4d1e-9d08-d0243902ac86.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21682
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c393f03b-e897-4eca-90fe-37a86c53a824.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21796
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9371bbed-86d2-46c3-94ff-676a6c803155.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21827
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3e71f706-3ee0-43fe-ba1f-6afcf9427e17.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21831
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bf97bb71-bc48-4ac2-a432-c64b3079e427.pdf


October 19, 2022Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

22-1283 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2022 Telulah Pavilion Repairs 

Project contract to RJM Construction, LLC. in the amount of $158,572 with 

a 12% contingency of $19,028 for a project total not to exceed $177,600.

 

2022 Telulah Pavilion Repairs Project.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Finance Committee recommended for approval

22-1284 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2022 AWWTP Painting Project 

contract to SDS Painting Co., Inc. in the amount of $121,760 with a 8% 

contingency of $10,000 for a project total not to exceed $131,760 .

2022 AWWTP Painting Project.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Finance Committee recommended for approval

22-1288 Request to approve the following 2022 Budget amendment: 

Public Works Capital Project Fund -$27,302

Facilities Capital Project Fund            +$27,302

To record transfer of sidewalk costs from Public Works Capital Project 

Fund to Facilities Capital Project Fund.  

 

Library Sidewalk Budget Amendment.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/10/22 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

22-1264 Request to approve a variance to Section 4.H of the Deed Restrictions and 

Covenants for the Northeast Business Park Plat No. 3 to allow for an 

ancillary structure at 2331 E. Evergreen Drive (Tax Id #31-1-6510-41)

Parker Johns Variance Request Memo 10-12-22.pdf

Variance Request Narrative from Parker Johns.pdf

Storage Shed_Sheet A1_Elevations_Parker Johns.pdf

Bldg Remodel Plans_Parker Johns.pdf

NEBP Plat 3 Declaration of Covenants + Restrictions.pdf

NEBP Map.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21832
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6a6e6294-2f97-423b-b2b9-3e9f885bd271.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21833
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=43b1a256-85a3-4126-a6ad-2490cb19d6f4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21837
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=85ba2774-7dda-4276-b87b-5519ce382373.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21813
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1fbff017-a114-49a2-88b2-0840100896bd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0e2fef7e-d68e-4a4d-a323-c660fb97bd3f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d4940af-8125-4af2-b2f9-847cf07ce6fa.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=14970777-6cff-462b-a1ad-c5bb34b933cd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3e2178cb-138c-4e85-8b75-aeb35661214d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6e717f18-47be-49ce-a6a9-512106054369.pdf


October 19, 2022Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

22-1249 Approve changes to Municipal Code Chapter 24, Erosion and Sediment 

Control.

 

2022 Sept ESC Ord revisions combined.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/11/22 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

22-1250 Approve changes to Erosion and Sediment Control Program.

 

2022 Sept ESC Program combined.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/11/22 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

22-1274 Request to approve 2023 Add-on Water Main Replacement Project List.

 

Utilities Committees - 10-11-22 - Project List - 2023 Add-on Water Main Replacements.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/11/22 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

22-1240 Request to Approve the Fire Fighter 2023-2025 Contract. 

 

Fire TA August 19, 2022 for HR Committee.pdf

Fire Fighter Contract 2023.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

22-1241 Request to Approve the Fringe Benefit Policy Changes. 

 

Fringe Benefit Policy 2022.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/12/22 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21798
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3d590df5-7a7c-4c29-b838-62558b1084dd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21799
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=04b3fe36-c089-49f9-8ca1-992ab26c90dc.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21823
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=20643431-1621-4887-9d7d-a48a730b35d6.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21789
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c4ef8e97-6f4c-4af1-9320-f906b24a6568.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ab16600b-176b-459c-b6f5-6d2d1c5239bb.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21790
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=774c7bad-154b-4013-9b52-9e530b70fa3d.pdf


October 19, 2022Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

N. ITEMS HELD

O. ORDINANCES

22-1307 Ordinances 57-22 & 58-22

Ordinances to Council 10-19-22.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 10/14/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21856
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5734059a-99ec-49f2-8b73-25adc842c99a.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

6:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, October 5, 2022

SPECIAL SESSION

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 6:00 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGB.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSC.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake 

Woodford

Present: 16 - 

Page 1City of Appleton



October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIOND.

The following spoke during Public Participation:

Cindy Kort, 405 S Olde Oneida St. #203

Laura Leimer, 720 E Washington St.

Ronna Swift, 230 W Seymour St.

Neo Medina, 2424 Main Ave, Kaukauna

Christian Anderson, 1014 N Fair St.

John Brogan, 2600 Riverside Dr Kaukauna

Margret Mann, 821 S Pierce Ave

Elisa DeGroot, 335 W Prospect Ave

Kerry Williamsen, 209 N Mason St.

Carla Mitchell, 4th Street

Antoinette Powell, 401 W Prospect Ave

Keith Powell, 401 W Prospect Ave

Dane Schumacher, 3000 W Spencer St

Jennifer Stephany, 333 W College Ave

Linda Crowley, 7 Bracken Ct

Gwen Sargeant, 2401 W Cherokee Dr

Liz Garvey, 329 W Prospect Ave

Anistasia Burkam, 303 S Memorial Dr

Jason Dedering, 231 W Prospect Dr

Evelyn Bowman, 1330 Oakcrest Ct

Matthew Prom, 520 W 5th St

Kaufman, Durkee St.

Ballard, Wisconsin Ave

Thomas Bowman, 1330 Oakcrest Ct

Christine Williams, 1037 W Oklahoma St

PRESENTATIONE.

22-1237 Presentation by representatives of the Trout Museum of Art re: the 

relocation of the museum to Ellen Kort Peace Park 

ACTION ITEMF.

22-1238 Authorize staff to proceed to Step No. 4 on the Process Map for Ellen 

Kort Peace Park Proposal

 

Trout - Updated Process Map.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Siebers, that the Item be 

held for two weeks, until another Special Session of the Council. Roll Call. 

Motion failed by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson 

Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao and Alderperson Christopher 

Croatt

5 - 

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21786
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21787
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=dc650d5e-0205-4acd-8e03-a0c45a668b71.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel 

Del Toro, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, 

Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate 

Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

10 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Thyssen, that the 

authorization of staff to proceed to Step. 4 on the Process Map be approved. 

Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Nate Wolff, 

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and 

Alderperson Chad Doran

8 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, 

Alderperson Vaya Jones and Alderperson Kristin Alfheim

7 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSG.

ADJOURNH.

Alderperson Wolff moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 8:17 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 3City of Appleton



100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, October 5, 2022

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 8:31 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Hartzheim

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake 

Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All Departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

22-1235 Common Council Meeting Minutes of September 21, 2022

 

CC Minutes 9-21-22.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Thyssen, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21784
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=33f11264-2e02-4607-8cf9-58cb59239fdc.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

22-1232 Proclamations

  - Indigenous Peoples' Day

  - Coming Out Day

  - White Cane Awareness Day

  - Fire Prevention Week

  - Domestic Violence Awareness Month

  - Mental Health Day

 

Indigenous Peoples' Day Proclamation.pdf

Coming Out Day Proclamation.pdf

White Cane Awareness Day Proclamation.pdf

Fire Prevention Week Proclamation.pdf

Domestic Violence Awareness Month.pdf

Mental Health Day Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

22-1233 2023 Executive Budget & Service Plan Presentation 

The 2023 Executive Budget and Service Plan was presented. More information 

and items related to the Budget are scheduled throughout October.  The Public 

Hearing on the 2023 Proposed Executive Budget is November 2nd at 6:00 p.m.  

Budget adoption is November 9th at 6:00 p.m.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

April 4216 N Windcross Dr, spoke representing the League of Women Voters on Item 

22-1212 Resolution supporting election officials.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21781
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=15c43c6b-faa3-44dc-8b0e-ed45bbdb3ca4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5c7c5d29-7dd7-43f5-aaad-e690dcd975a9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=21c0fa75-2999-43e8-8231-a2b09c562652.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=412efaa4-cdf3-4058-a412-c389491a0dcf.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=91b724cd-73a7-42ab-944b-38aba2f41d16.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4dc6cb45-9325-49b5-9f5a-dcfb4c3c7c1e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21782


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

22-1147 Request from Mark Van Grinsven, 1610 W. Glendale Avenue, for a 

variance to Municipal Code Section 19-91(f) for a driveway widened 

more than 4 feet into the front yard.

 

Driveway X.jpg

Driveway Extension.pdf

9-21 Van Grinsven Letter & Photos re driveway req.pdf

9-21 Taggart letter re Van Grinsven driveway req.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Thyssen, that the 

variance request be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson Christopher Croatt

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran2 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

22-1212 Resolution #11-R-22, Resolution in Support of Election Officials

 

#11-R-22 Resolution in Support of Election Officials.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Doran moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

Resolution be amended to strike paragraphs 4-7. Roll Call. Motion failed by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran2 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson Christopher Croatt

13 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

Resolution be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson Christopher Croatt

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran2 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21696
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ee43051f-e6c6-4684-aabe-e4adfb653bab.jpg
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8ab931cd-56c0-42c3-8a77-e79756a77c06.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3478b84a-2769-4178-a421-9f1dffe6fdf4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e7a32e2a-34f9-4e6d-badb-a4ce55d4d0be.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21761
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=740ae2b7-06f5-4122-b620-e83d6ee31e01.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, Alderperson Croatt seconded, to approve the 

balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

22-1208 Award the 2022-2027 Sidewalk & Crosswalk Snow Removal Services 

Contract to Complete Flatwork Specialists in accordance with the hourly 

rates included in their proposal dated September 9, 2022. The term of 

this contract will be from October 2022 through June of 2027, conditioned 

upon satisfactory performance by the contractor. 

 

2022-2027 College Ave SIdewalk & Crosswalk Snow Services.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1209 Approve the proposed handicap-accessible parking stall on the 100 

block of S. Locust Street.

 

Handicap parking-100 block Locust St.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

22-1138 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License Permanent Premise 

Amendment application for Ultimate Mart LLC d/b/a Pick N Save #8187, 

Lyndsey Lawrence, Agent, located at 511 W Calumet St.

Pick N Save 8187.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 4City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21757
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=47b5fdb5-fa1a-4cd0-83ec-476dc307c64b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21758
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=482024a7-96fd-43c6-97af-be05c3bf4ab0.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21687
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=54bd76cf-c6a5-4be9-ac97-083f187a1eb7.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

22-1176 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License application for Bowlero 

Wisconsin LLC d/b/a Super Bowl Family Entertainment, Scott M Radtke, 

Agent, located at 2222 E Northland Ave, contingent upon approval from 

the Health department.

Super Bowl.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1206 Secondhand Article Dealer License application for Checkpoint Gaming, 

Dean J Farley, applicant, located at 609A W College Ave.

Checkpoint Gaming S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1224 Request to Approve FEMA's Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) for a 

Regional Radio Project.

 

09-22-22_AFG_County_Radio_Grant.pdf

EMW-2021-FG-01241 - Regional Radio Grant - Budget Amendment - 

09.22.2022.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1225 Request to Accept Emergency Medical Service (EMS) FLEX Grant.

 

09-22-22_EMS_Flex_Grant_Memo.pdf

State of Wisconsin Health Services - EMS Flex Grant - Budget 

Amendment - 09.22.2022.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

22-1195 Request to approve Certified Survey Map #25-22, which crosses a plat 

boundary, for the F Street Phase III development located in Southpoint 

Commerce Park, west of S. Eisenhower Drive and south of E. Milis Drive 

(Tax Id #31-9-5714-00, 31-9-5714-01, 31-9-5714-02, 31-9-5712-30, 

31-9-5712-31, 31-9-5712-32, and 31-9-5712-33) as shown on the 

attached map and subject to the conditions in the attached staff report

StaffReport_F Street Phase III_CrossingPlatBoundary_For09-28-22.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

Page 5City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21725
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=21a99c10-b3a3-4fbb-908e-7bbf3fd2030c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21755
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bc098977-238e-4e72-a6c9-7d0bc234f688.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21773
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a49a1e8b-b4d0-49d0-b43b-b56f855b6ad5.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=89d3c590-cfc4-42ee-b06f-2bac96157c5d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21774
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4639727b-0f4e-4226-87e4-4ab624888e77.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6c193477-ba2d-4adf-8530-d48defdf1047.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21744
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=89a47b69-0287-4832-814a-043fb33c8a94.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

22-1214 Request to award the 2022 Lake Station Gate Improvements Project contract 

to Milbach Construction Services Co. in the amount of $72,000 with a 10% 

contingency of $7200 for a project total not to exceed $79,200.

2022 Lake Station Gate Replacement Project.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1217 Request to deny all bids for the Appleton Public Library project received on 

September 20, 2022. 

2022 Library Bids - Rejected.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1218 Request to approve Contract Amendment / Change Order No.4 to contract 

133-21, Unit U-21 Apple Creek Ct & Plamann Park S&W Construction for 

additional measured quantities of water main/service quantities installed in the 

amount of $23,105.22 resulting in a decrease in contingency from $39,730 to 

$0. Overall contract amount decreases from $4,063,474.01 to $4,046,849.23. 

Unit U-21 Change Order No. 4.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1229 Request to approve the following 2022 Budget amendment:

General Fund - Fire

Misc State Aids                                  +$51,270

Misc Equipment                                 +$51,270

to record Emergency Medical Service (EMS) FLEX Grant funds from the State 

of Wisconsin and the related expenditures (2/3 vote of Council required)

09-22-22_EMS_Flex_Grant_Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 6City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21763
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c9da9028-6690-481d-9282-31f25cfa0604.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21766
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a5ffdd0e-6072-47f2-8049-110153ad9dd7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21767
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=dda12cfe-ee81-4e9e-8681-cb83638fcf00.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21778
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7272f559-6527-4151-b6e7-aa524aa05d15.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

22-1230 Request to accept FEMA’s Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) for a 

regional radio project and approve the related 2022 Budget amendment as 

follows:

Public Safety Capital Projects Fund

Federal Grants                                  +$1,807,912

Machinery & Equipment                    +$1,807,912

to record AFG grant funds and the related expenditures (2/3 vote of Council 

required)

09-22-22_AFG_County_Radio_Grant.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

22-1193 Request to approve Resolution #2022-07 to authorize the submittal of a 

Community Development Investment (CDI) grant application on behalf of 

Urbane 115 LLC to Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation 

(WEDC) in an amount not to exceed $250,000 for the redevelopment 

located at 115 E. Washington Street and the City accept the grant funds 

should they be awarded

WEDC_CDI Grant_Urbane 115 LLC_Memo to CEDC 9-28-22.pdf

Resolution #2022-07 WEDC_CDI Grant_Urbane 115 LLC.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

22-1226 Request to approve the First Amendment to the Development Agreement 

with MF Housing Partners, LLC for redevelopment located on N. Oneida 

Street, E. Harris Street, and N. Appleton Street (Parcel Nos. 

31-2-0441-00, 31-2-0443-00, 31-2-0437-00, and 31-2-0529-00) in Tax 

Increment Financing District No. 11

Rise Apts DA 1st Amendment Memo to CEDC 9-28-22.pdf

0718 - Rise Apartments - First Amendment to Dev Agrm - 09-23-2022 

(clean).pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

Page 7City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21779
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d0d860cc-a6a6-4c23-b75b-7dbcd3e54525.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21742
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a926d090-c3dc-4d33-9ecc-cb36249a27ad.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=edf1d506-4e0c-4361-a267-5dc3fe4953b4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21775
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=938171c4-48d4-49d4-aa09-46f19b2c1293.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=01e948fe-96ff-4db9-a092-11d47a1869f0.pdf


October 5, 2022Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

22-1198 Authorization to Award Scheduling and Planning Software Contract to 

Optibus Inc.

Award Recommendation Optibus.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 9:45 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 8City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=21747
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7c84e8d7-2657-4e89-bd2e-4776d95f9552.pdf


       
CITY OF APPLETON  

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
PROPOSED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TEXT AMENDMENT 

 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of a Public Hearing to be held before the Common Council on Wednesday, 
October 19, 2022, at 7:00 P.M. in Council Chambers, 6th Floor, City Hall, 100 North Appleton Street, or as 
soon thereafter as can be heard, for the purpose of considering a Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment 
request. 
 

Pursuant to Wisconsin State Statute 66.1001 and the City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 
2010-2030, Comprehensive Plan Text Amendments have been initiated by the City of 
Appleton Community and Economic Development Department, in the matter of the City Plan 
Commission to review the recommended text amendments to Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, 
Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s Square/YMCA 
Parking Ramp, Pages 314, 318 and 319.  

 
A copy of the proposed text amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 is available in the Appleton 
Community and Economic Development Department or the Office of the City Clerk from 8:00 a.m. until 4:30 
p.m., Monday through Friday. 
 
All persons interested are invited to attend this meeting and will be given an opportunity to be heard.  
Feedback can also be shared with Common Council members via written letter, email, or phone call.  Any 
questions regarding this matter should be directed to Karen Harkness, Director of the Community and 
Economic Development Department at 920-832-6468 or by email at karen.harkness@appleton.org. 
 
       KAMI LYNCH 
       CITY CLERK 
 

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and if feasible. 
 
 
RUN: September 19, 2022 

mailto:karen.harkness@appleton.org




 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Petitioner’s Request:  City staff is initiating a text amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.  

 

BACKGROUND  ___________________________________________________  _ 

On March 15, 2017, the Common Council approved/adopted the 5-year update to the Comprehensive 

Plan 2010-2030 and Future Land Use Map.  This plan establishes a vision for future land use, physical 

development, and quality of life in the City and provides a comprehensive set of goals, policies, and 

initiatives to achieve that vision.  Periodically, development proposals or changing circumstances within 

the City may trigger an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.   

 

On June 1, 2022, the Council discussed and rejected Resolution #6-R-22 “Revitalization of Soldier’s 

Square”. However, the discussion indicated that Council supports this project as a philanthropic public-

private collaboration and would like to see a fundraising component. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Amendment Procedure: The Plan Commission will conduct a public hearing on the proposed 

amendment.  The public hearing before Plan Commission will be noticed as a Class II notice.  The Plan 

Commission will act on the proposed amendment by resolution and forward the recommendation to the 

Common Council.  Common Council will conduct a public hearing in accordance with Wisconsin State 

Statutes (currently as a Class I notice requiring 30 days notice) and will then, by majority vote, accept or 

deny the amendment. 

 

Proposed Text Amendment:  In response to public input and Council action taken on Resolution #6-R-

22 “Revitalization of Soldier’s Square”, staff proposes the following text amendments to Chapter 14: 

Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s 

Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Pages 314, 318 and 319. 

 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Public Hearing Meeting Date:  September 14, 2022 

Common Council Public Hearing Meeting Date:  October 19, 2022 (Class 1 

Public Hearing Notice on Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment) 

Item:  City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Text Amendment #3-22 

Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, 

Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Pages 314, 318 and 

319 

Case Managers:  Karen Harkness, Director and Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community and 

Economic 

Development 



 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Text Amendment #3-22  

September 14, 2022 

Page 2 

 

Proposed new text language in Red Font: 

Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7. Soldiers 

Square on Page 314 

7. Soldiers Square  See Comp Plan Amend #3-22 Pages 318-319 

 

Proposed text language to be deleted in strikeout and new proposed text language in underlined: 

Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7. Soldier’s 

Square/YMCA Parking Ramp on Pages 318-319 

7. Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Page 318 

A mixed use concept would replace a portion of the YMCA parking ramp site with a public plaza, 
while preserving a portion of the site for a development which might include a mix of parking, 
office, and commercial uses. The concept illustrated in the perspective drawing below would 
allow for a combination of flexible outdoor pedestrian zones. Features of the proposed mixed use 
development could include: 

• 4 story mixed use building could include a mix of residential, office, commercial, or parking 
uses 

• Possible arcade with retail shops on ground floor 

• Rooftop seating 

• Green roof 

 

7. Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Page 319 

The right of way (ROW) known as Solider Square houses the historic civil war monument dedicated 
in 1911.  This bronze and granite sculpture is currently undergoing much needed maintenance and 
restoration.    

 

A philanthropic public-private partnership to restore the monument (public) and raise funds to 
undertake the expansion of a flexible outdoor pedestrian zone (private) that would include:  

• An extended pedestrian area around the civil war monument, including benches, reflection area, 
informative plaques, etc.   

• Maintain street parking to support a variety of businesses and public ingress/egress to area. 

• Encourage sustainable elements. 

• Environment support small group gatherings, place making and increase vibrancy. 

 

 

 

 



 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Text Amendment #3-22  

September 14, 2022 

Page 3 

 
 

The YMCA Parking Ramp is being replaced with a new parking ramp. 

 

 
 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the August 23, 2022 Technical Review 

Group agenda.  No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Based upon the above analysis, staff recommends the proposed text amendments to Chapter 14: 

Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s 

Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Pages 314, 318 and 319 of the City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 

2010-2030, and the Resolution, BE APPROVED. 
 



RESOLUTION 

CITY OF APPLETON 

 

ADOPTION OF THE RECOMMENDED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AS PREPARED BY THE CITY OF APPLETON PLAN 

COMMISSION 

 

 WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Appleton pursuant to Section 62.23 of 

the Wisconsin Statutes, has established a City Plan Commission; and  

 

 WHEREAS, on March 3, 2010, the Common Council adopted the City of Appleton 

Comprehensive Plan to promote public health, safety and welfare of the City by effectively 

guiding long-range growth and development within the city and its statutory extraterritorial 

planning jurisdiction; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 12: Implementation, Comprehensive Plan Update Procedures, of 

the Comprehensive Plan was created in the City of Appleton Code of Ordinances to provide 

procedures and criteria for amending and updating the City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, members of the public were invited to make comments at a meeting held on 

September 14, 2022, by the City Plan Commission, wherein the following Comprehensive Plan 

text amendments (Amendment #3-22) herein adopted were reviewed and commented upon by 

members of the public; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission has reviewed the recommended text 

amendments to the Comprehensive Plan Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown 

Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Pages 314, 

318 and 319 at a meeting held on September 14, 2022, and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the recommended text 

amendments to the Comprehensive Plan, found these amendments to meet the criteria outlined in 

Chapter 12: Implementation, Comprehensive Plan Update Procedures, warranting inclusion in 

this resolution; 

 

1. Having been filed with the City Clerk by the City of Appleton Community and 

Economic Development Department requesting a Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

to change the text of Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 4: Downtown 

Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, 

Pages 314, 318 and 319.   

 

 WHEREAS, members of the public, adjacent and nearby local governmental units will 

be given a 30-day review and comment period prior to the public hearing, which will be 

conducted by the Common Council for the Comprehensive Plan proposed amendment; and  

 



 WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the Common Council will decide whether to 

adopt by ordinance the proposed text amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan may be used as the basis for, among other things, 

updating the zoning ordinance, accomplishing extra-territorial zoning and as a guide for 

approving or disapproving actions affecting growth and development within the jurisdiction of 

the City of Appleton; and  

 

 WHEREAS, this Comprehensive Plan may from time to time be amended, extended, or 

added to in greater detail; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Appleton Plan Commission 

that the recommended Comprehensive Plan text amendments are hereby adopted as a part of the 

City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 pursuant to §66.1001(4), Wis. Stats. and that 

the Plan Commission recommends said Comprehensive Plan text amendments to the City of 

Appleton Common Council for adoption by ordinance, after a 30-day public review and 

comment period and public hearing. 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ____________________________, 2022. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor 

   

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk 
 



Comprehensive Plan 314 
Chapter 14: Downtown Plan 
Section 4: Downtown Development Concept 

  

Se
e 

C
om

p 
Pl

an
 A

m
en

d 
#3

-2
2

Pa
ge

s 
31

8-
31

9



Comprehensive Plan 318 
Chapter 14: Downtown Plan 
Section 4: Downtown Development Concept 

Square (left), with City Center Plaza taking on a public market character through targeted 
renovations.  

 
6. Zuelke Building 

The historic Zuelke building, completed in 1931, provides commercial office and retail 
space. At 12 stories, it provides exceptional views of the surrounding City and landscape. 
Its location in the heart of downtown Appleton is desirable from a residential standpoint. 
This conceptual plan envisions converting the upper floors of the building into residential 
uses, however it is recognized that several developers have completed due diligence on 
renovating the building to residential and have discovered significant cost and 
construction challenges. Therefore, converting the building to residential may require 
some degree of public investment and the use of Historic Tax Credits in order to be 
financially viable. 

7. Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp 

A mixed use concept would replace a portion of the YMCA parking ramp site with a public 
plaza, while preserving a portion of the site for a development which might include a mix 
of parking, office, and commercial uses. The concept illustrated in the perspective drawing 
below would allow for a combination of flexible outdoor pedestrian zones. Features of the 
proposed mixed use development could include: 

 4 story mixed use building could include a mix of residential, office, commercial, or 
parking uses 

 Possible arcade with retail shops on ground floor 

 Rooftop seating 

 Green roof 

Figure 41 Perspective from site of current Appleton Public Library looking south toward back side of City Center Plaza 



Comprehensive Plan 319 
Chapter 14: Downtown Plan 
Section 4: Downtown Development Concept 

The right of way (ROW) known as Solider Square houses the historic civil war monument 
dedicated in 1911.  This bronze and granite sculpture is currently undergoing much needed 
maintenance and restoration.    

 

A philanthropic public-private partnership to restore the monument (public) and raise funds to 
undertake the expansion of a flexible outdoor pedestrian zone (private) that would include:  

 An extended pedestrian area around the civil war monument, including benches, reflection 
area, informative plaques, etc.   

 Maintain street parking to support a variety of businesses and public ingress/egress to 
area. 

 Encourage sustainable elements. 

 Environment support small group gatherings, place making and increase vibrancy. 

 
The YMCA Parking Ramp is being replaced with a new parking ramp. 
 

 
  

Figure 42 Deleted per Comprehensive Plan Amendment #3-22.  Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Lot Perspective 

Figure 42 Image proposed to be Deleted. 



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner/Applicant:  Emerald Valley Estates, LLC  c/o Robert De Bruin 

 

Address/Parcel #:  Generally located between French Road and Cherryvale Avenue, south of the 

creek/trail corridor (Tax Id #31-1-6410-00, #31-1-6411-00, and #31-1-7513-00). 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The applicant is proposing to subdivide the property into 76 lots and one outlot for 

single-family residential development. 

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

Parcel #31-1-7513-00 was annexed to the City in 1997 with the Northeast Annexation, parcel #31-1-

6410-00 was annexed to the City in 2011 with the North French Road Annexation, and parcel #31-1-

6411-00 was annexed in 2020 with the Trail View Estates South Annexation. 

 

On September 2, 2020, Common Council approved Comprehensive Plan Amendment #1-20 and 

Rezoning #6-20.  Comprehensive Plan Amendment #1-20 amended the City’s Future Land Use Map from 

the Multi-Family Residential designation to the One and Two-Family Residential designation for parcels 

#31-1-6410-00 and #31-1-6411-00.  Rezoning #6-20 rezoned parcels #31-1-6410-00, #31-1-7513-00, and 

#31-1-6411-00 from R-3 Multi-Family District, R-2 Two-Family District, and temporary AG Agricultural 

District to R-1B Single-Family District. 

 

The Trail View Estates South Preliminary Plat, to subdivide all of parcels #31-1-6410-00, #31-1-7513-00, 

and #31-1-6411-00, was approved by Common Council on September 2, 2020. 

 

On September 2, 2020, Common Council approved the Trail View South Development Agreement to set 

forth the City of Appleton, Village of Little Chute, and developer duties and responsibilities with respect 

to development of the subject land. 

 

The Final Plat for Trail View Estates South, consisting of 25 lots, was approved by Common Council on 

November 4, 2020 for land located immediately east of the subject area (first phase of subdivision). 

 

The Final Plat for Trail View Estates South 2, consisting of 26 lots, was approved by Common Council 

on September 1, 2021 for land located immediately east and south of the subject area (second phase of 

subdivision). 

 

 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  October 12, 2022 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  October 19, 2022 

 

Item:  Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

 

Case Manager:  David Kress, Principal Planner 

Community and  

Economic Development 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 2 

October 12, 2022 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Existing Conditions:  The subject property consists of vacant, undeveloped land.  The area to be platted 

for single-family residential development totals approximately 18.5096 acres, which will be divided into 

76 lots and one outlot. 

 

Comparison between Final Plat and Preliminary Plat:  The Preliminary Plat covered a larger area 

(32.0110 acres), whereas the Final Plat is for the remaining parts of Tax Id #31-1-6410-00, #31-1-6411-

00, and #31-1-7513-00 (18.5096 acres).  One noteworthy change is that Outlot 1 has been added since the 

Preliminary Plat, based upon language included in the Trail View South Development Agreement.  

However, the Final Plat is generally consistent with the Preliminary Plat layout in terms of the shape, size, 

and location of the lots.  This is the third phase of lots for the broader subdivision development area. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  The current lot development standards for the R-1B Single-Family 

District (Section 23-93 of the Municipal Code) are as follows. 
 

• Minimum lot area:  6,000 square feet. 

o The proposed lots range in size from 2,160 square feet to 14,199 square feet.  Outlot 1 

(2,160 square feet) does not meet the lot area requirement.  All other lots exceed this 

requirement. 
 

• Minimum lot width:  50 feet. 

o The proposed lots range in width from 16 feet to approximately 177.37 feet.  Outlot 1 (16 

feet) does not meet the lot width requirement.  All other lots exceed this requirement. 
 

• Minimum front, side, and rear yard setbacks:  20 feet front yard (25 feet on arterial street), 6 feet 

side yard, and 25 feet rear yard. 

o Required front yard setback is shown on the Final Plat.  Setbacks will be reviewed through 

the building permit review process. 
 

• Maximum building height:  35 feet. 

o This will be reviewed through the building permit review process. 
 

• Maximum lot coverage:  50%. 

o This will be reviewed through the building permit review process. 

 

Compliance with the Appleton Subdivision Regulations:  This subdivision complies with the Appleton 

subdivision regulations, except as described below.  The Trail View Estates South Preliminary Plat was 

approved by Common Council with conditions granting relief from certain requirements.  The previously 

approved modification of regulations continues to apply to this Final Plat. 
 

• Grant relief from the double frontage lot requirements for proposed Lots 62-64 (now identified as 

Lots 63-65). 

• Grant relief from the minimum lot depth requirement for residential lots backing on arterials for 

proposed Lot 63 (now identified as Lot 64). 

• Grant relief from the minimum right-of-way width requirement for a segment of proposed 

Gladiolus Place/Court. 

 

 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 3 

October 12, 2022 

 

One additional modification of regulations is needed for this Final Plat.  As stated previously in the staff 

report, proposed Outlot 1 does not comply with the minimum lot area and minimum lot width 

requirements.  Zoning and subdivision regulations are typically written to deal with buildable sites, not 

sites for incidental features like a trail.  The lot area and lot width deviation request for Outlot 1 represents 

an effort to establish buildable lots while also accommodating trail access.  Pursuant to Section 17-3(f) of 

the Municipal Code, when the Common Council finds that extraordinary hardship or injustice will result 

from strict compliance with this ordinance, it may vary the terms thereof to the extent deemed necessary 

and proper to grant relief, provided that the modification meets the following three standards: 
 

(1) The modification is due to physical features of the site or its location. 

(2) The modification is the least deviation from this ordinance which will mitigate the hardship. 

(3) The modification is not detrimental to the public interest and is in keeping with the general spirit 

and intent of this ordinance. 
 

Based upon the above analysis, it would appear the standards established by Section 17-3(f) Modification 

of Regulations have been met. 

 

Access and Traffic:  Vehicular access to the subject lots is provided by extensions of existing Gladiolus 

Place, Tulip Trail, Golden Gate Drive, and Callalilly Lane.  The street right-of-way for Gladiolus Place, 

Gladiolus Court, Tulip Trail, Golden Gate Drive, and Callalilly Lane will be dedicated to the public with 

the Final Plat.  All streets are shown as 60-foot-wide right-of-way, except for the segments of Gladiolus 

Place and Gladiolus Court, which are shown as 50-foot-wide right-of-way.  No new street names are 

introduced with this phase of the subdivision. 

 

Surrounding Zoning Classification and Land Uses: 

 

North:  NC Nature Conservancy District and Town of Grand Chute.  The adjacent land uses to the north 

are currently single-family residential and the Apple Creek corridor and recreational trail. 

 

South:  R-1B Single-Family District and Village of Little Chute.  The adjacent land uses to the south are 

currently single-family residential. 

 

East:  R-1B Single-Family District.  Previous phases of the subdivision, Trail View Estates South and 

Trail View Estates South 2, are located to the east and being developed with single-family residential. 

 

West:  P-I Public Institutional District and Town of Grand Chute.  The adjacent land uses to the west are 

currently single-family residential and public open space uses, including the USA Youth Sports Complex. 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the One and Two-Family Residential designation 

shown on the City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related 

excerpts from the City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 4 

October 12, 2022 

 

Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability 

Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a range of prices affordable to 

community residents, and ensure that existing housing is adequately maintained in terms of physical 

quality and market viability. 

 

OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 

Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the community and 

allows residents to age in place. 

Policy 5.3.3  Plan for a supply of developable land suitable for residential development. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.1 Land Use:  

Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development of various land uses. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.4 Land Use: 

Plan for compact, efficient, and fiscally responsible growth of residential, commercial, and industrial 

development in new neighborhoods in order to implement the principles of smart growth. 

Policy 10.4.1  Continue to guide residential growth to locations either contiguous to or within 

presently urbanized areas.  As peripheral development occurs, it should be at a compact, urban 

density to ensure new neighborhoods can be efficiently served by public infrastructure. 

 

Parks and Open Space:  Section 17-29 of the Municipal Code requires parkland dedication or fee in lieu 

of dedication for residential subdivisions.  As specified in the Trail View South Development Agreement, 

the developer shall provide a 16-foot wide outlot between lots 91 and 110 connecting Golden Gate Drive 

and the existing Apple Creek Trail to accommodate pedestrian access to the public trail.  The City will be 

responsible for all costs to construct and maintain this trail access corridor.  The Development Agreement 

also indicates that the developer shall pay required park fees.  Park fees will be due prior to the City 

signing the Final Plat.  For lots zoned R-1B Single-Family District, park fees are $300 per lot. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the August 23, 2022 TRG agenda.  

Comments were received from participating departments and captured in the stipulations found below. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

The Trail View Estates South 3 Final Plat, as shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED subject to 

the following conditions: 

 

1. The Final Plat shall be recorded within 12 months from the approval date of the last approving 

authority and within 36 months from the approval date of the first approving authority.  Failure to 

do so requires the subdivider to recommence the entire procedure for Final Plat approval. 

 

2. For lots zoned R-1B Single-Family District, park fees are $300 per lot.  Park fees of $22,800 shall 

be paid to the City of Appleton Finance Department prior to City signatures being affixed to the 

Final Plat. 

 

3. Show or note an access control restriction along French Road. 

 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 5 

October 12, 2022 

 

4. Show the contour line lying a vertical distance of two feet above the elevation of the 100-year 

recurrence interval flood.  Per Section 17-26(i)(1) of the Municipal Code, subdivided lots shall 

have at least 50% of the minimum required lot area, based upon the respective zoning district, at 

least two feet above the elevation of the 100-year recurrence interval flood. 

 

5. Grant relief from the minimum lot width and minimum lot area requirements for Outlot 1, per 

Section 17-3(f) of the Municipal Code and as stated previously in the staff report. 

 

6. There are several errors in the Surveyor’s Certificate: 

 

a. “… along the South line of Outlot 1 of said Certified Survey Map 7878, S88°59'37"E, 65.44 

feet …” should refer to the north line. 

 

b. “… to the Northwest corner of Lot 19 of said Trail View Estates …” should refer to Trail 

View Estates South. 

 

c. “… along a East line of said Lot 39; S00°52'57"W, 110.00 feet …” should refer to the west 

line. 

 

7. Near Lots 97 and 98, the label for the 12’ utility easement appears to be in the wrong location.  

Revise as necessary. 

 

8. Provide a 15-foot-wide sanitary sewer easement centered on the Lot 56/57 property line to 

accommodate future sanitary sewer extension from Gladiolus Place to lands north of the plat. 

 

9. On Sheet 2 of the plat, modify the callout for Outlot 1 to read as follows:  Dedicated to the public 

for trail and water main purposes. 

 

10. For all “Storm Sewer” Easements shown on the plat, revise the description to read “Storm Sewer 

and Drainage” Easement. 

 

11. Provide a Storm Sewer and Drainage Easement between Lots 62 and 63. 

 

12. On the south side of Lots 69 and 70, revise the description of the “20’ Drainage Easement” to read 

“20’ Storm Sewer and Drainage Easement,” to accommodate the proposed storm sewers. 

 

13. On the south side of Lot 117, revise the description of the “15’ Drainage Easement” to read “15’ 

Storm Sewer and Drainage Easement,” to accommodate the proposed storm sewers. 

 

14. On the South side of Lot 127, revise the 15’ drainage easement to read 15’ Storm Sewer and 

Drainage Easement, to accommodate the proposed storm sewer. 

 

15. On the North side of Lot 103 and 104, revise the 15’ drainage easement to read 15’ Storm Sewer 

and Drainage Easement, to accommodate the proposed storm sewer. 

 

 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 6 

October 12, 2022 

 

16. The open circle symbol shown on the map portions of sheets 1 and 2 are missing from the 

corresponding legends, add a description for the open circle symbols to the legends. 

 

17. The scale of some of the map symbols do not match the scale of the corresponding symbols shown 

in the legend, revise as necessary. 

 

18. The exterior boundary map bearing/distance of N50°02’12”E 414.42’ does not match the 

corresponding bearing/distance of N50°02’12”E 414.41’ shown in the surveyor’s certificate. 

 

19. Any planned delay to set the plat monumentation should include an application for a 

monumentation waiver request. 

 

20. A Stormwater Permit with Stormwater Management Plan (SWMP) was issued on 10/26/2020 

based on the master SWMP developed per the overall Trail View South Preliminary Plat.  The 

design engineer shall confirm whether any changes were made in relation to the Trail View 

Estates South 3 Final Plat that could impact the approved SWMP, and submit any required 

revisions to the SWMP to DPW for review and approval. 

 

21. The Stormwater Permit and approved Stormwater Management Plan (SWMP) were issued based 

on DPW approval of the Engineering Plans, including the subdivision Drainage Plan, by Davel 

and Associates dated 11/30/2020.  Please work with DPW Engineering to provide the following 

changes to the engineering drawings, and confirm whether any other changes were made in 

relation to the Trail View Estates South 3 Final Plat that could impact the approved Engineering 

Plans, and submit any required revisions to the SWMP to DPW for review and approval: 

 

a. Provide an 8” water main stub within Outlot 1 from Golden Gate Drive to the north plat limits. 

 

b. Provide an 8” sanitary sewer stub within the 15’ sanitary sewer easement along lots 56/57 

from Gladiolus Place to the north plat limits. 

 

22. The following streets within the Final Plat are to be classified as follows: 

 

a. Gladiolus Place:  Local Street 

 

b. Gladiolus Court:  Local Street 

 

c. Tulip Trail:  Local Street 

 

d. Golden Gate Drive:  Local Street 

 

e. Callalilly Lane:  Local Street 

 

23. Development is subject to conditions of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement between 

the Village of Little Chute and City of Appleton that was approved in 2013 and amended in 2020. 

 

 



Final Plat – Trail View Estates South 3 

Page 7 

October 12, 2022 

 

24. Development is subject to conditions of the Land Dedication Agreement between B&H Properties, 

Inc. and the City of Appleton that was approved by Common Council on June 5, 2013. 

 

 

25. Development is subject to conditions of the Development Agreement between the City of 

Appleton, Village of Little Chute, and Emerald Valley Estates, LLC that was approved by 

Common Council on September 2, 2020. 

 

26. All requirements from the City of Appleton Department of Public Works, Engineering Division 

shall be met to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to the City affixing signatures on the 

Final Plat. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1-6402

1-7509-5

1-7509-6

1-7510-36
1-7510-38

1-7510-15

1-7510-16

1-7510-33

1-7510-35
1-7510-45

0-7
41

2-5

1-7
51

0-3
9

1-7
51

0-4
0

1-7
51

0-4
1

1-7
51

0-4
2

1-7
51

0-4
3

1-7
51

0-4
4

1-7
51

0-7
8

1-7
51

0-7
9

1-7
51

0-8
0

1-7
51

0-8
1

1-7
51

0-8
2

1-7
51

0-8
3

1-7
51

0-2
7

1-7
51

0-2
8

1-7
51

0-2
9

1-7
51

0-3
0

1-7
51

0-2
1

1-7
51

0-2
2

1-7
51

0-1
7

1-7
51

0-1
8

1-7
51

0-1
9

1-7
51

0-2
0

1-7
51

0-5
0

1-7
51

0-5
1

1-7
51

0-5
6

1-7
51

0-5
2

1-7
51

0-5
3

1-7
51

0-5
4

1-7
51

0-5
5

1-7510-26

1-7510-46
1-7510-47

1-7510-48
1-7510-49

1-7510-751-7510-761-7510-77

1-7510-23

1-7
510

-34

1-7
509

-04

1-7510-25
1-7510-24

1-7
51

0-3
2

1-7
51

0-3
1

1-7510-37

1-7509-7
1-7513-9

1-7513

1-6410

1-7513-12
1-7513-11

1-7513-10

1-7513-8

1-7513-7

1-7513-6

1-7513-5
1-7513-4

1-7513-3
1-7513-2

1-7513-1

1-6410-4

1-6410-5

1-6410-6

1-6411

1-6411-19

1-6411-1

1-6411-2

1-6411-18

1-6411-17

1-6411-31-6411-16

1-6411-41-6411-15

1-6411-5

1-6
41

1-2
0

1-6
41

1-2
1

1-6411-14

1-6411-6
1-6411-7

1-6411-13

1-6411-8

1-6411-12

1-6411-22

1-6411-9

1-6411-11

1-6411-10

1-6411-23

1-6411-24

1-6
41

1-2
5

1-7513-19

1-6
41

1-4
0

1-6
41

1-4
1

1-6
41

1-4
2

1-6
41

1-4
3

1-6
41

1-4
4

1-6
41

1-4
5

1-6
41

1-4
6

1-6
41

1-4
7

1-6
41

1-4
8

1-6
41

1-4
9

1-6
41

1-2
6

1-6
41

1-2
7

1-6
41

1-2
8

1-6
41

1-2
9

1-6
41

1-3
0

1-6
41

1-3
1

1-6
41

1-3
2

1-6
41

1-3
3

1-6
41

1-3
4

1-6
41

1-3
5

1-6
41

1-3
6

1-6
41

1-3
7

1-6
41

1-3
8

1-6
41

1-3
9

1-6411-50

1-6411-51

3709

4217 4225 4301 4309 4317 4325

411
7

4125

4201

48
00

47
16

-18

4112

4120

4202
4210

4218 4234 4242 4300 4308

3917

4316

47
24

47
26 3923 3931

3924 39323909-11

4717
4719

47
25

47
27

4003 4011 4019 4027 4103

4004 4012 4020 4028 4104

4226

4209

3925 4001 4009 4017 4025 4101 4109

46
47

46
85

46
73

46
51

47
13

47
19

47
01

46
24

-26
46

50
-52

46
36

-38
46

02
-04

45
86

-88

45
54

-56

453
2-3

4

3900

3865

3860
3833

3825

3822

3790

3799
3822

3866

3845

45
75

45
60

46
13

45
86

46
12

46
24

46
30

46
38

46
44

46
56

46
41

46
53

46
43

46
31

46
27

46
15

46
01

45
81

45
59

45
47

453
5

4523

377637683746372437123700

3783376937553731371737053691

3684

3679

3668

3657

3646

3635

3622

362136093585 3601

3600
36

05

36
00

36
06

FR
EN

CH
 R

OA
D

APPLESEED DR

CH
ER

RY
VA

LE
 AV

GLADIOLUS PL

CALLALILLY LA

GOLDEN GATE DR

BE
GO

NI
A D

R

N 
FR

EN
CH

 R
D

GARDENIA DR CHERRYVALE AV

TU
LIP

 TR

TU
LIP

 TR

R-1B

NC

R-1A

P-I

R-2

R-3

HO
LL

AN
D 

RD

E EDGEWOOD DR

N 
FR

EN
CH

 R
D

E ASHBURY DR

N 
PR

OV
ID

EN
CE

 AV

HWY 41

CH
ER

RY
VA

LE
 AV

W EVERGREEN DR

E GLORY LA

E DRAKE LA

E GREENLEAF DR
TU

LIP
 TR

E FALLCREEK LA

E APPLEVIEW DR
E BRAEBURN DR

GLADIOLUS PL

Trail View Estates South 3
Final Plat

Zoning Map
Subject

Area

City Plan Commission
9-14-2022

Subject Area

± 0 200 400100 Feet

City Limits

City Limits

Subject Area

10-12-22



FR
EN

CH
 R

OA
D

APPLESEED DR

GLADIOLUS PL

CALLALILLY LA

GOLDEN GATE DR

BE
GO

NI
A D

R

GARDENIA DR

N 
FR

EN
CH

 R
D

E APPLESEED DR

GLADIOLUS PL

CHERRYVALE AV

BE
GO

NIA
 DR

TU
LIP

 TR

CHERRYVALE PL

N APPLE RD

TU
LIP

 TR

Trail View Estates South 3
Final Plat

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
9-14-2022

Subject Area

City Limits

City Limits

Subject Area

± 0 200 400100 Feet
10-12-22



LEGEND

SF
(  )

1. All linear measurements have been made to the
nearest one hundredth of a foot.

2. All bearings are computed and measured to the
nearest second.

NOTES

1 14" Rebar Found

1.3" OD Iron Pipe Found
11

4" x 30" Steel Rebar @ 4.30lbs/LF SET
All Other Corners
3
4" x 24" Steel Rebar @ 1.50lbs/LF SET
Lot Areas In Square Feet

Recorded As
Existing Lot Line

CURVE TABLE

Curve

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9

C10

C11

C12

C13

C14

C15

C16

Radius

70.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

120.00'

130.00'

130.00'

130.00'

130.00'

180.00'

180.00'

180.00'

180.00'

Chord Direction

S 85°59'38" W

S 00°58'50" W

N 39°13'21" W

S 66°16'10" W

S 14°59'01" W

S 30°16'33" E

S 69°05'16" E

N 47°16'23" W

N 66°06'05" W

N 52°45'44" W

N 73°30'32" W

N 86°50'52" W

N 70°27'34" E

S 87°19'03" W

S 75°19'25" W

S 58°27'56" W

Chord Length

11.93'

120.00'

91.52'

50.35'

53.50'

38.64'

41.10'

17.53'

101.66'

43.71'

49.92'

10.30'

125.62'

22.39'

52.77'

52.77'

Arc Length

11.95'

188.70'

104.09'

51.96'

55.45'

39.34'

41.95'

17.54'

104.44'

43.91'

50.23'

10.30'

128.32'

22.40'

52.96'

52.96'

Central Angle

9°46'38"

180°11'45"

99°23'54"

49°37'04"

52°57'15"

37°33'52"

40°03'34"

8°22'34"

46°01'57"

19°21'16"

22°08'20"

4°32'21"

40°50'45"

7°07'48"

16°51'29"

16°51'29"

Tangent Bearing-in

N 81°06'19" E

S 88°55'18" E

N 88°55'18" W

S 41°27'38" W

S 11°29'37" E

S 49°03'29" E

S 89°07'03" E

S 51°27'40" E

S 43°05'06" E

N 62°26'22" W

N 84°34'42" W

N 89°07'03" W

N 50°02'12" E

S 83°45'09" W

S 66°53'40" W

S 50°02'12" W

Tangent Bearing-out

S 89°07'03" E

N 89°07'03" W

N 10°28'36" E

N 88°55'18" W

S 41°27'38" W

S 11°29'37" E

S 49°03'29" E

S 43°05'06" E

S 89°07'03" E

N 43°05'06" W

N 62°26'22" W

N 84°34'42" W

S 89°07'03" E

N 89°07'03" W

S 83°45'09" W

S 66°53'40" W

CURVE TABLE

Curve

C17

C18

C19

C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

C28

C29

C30

C31

Radius

230.00'

230.00'

230.00'

230.00'

230.00'

230.00'

170.00'

120.00'

120.00'

120.00'

70.00'

170.00'

130.00'

130.00'

130.00'

Chord Direction

N 25°06'27" E

S 45°38'23" W

S 34°32'08" W

S 21°07'15" W

S 07°44'49" W

S 00°37'46" W

N 42°32'57" E

N 70°27'34" E

N 67°15'25" E

N 87°40'47" E

N 77°06'37" W

N 07°27'20" E

S 77°06'37" E

S 75°52'14" E

S 87°52'40" E

Chord Length

193.89'

35.27'

53.73'

53.73'

53.40'

3.62'

44.31'

83.75'

71.05'

13.41'

29.13'

43.07'

54.09'

48.58'

5.62'

Arc Length

200.14'

35.30'

53.85'

53.85'

53.52'

3.62'

44.43'

85.55'

72.13'

13.42'

29.34'

43.18'

54.49'

48.86'

5.63'

Central Angle

49°51'30"

8°47'37"

13°24'53"

13°24'53"

13°19'57"

0°54'09"

14°58'31"

40°50'45"

34°26'26"

6°24'19"

24°00'53"

14°33'17"

24°00'53"

21°32'08"

2°28'45"

Tangent Bearing-in

N 00°10'42" E

S 41°14'35" W

S 27°49'41" W

S 14°24'48" W

S 01°04'51" W

S 00°10'42" W

N 35°03'41" E

N 50°02'12" E

N 50°02'12" E

N 84°28'38" E

N 89°07'03" W

N 00°10'42" E

S 65°06'10" E

S 65°06'10" E

S 86°38'18" E

Tangent Bearing-out

N 50°02'12" E

S 50°02'12" W

S 41°14'35" W

S 27°49'41" W

S 14°24'48" W

S 01°04'51" W

N 50°02'12" E

S 89°07'03" E

N 84°28'38" E

S 89°07'03" E

N 65°06'10" W

N 14°43'59" E

S 89°07'03" E

S 86°38'18" E

S 89°07'03" E

60.00'70.00' 82.00' 82.00'136.69'39.97'

77
7,700 SF

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'69

9,020 SF

S 88°55'23" E
139.92' 60

7,831 SF

116
8,105 SF

115
8,200 SF

63
10,495 SF

S 
00

°1
0'

34
" W

 1
04

.9
0'

76
7,700 SF

70
9,020 SF

71
7,700 SF

72
7,700 SF

73
7,700 SF

74
7,700 SF

75
7,700 SF

65
14,199 SF

64
8,454 SF

66
10,548 SF

67
7,508 SF

68
7,700 SF

55
7,741 SF

56
7,759 SF

58
7,795 SF

57
7,777 SF

62
11,808 SF

61
7,849 SF

59
7,813 SF 54

7,777 SF
53

7,759 SF
52

7,775 SF

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
 1

10
.0

0'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

11
0.

00
'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

 1
10

.0
0'

70.00' 70.00' 70.00'
70.00'70.00' 70.00' 70.00'

N
 0

0°
10

'4
2"

 E
   

  1
29

.2
4'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
11

0.
00

'

82.00'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
 1

10
.0

0'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
11

0.
00

'

70.00'

N
 0

4°
08

'1
8"

 E
11

0.
18

'

65.13'

N 40
°5

6'3
1"

 E

16
2.1

1'

C7

12
9.

52
'

N 78°30'23" E

128.91'

79
.9

8'

C2

60
.0

1'

186.59'

L3

C4

81.17'

C3

140.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
8.

38
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
8.

13
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
7.

89
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
7.

64
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
7.

39
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
7.

15
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
6.

90
'

72.50'

72.50'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
6.

66
'

73.00'

73.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

10
6.

41
'

62.12'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
10

6.
16

'

72.71'

C
5

C6 C1

60
.0

0'

73.00'

73.00'

C
22

56
.0

1'

71.39'

G
ol

de
n 

G
at

e 
D

riv
e

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 to

 th
e 

Pu
bl

ic
C L

25
'

25
'

CL

Gladiolus  Court
Dedicated to the Public

Tu
lip

 T
ra

il
D

ed
ic

at
ed

 to
 th

e 
Pu

bl
ic

11
'

1'

N 89°07'03" W    1032.05'

N
 0

0°
10

'3
2"

 E
   

 2
69

.5
1'

(2,125.33 )

(N89°07'06"W)

S 88°55'23" E    1052.80'

N 89°49'18" W    135.09'

S 89°49'18" E     135.09'

61
.7

7'
60

.0
0'

L6

L2

82.00' 70.00' 70.00' 70.00' 70.00' 70.00' 70.00' 70.00'

N 89°07'03" W     572.00'

S 89°07'03" E     796.79'

N 89°07'03" W     217.13'

12' Utility Easement

Gladiolus  Place
Dedicated to the Public

56.69' 80.00' 11.51' 58.49' 24.60' 57.40' 23.79' 36.21' 45.61' 36.39' 32.40' 37.60' 42.33' 27.67' 50.36' 19.64'

400.05'
572.00'

25
'

25
'

30' 30'

C L

CL

Point A

20
' D

ra
in

ag
e

Ea
se

m
en

t

12' Utility Easement

20' Drainage Easement

12' Utility Easement

20' Drainage Easement20'

20'
10'

Ea
se

m
en

t
St

or
m

 S
ew

er

Ea
se

m
en

t
St

or
m

 S
ew

er

20'
10'

20' Drainage Easement

Storm Sewer Easement

20
' D

ra
in

ag
e 

Ea
se

m
en

t

20'
10'

12
' U

til
ity

 E
as

em
en

t

12
' U

til
ity

 E
as

em
en

t

N
 0

0°
10

'4
2"

 E
   

  1
16

.0
1'

12
' U

til
ity

 E
as

em
en

t

Storm Sewer Easement

LINE TABLE

Line

L1

L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

L7

Bearing

N 89°07'03" W

S 08°39'16" W

S 01°04'42" W

S 22°41'34" W

N 33°41'16" E

S 77°23'19" E

S 39°57'48" E

Length

40.00'

50.46'

38.85'

64.63'

71.38'

61.44'

31.66'

File: 6025Final3.dwg
Date: 06/28/2022
Drafted By: Jim
Sheet: 1 of 3

Revision Date:  Jun 28, 2022

FORWARD

There are no objections to this plat with respect to 
Secs. 236.15, 236.16, 236.20 and 236.21(1) and (2),
Wis. Stats. as provided by s. 236.12, Wis. Stats.

Certified __________________, 20_____

Department of Administration

NO SCALE

LOCATION MAP
SEC 8, T 21 N, R 18 E,
CITY OF APPLETON

OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, WI

8 9
17 16W Evergreen Drive

H
ol

la
nd

 R
oa

d

5 4
8 9

6 5
7 8

7 8
18 17

E Edgewood Drive

N
 F

re
nc

h 
R

oa
d

Project
Location

DAVEL ENGINEERING &
ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.
Civil Engineers and Land Surveyors

1164 Province Terrace,  Menasha, WI  54952
Ph:   920-991-1866  Fax:  920-441-0804

www.davel.pro

50 0 50 100 150

James R. Sehloff PLS 2692   Date

Trail View Estates South 3

Bearings are referenced to the West line of the
Southwest 1/4, Section 08, T21N, R18E,

bearing N00°10'34"W, base on the
Outagamie County Coordinate System.

Part of Outlot 1, Trail View Estates, being part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 and part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4; and part of Lot 2, Certified Survey Map 3566 &
part of Outlot 1, Certified Survey Map 7878 both being located in part Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and part Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4,

all located in Section 8, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin



111
8,947 SF

110
7,830 SF

91
7,830 SF

89
10,267 SF

112
12,362 SF

116
8,105 SF

115
8,200 SF

114
9,703 SF

113
11,816 SF

S 
00

°1
0'

34
" W

 1
04

.9
0'

S 88°59'37" E
 65.44'

53
7,759 SF

52
7,775 SF

117
12,072 SF 118

7,724 SF 119
7,350 SF

120
7,350 SF

121
7,350 SF

122
7,350 SF

123
7,350 SF

124
7,350 SF

125
7,350 SF

126
7,350 SF

127
7,350 SF

108
7,564 SF

109
11,242 SF

93
7,561 SF 99

7,564 SF

101
7,564 SF

98
7,564 SF

102
7,564 SF

97
7,564 SF

103
7,564 SF

96
7,564 SF

95
7,564 SF

104
7,564 SF

105
7,564 SF

94
7,564 SF

106
7,564 SF

92
11,620 SF

107
7,564 SF

81
7,896 SF

85
8,056 SF

84
8,016 SF

83
7,976 SF

82
7,936 SF

80
7,858 SF

79
11,703 SF

78
10,761 SF

86
8,095 SF

87
8,952 SF

88
11,056 SF

S 88°29'02" E    756.81'

C
28 80.10'

76.51'

13.92' C30

60.00'

C31 54.38'

60.00'

S 89°07'03" E     534.38'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00' 60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
 1

22
.5

0'

60.00'

60.00'

60.00'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
50

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
62

'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
13

9.
42

'

N
 0

0°
10

'4
2"

 E
   

  1
29

.2
4'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
00

'

124.00'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
12

2.
00

'

62.00'

62.00'

104.78'

L7

15.05'
C27

N 65°06'10" W     94.02'

C23

12
1.

25
'

105.24'

C24
C26 48.61'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'

12
2.

00
'

62.00'
N 89°07'03" W     573.05'

62.12'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
10

6.
16

'

72.71'

C1

60
.0

0'

73.00'

73.00'

S 88°55'09" E     135.14'

C
22

56
.0

1'

S 75°35'12" E     146.66'

C
21

S 62°10'19" E     182.17'

C2
0

27.73'

S 48°45'25" E     139.34'

C1
9

76.48'

S 39°57'48" E     135.00'

20.02'

C18

58.00' S 39°57'48" E     135.00'

58.00'

58.00' S 39°57'48" E     135.00'

58.00'

58.00'

S 23°06'20" E     149.14'

C16

58.00'

24.76' 75.55'

S 06°14'51" E     138.54'

C15

74.46'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

35
.2

5'

34.91'C14

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

34
.5

9'

60.00'

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

33
.9

3'

60.00'

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

33
.2

6'

60.00'

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

32
.6

0'

60.00'

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

31
.9

4'

60.00'

60.00'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

31
.2

7'

60.00'

60.01'

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
  1

31
.0

2'

C1249.71'

120.00'

S 
27

°3
3'3

8"
 W

   
  1

60
.1

7'

C11

C10

66.79'

C8

16.00'

Golden Gate Drive

30
'

30
'

Dedicated to the Public
CL

Callalilly Lane

30
'

30
'

Dedicated to the Public

CL

G
ol

de
n 

G
at

e 
D

riv
e

30' 30'

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 to

 th
e 

Pu
bl

ic
C L

( N
50°01'49"E )

( 4
14.30' )

( S88°29'25"E )

R=100.00'

R
=1

00
.0

0 '

R=2
00

.0
0 '

2,160 SF
0.0496 ac

OL 1

16.00'

S 39°57'48" E     135.00'

100
7,564 SF

S 
00

°5
2'

57
" W

   
 2

44
.0

0'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
 2

43
.2

5'

S 89°07'03" E     558.00'

S 89°07'03" E     420.61'

S 89°07'03" E     444.62'

S 
27

°3
3'3

8"
 W

   
 2

01
.4

3'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

N 89°49'18" W    135.09'

N
 0

0°
10

'3
4"

 E
   

 3
41

.7
1'

S 89°49'18" E     135.09'

34
.4

2'
98

.6
5'

86
.8

7'
61

.7
7'

60
.0

0'

L5

L6

L4

L2

70.00' 70.00'

Point A

20
' D

ra
in

ag
e

Ea
se

m
en

t

St
or

m
 S

ew
er

 E
as

em
en

t

N
 0

0°
10

'4
2"

 E
   

  1
16

.0
1'

C9
90

7,830 SF

95.45'

S 39°57'48" E     135.00'

12
' U

til
ity

 E
as

em
en

t

12
' U

til
ity

 E
as

em
en

t

12' Utility Easement

12' Utility Easement

12' Utility Easement

12' Utility Easement

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

N
 0

0°
52

'5
7"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

24
4.

00
'

Storm Sewer Easement

20
'

10
'

C1
7

C13

N 89°07'03" W    676.51'

N 50°02'12" E
    

 210.02'

N 50°02'12" E
    

 210.02'

C25

20'
10'

Drainage Easement

30
'

15
' St
or

m
 S

ew
er

 E
as

em
en

t

20'
10'

St
or

m
 S

ew
er

 E
as

em
en

t

15' Drainage Easement

S 65°06'10" E     94.02'
C29

20'
10'

20
' D

ra
in

ag
e

Ea
se

m
en

t

N 50°02'12" E
    

414.42'

Dedicated to
the Public

for Trail Purposes

LEGEND

SF
(  )

1. All linear measurements have been made to the
nearest one hundredth of a foot.

2. All bearings are computed and measured to the
nearest second.

NOTES

1 14" Rebar Found

1.3" OD Iron Pipe Found
11

4" x 30" Steel Rebar @ 4.30lbs/LF SET
All Other Corners
3
4" x 24" Steel Rebar @ 1.50lbs/LF SET
Lot Areas In Square Feet

Recorded As
Existing Lot Line

File: 6025Final3.dwg
Date: 06/28/2022
Drafted By: Jim
Sheet: 2 of 3

Revision Date:  Jun 28, 2022

FORWARD

There are no objections to this plat with respect to 
Secs. 236.15, 236.16, 236.20 and 236.21(1) and (2),
Wis. Stats. as provided by s. 236.12, Wis. Stats.

Certified __________________, 20_____

Department of Administration

DAVEL ENGINEERING &
ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.
Civil Engineers and Land Surveyors

1164 Province Terrace,  Menasha, WI  54952
Ph:   920-991-1866  Fax:  920-441-0804

www.davel.pro

50 0 50 100 150

James R. Sehloff PLS 2692   Date

Trail View Estates South 3
Part of Outlot 1, Trail View Estates, being part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 and part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4; and part of Lot 2, Certified Survey Map 3566 &

part of Outlot 1, Certified Survey Map 7878 both being located in part Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and part Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4,
all located in Section 8, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin

Bearings are referenced to the West line of the
Southwest 1/4, Section 08, T21N, R18E,

bearing N00°10'34"W, base on the
Outagamie County Coordinate System.



DAVEL ENGINEERING &
ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.
Civil Engineers and Land Surveyors

1164 Province Terrace,  Menasha, WI  54952
Ph:   920-991-1866  Fax:  920-441-0804

www.davel.pro

File: 6025Final3.dwg
Date: 06/28/2022
Drafted By: Jim
Sheet: 3 of 3
Revision Date:  Jun 28, 2022

FORWARD

There are no objections to this plat with respect to 
Secs. 236.15, 236.16, 236.20 and 236.21(1) and (2),
Wis. Stats. as provided by s. 236.12, Wis. Stats.

Certified __________________, 20_____

Department of Administration

City of Appleton Approval

Resolved, that the plat of Trail View Estates South 3, in the City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Emerald Valley
Estates, LLC, owners, is hereby approved by the Common Council of the City of Appleton.

Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor Date

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a copy of a resolution adopted by the the Common Council of the City of
Appleton.

Kami Lynch, City Clerk Date

Treasurer's Certificate

We, being the duly elected, qualified and acting Treasurer's of the City of Appleton and Outagamie County, do
hereby certify that in accordance with the records in our office, there are no unredeemed tax sales and unpaid
taxes, or special assessments on any of the land included in this plat.

City Treasurer Date

County Treasurer Date

This Final Plat is contained wholly within the property described in the following recorded instruments:

The property owner of record: Recording Information: Parcel Number(s):
Emerald Valley Estates, LLC Doc No. 2211550 311-6410-00

Doc No. 2192218 311-6411-00
Doc No. 2092715 311-7513-00

Utility Easement Provisions

An easement for electric, natural gas, and communications service is hereby granted by

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC, Grantor, to:

Wisconsin Electric Power Company and Wisconsin Gas, LLC, Wisconsin corporations doing business as We Energies, Grantee,
SBC, Grantee,
and
Time Warner Cable, Grantee

their respective successors and assigns, to construct, install, operate, repair, maintain and replace from time to time, facilities used
in connection with overhead and underground transmission and distribution of electricity and electric energy, natural gas, telephone
and cable TV facilities for such purposes as the same is now or may hereafter be used, all in, over, under, across, along and upon
the property shown within those areas on the plat designated as ”Utility Easement Areas” and the property designated on the plat
for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the right to install service connections upon, across within and
beneath the surface of each lot to serve improvements, theron, or on adjacent lots; also the right to trim or cut down trees, brush
and roots as may be reasonably required incident to the rights herein given, and the right to enter upon the subdivided property for
all such purposes. The Grantees agree to restore or cause to have restored, the property, as nearly as is reasonably possible, to
the condition existing prior to such entry by the Grantees or their agents. This
restoration, however, does not apply to the initial installation of said underground and/or above ground electric facilities, natural gas
facilities, or telephone and cable TV facilities or to any trees, brush or roots which may be removed at any time pursuant to the
rights herein granted. Structures shall not be placed over Grantees' facilities or in, upon or over the property within the lines marked
“Utility Easement Areas” without the prior written consent of Grantees. After installation of any such facilities, the grade of the
subdivided property shall not be altered by more than four inches without written consent of grantees.

The grant of easement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and assigns of all parties hereto.

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC

Robert A. DeBruin, Managing Member Date

Drainage Maintenance and Storm Sewer Easement Provisions

An easement for Drainage and Storm Sewer is hereby granted by:

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC, Grantor, to:

THE CITY OF APPLETON, Grantee,

1. Purpose:  The purpose of this easement is for the Grantee to access, install, regrade, replace, relocate, operate, maintain,
resize storm sewer, drainage ditch/swale, and associated appurtenances.  Grantee does hereby agree to compensate Grantor
fully for any damage caused directly or indirectly from said maintenance, repair, replacement or relocation of said storm sewer,
drainage ditch/swale and associated appurtenances that occur outside of the easement area.  Trees, bushes, branches and
roots may be trimmed or removed so as not to interfere with grantee's use of the easement area.

2. Access:  Grantee or its agents shall have the right to enter the grantor's land for the purpose of exercising its rights in the
easement area.

3. Buildings or Other Structures:  Buildings or any other type of structure shall not be placed over Grantees' facilities or in, upon
or over the property within the lines marked “Drainage Easement" or "Storm Sewer & Drainage Easement ”.

4. Elevation:  The grantor agrees that the elevation of the existing ground surface within the easement area will not be altered
without the written consent of grantee.

5. Restoration:  Grantee agrees that it will restore subsurface materials on grantor's land, as nearly as is reasonably possible, to
the prior existing condition when conducting all future maintenance, resizing or repair activities. Grantor shall be responsible
for all surface restoration.  Grantee shall not be required to restore or compensate for any improvements or improved surfaces
such as, but not limited to, curb and gutter, hard pavements, sidewalks, structures, trees, shrubs and landscaping, disturbed
as a result of the maintenance activities described herein.

6. Notification:  Grantee agrees that it shall give timely notice to the Grantor of routine maintenance work.  Grantee and Grantor
agree to cooperate in good faith to minimize interference or disruption to the normal facility operations.  Grantee shall provide
advance notice to Grantor (except in emergency situations, in which event notice shall be provided as soon as is practical) of
any activity with a reasonable likelihood of interfering or disrupting the operation Grantor's facility, and to conduct such
activities at mutually agreeable times.

7. Drainage Easements are conveyance paths for storm water. The placement of fill in a drainage easement, which interferes
with the flow or changes to the shape of the drainage easement by the lot owner or his agent, is prohibited.  Upon failure of lot
owner's to maintain said drainage ways and easements as designed; the City of Appleton retains the right to perform
maintenance and or repairs. The payment of said maintenance and or repairs shall be equally assessed to the adjacent lot
owners.

This grant of easement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and assigns of all parties hereto.

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC

Robert A. DeBruin, Managing Member Date

Surveyor's Certificate

I, James R. Sehloff, Professional land surveyor, hereby certify:  That in full compliance with the provisions of Chapter 236 of the
Wisconsin Statutes and the subdivision regulations of the City of Appleton, and under the direction of Emerald Valley Estates,
LLC, owner of said land, I have surveyed divided and mapped Trail View Estates South 3; that such plat correctly represents all
exterior boundaries and the subdivision of the land surveyed; and that this land is part of Outlot 1, Trail View Estates, recorded as
Document No 2133204, being part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 and part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4;
and part of Lot 2, Certified Survey Map 3566 recorded as Document No 1338412 and part of Outlot 1, Certified Survey Map 7878,
recorded as Document No 2187534, both being located in part Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and part Northeast 1/4 of the
Southwest 1/4, all located in Section 8, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin,
containing 806,278 Square Feet (18.5096 Acres) of land more or less, described as follows:

Commencing at the Southwest 1/4 Corner of Section 8; thence, along the West line of the Southwest 1/4, N00°10'34"W, 1987.48
feet to the extension of the North line of Crosswinds Estates; thence, along said extension, S89°07'03"E, 40.00 feet to the
Easterly right of way line of French Road said point also being the point of beginning; thence, along said East right of way line,
N00°10'32"E 269.51 feet to the South line of Lot 1 Certified Survey Map 7878; thence, along said South line, S88°55'23"E
1052.80 feet to the Southeast corner said Lot 1; thence along the East line of said Lot 1, N00°10'34"E, 52.42 feet to the
Northwest Corner of Trail View Estates South 2; thence, continuing along said East line of Certified Survey Map 7878,
N00°10'34"E, 341.71 feet to the Northeast corner of said Lot 1; thence, along the South line of Outlot 1 of said Certified Survey
Map 7878, S88°59'37"E, 65.44 feet to the Southwest corner of Outlot 1 Trail View Estates; thence, along the West line of said
Outlot 1, N50°02'12"E, 414.41 feet to the Northwest Corner of said Outlot 1; thence, along the North line of said Outlot 1,
S88°29'02"E, 756.81 feet to the Northwest corner of Lot 19 of said Trail View Estates; thence, along the West line of said Lot 19,
S27°33'38"W, 201.43 feet to the Northerly right of way line of Golden Gate Drive; thence, along said Northerly right of way line,
17.54 feet, along the arc of a curve to the right with a radius of 120.00 feet and a chord of 17.53 feet which bears N47°16'23"W;
thence, continuing along said Northerly right of way line, 104.44 feet, along the arc of a curve to the left with a radius of 130.00
feet and a chord of 101.66 feet which bears N66°06'05"W; thence, along a Westerly line of said Trail View Estates South,
S22°41'34"W, 64.63 feet to the Northwest corner of Lot 20 Trail View Estates South;  thence, along a Westerly line of said Trail
View Estates South, S00°52'57"W, 244.00 feet to the Southwest corner of Lot 21 of said Trail View Estates South; thence, along
a Westerly line of said Trail View Estates South, S33°41'16"W, 71.38 feet to the Northwest corner of Lot 22 of said Trail View
Estates South; thence, along said Lot 22, S00°52'57"W, 122.50 feet to a point on the North line of Lot 23 of said Trail View
Estates South; thence, along said North line of said Lot 23 and a North line of Trail View Estates South 2, N89°07'03"W, 676.51
feet to the Northwest corner of Lot 49 of said Trail View Estates South 2; thence, continuing along a North line of Trail View
Estates South 2; N77°23'19"W, 61.44 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 50 of said Trail View Estates South 2; thence, along the
North line of said Lot 50, N89°49'18"W, 135.09 feet to said East line of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map 7878; thence, along said
East line, S00°10'34"W, 52.42 feet to said Southeast corner of said Lot 1; thence, along a West line of Trail View Estates South 2;
S00°10'34"W, 104.90 feet to a point on the North right of way line of Gladiolus Place; thence, along said Northerly right of way
line, 11.95 feet, along the arc of a curve to the right with a radius of 70.00 feet and a chord of 11.93 feet which bears
S85°59'38"W; thence, along a West line of said Trail View Estates South 2; S08°39'16"W, 50.46 feet to the Northwest corner of
Lot 39 of said Trail View Estates South 2; thence, along a East line of said Lot 39; S00°52'57"W, 110.00 feet; to the North line of
Crosswind Estates as evidenced; thence, along said North line, N89°07'03"W, 1032.05 feet to the point of beginning, subject to all
easements, and restrictions of record.

Given under my hand this  day of , 20 .

James R. Sehloff, Wisconsin Professional Land Surveyor No. S-2692

Owner's Certificate

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC, a limited liability company duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State
of Wisconsin, as the property owner, does hereby certify that said limited liability company caused the land described on this plat
to be surveyed, divided, mapped and dedicated as represented on this plat.

Emerald Valley Estates, LLC, does further certify this plat is required by s.236.10 or s.236.12 to be submitted to the following for
approval or objection:

     City of Appleton
     Outagamie County Planning & Zoning Committee
     Department of Administration

Dated this  day of , 20 .

In the presence of:  Emerald Valley Estates, LLC

Robert A. DeBruin, Managing Member 

S t a t e   o f   W i s c o n s i n)

__________ _______County) ss

Personally came before me this ________________ day of ______________________, 20____, the above the property owner(s)
to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledge the same.

__________ _____________________  My Commission Expires ____________________
Notary Public, Wisconsin

Trail View Estates South 3
Part of Outlot 1, Trail View Estates, being part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 and part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4; and part of Lot 2, Certified Survey Map 3566 &

part of Outlot 1, Certified Survey Map 7878 both being located in part Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and part Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4,
all located in Section 8, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner/Applicant:  PNH Holdings, LLC / FOME Food & Company c/o Athanea Hahn 

 

Address/Parcel #:  2821 N. Ballard Road (Tax Id #31-1-6536-00) 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for alcohol sales and service in 

conjunction with a restaurant and associated outdoor seating area. 

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

The property currently consists of a single tenant commercial building and associated off-street parking 

lot.  The existing building was previously used as a restaurant without alcohol sales. The applicant 

recently applied for a Liquor License that includes Class B beer and Class C wine. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Project Summary:  The applicant proposes to establish a restaurant with alcohol sales and service on the 

subject site, which would occupy the existing building that is approximately 2,225 square feet in size.  

The applicant is also proposing an outdoor seating area.   

 

Operational Information:  A plan of operation is attached to the staff report. 

 

Outdoor Seating Area:  The outdoor seating area is approximately 13,500 square feet and will include a 

seating area, a playground, yard games, outdoor drink station and a garden.  The applicant is proposing a 

fence around the outdoor area. 

 

Existing Site Conditions:  The existing single-story building totals approximately 2,225 square feet in 

size.  The 27,025 square foot site also includes an off-street parking lot, with access from N. Ballard 

Road. 

 

Current Zoning and Procedural Findings:  The subject property has a zoning designation of C-2 

General Commercial District.  Per Section 23-113(e) of the Municipal Code, a restaurant with alcohol 

sales and service requires a Special Use Permit in the C-2 District.  The Plan Commission makes a 

recommendation to the Common Council who will make the final decision on the Special Use Permit.  A 

two-thirds vote of the Common Council is required for approval. 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Public Hearing Date:  October 12, 2022 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  October 19, 2022 

 

Item:  Special Use Permit #11-22 for restaurant with alcohol sales and 

service and associated outdoor seating area.  

 

Case Manager:  Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

Community  

and Economic 

Development 



Special Use Permit #11-22 

October 12, 2022 

Page 2 
 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally commercial and public/institutional in 

nature. 

 

North:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land use to the north is commercial. 

 

South:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land use to the south is commercial. 

 

East:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land uses to the east are commercial. 

 

West:  P-I Public Institutional District.  The adjacent land uses to the west are currently City of Appleton 

public/institutional uses (Memorial Park and Park, Recreation and Facilities Management offices and 

garage). 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Commercial designation shown on the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related excerpts from the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 8 – Economic Development 

Appleton will pursue economic development that retains and attracts talented people, brings good jobs to 

the area, and supports the vitality of its industrial areas, downtown, and neighborhood business districts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.5 Economic Development: 

Encourage new development and redevelopment activities that create vital and attractive neighborhoods 

and business districts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.2 Land Use: 

Encourage redevelopment to meet the demand for a significant share of future growth, and to enhance the 

quality of existing neighborhoods. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.5 Land Use: 

Support the continued redevelopment and revitalization of land uses adjacent to Appleton’s key 

transportation corridors and downtown. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the September 20, 2022 TRG agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Requirements and Substantial Evidence:  When reviewing an application for a 

Special Use Permit, the City must determine if the applicant’s proposal satisfies Municipal Code 

requirements and conditions.  Pursuant to Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, the Plan 

Commission and Common Council must provide substantial evidence supporting their decision to 



Special Use Permit #11-22 

October 12, 2022 

Page 3 
 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the Special Use Permit.  Substantial evidence means “facts and 

information, other than merely personal preferences or speculation, directly pertaining to the requirements 

and conditions an applicant must meet to obtain a Special Use Permit and that reasonable persons would 

accept in support of a conclusion.”  Any requirements and conditions listed for approval must be 

reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable. 

 

Section 23-47 of the Zoning Code regulates trash enclosures (location and materials).  Trash enclosures 

are not allowed within the front yard.  The applicant will need to relocate the proposed trash enclosure in 

compliance with Section 23-47.  Staff will review the final trash enclosure location with the required 

building permits.  

 

Finding of Fact:  This request was reviewed in accordance with the standards (proper zoning district, 

district regulations, special regulations, comprehensive plan and other plans, traffic, landscaping and 

screening, neighborhood compatibility, and impact on services) for granting a Special Use Permit under 

Section 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code, which were found in the affirmative, as long as all 

stipulations are satisfied. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based on the above analysis, that Special Use Permit #11-22 for a restaurant with 

alcohol sales and service and associated outdoor area located at 2821 N. Ballard Road (Tax Id #31-1-

6536-00), as shown on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, along with the attached 

resolution, BE APPROVED to run with the land, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving 

alcohol on the premises. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition provides notice to the applicant that a Liquor License is 

also needed prior to serving alcohol. 

 

2. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, 

of the Appleton Municipal Code. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

3. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

4. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes, and all applicable 

State and Federal laws shall be complied with. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

 

 

 



Special Use Permit #11-22 

October 12, 2022 

Page 4 
 

5. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use 

Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 

 



1 | P a g e  

 

CITY OF APPLETON 

RESOLUTION FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #11-22  

RESTAURANT WITH ALCOHOL 

2821 N. BALLARD ROAD 

 

 

WHEREAS, Athanea Hahn, FOME Food & Company, has applied for a Special Use Permit for a restaurant 

with alcohol sales and service and associated outdoor seating area located at 2821 N. Ballard Road, also 

identified as Parcel Number 31-1-6536-00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the location for the proposed restaurant with alcohol sales and service is located in the C-2 

General Commercial District, and the proposed use may be permitted by Special Use Permit within this zoning 

district pursuant to Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission held a public hearing on October 12, 2022 on Special Use 

Permit #11-22, at which all those wishing to be heard were allowed to speak or present written comments and 

other materials at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission has reviewed and considered the Community and 

Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as other spoken and written 

evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for granting a Special Use Permit 

under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for imposing conditions on the 

Special Use Permit under Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, and forwarded Special Use Permit #11-22 

to the City of Appleton Common Council with a   favorable conditional      or       not favorable      (CIRCLE 

ONE) recommendation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Common Council has reviewed the report and recommendation of the City 

of Appleton Plan Commission at their meeting on October 19, 2022. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED by the Common Council, 

based on Community and Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as 

other spoken and written evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing and Common Council meeting, 

and having considered the recommendation of the City Plan Commission, that the Common Council: 

 

1. Determines all standards listed under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code are found in the 

affirmative     YES     or     NO      (CIRCLE ONE) 

 

2. If NO, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby denies Special Use Permit #11-22 for a restaurant 

with alcohol sales and service and associated outdoor seating area located at 2821 N. Ballard Road, also 

identified as Parcel Number 31-1-6536-00, based upon the following standards and determinations:  (List 

reason(s) why the Special Use Permit was denied) 

 



2 | P a g e  

 

3. If YES, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby approves Special Use Permit #11-22 for a restaurant 

with alcohol sales and service and associated outdoor seating area located at 2821 N. Ballard Road, also 

identified as Parcel Number 31-1-6536-00, subject to the following conditions as they are related to the 

purpose of the City of Appleton Municipal Code and based on substantial evidence: 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #11-22: 

 

A. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving alcohol on 

the premises. 

 

B. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, of the 

Appleton Municipal Code. 

 

C. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

 

D. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes, and all applicable State and 

Federal laws shall be complied with. 

 

E. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use Permit 

pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and Economic 

Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

 

4. The City Clerk’s Office is hereby directed to give a copy of this resolution to the owner/applicant, 

Community and Economic Development Department, Inspections Division, and any other interested party. 

 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ____________________________, 2022. 

 

 

 

        _____________________________________ 

        Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk 



0-6
64

0-1
4

0-6640-11

1-6640-10

1-6640-11

1-6640-14

1-6550-81-6
55

0-4

1-6
55

0-7

1-6535-3

1-6
535

-13

1-6535-12

1-6535-4

1-6536

1-6700

1-6701

1-6702

1-6703

1-6715

1-6715-1

1-6715-2

1-6550-5

1920

1920

28
21

29
11

29
19

29
23

28
07

28
28

28
38

30
00

29
35

29
20

2020

192018081730

1913

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

E NORTHLAND AV

C-2

P-I

R-3

R-1B

R-1A

E NORTHLAND AV

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

N 
RO

EM
ER

 R
D

E PERSHING ST

E WITZKE BLVD

E LONGVIEW DR

E LINDBERGH ST

N 
OW

AI
SS

A S
T

N 
PO

IN
TE

R 
RD

E BYRD ST

N 
MA

RS
HA

LL
 R

D

N 
HE

LE
N 

ST

KIR
KL

AN
D 

CT
2821 N. Ballard Road

Special Use Permit
Restaurant with Alcohol Sales

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
10-12-2022

Subject Area

± 0 100 20050 Feet



0-6
64

0-1
4

0-6640-11

1-6640-10

1-6640-11

1-6640-14

1-6550-81-6
55

0-4

1-6
55

0-7
1-6535-3

1-6
535

-13

1-6535-12

1-6535-4

1-6536

1-6700

1-6701

1-6702

1-6703

1-6715

1-6715-1

1-6715-2

1-6550-5

1920

1920

1819

28
21

29
11

29
19

29
23

28
07

28
28

28
38

30
00

29
35

29
20

2020

1717-19

192018081730

30
32

1913

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

E NORTHLAND AV

E LONGVIEW DR

2821 N. Ballard Road
Special Use Permit

Restaurant with Alcohol Sales

City Plan Commission
10-12-2022

Subject Area

± 0 100 20050 Feet



TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
* FOME will be available to host private/special events after hours, 3:00 PM to 12:00 AM

TitelJL
Text Box
40





TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
3:00 PM *

TitelJL
Text Box
* FOME will be available to host private/special events after hours from 3:00 PM to 12:00 AM



Application for Special Use Permit
Development Plan Checklist

On-Site Sales and Consumption and/or Manufacturing of Liquor, 
Fermented Malt Beverages, and Wine

Community and Economic Development Department
100 N. Appleton St. 
Appleton, WI 54911

2821 N BALLARD ROAD
APPLETON WI, 54911

ATHANEA HAHN: 920.915.3817



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE
ADJACENT OR 

SURROUNDING STREETS AND 
RIGHT-OF-WAY WIDTH(S)

DRAWING NO.

1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

ADJACENT 
SURROUNDING STREETS:

• E NORTHLAND AVE
• BALLARD RD
• E WITZKE BLVD

RIGHT AWAY WIDTH(S):
• 30’ DRIVEWAY ENTRY 

INTO PARKING LOT

MAP OF AREA 1.1 VIEW OF PARKING LOT ENTRY 1.2

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 1.3

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

RECORDED PROPERTY LINES 
AND THEIR DIMENSIONS

DRAWING NO.

2

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

PROPERTY FACTS
Property Type: Retail
Property Subtype: Restaurant
Building Class: C
Year Built/Renovated: 1993/2008
Percent Leased: 100%
Building Height: 1 Story
Building FAR: 0.08
Land Acres: 0.62 AC
Opportunity Zone: No
Parking: 30 Spaces (13.5 Spaces per 1,000 SF 
Leased)
Frontaged: 122 FT on North Ballard Road

PROPERTY LINES VIA CITY OF APPLETON
PROPERTY VIEWER



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

EXISTING AND PROPOSED 
BUILDINGS + STRUCTURES

DRAWING NO.

3

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1
EXISTING AND PROPROSED BUILDINGS + 
STRUCTURES
MAIN BUILDING:

• BUILDING USE: RESTAURANT
• DIMENSIONS: 45’X52’
• LOCATION: SEE SITE PLAN

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

EXISTING AND PROPOSED 
BUILDINGS + STRUCTURES

DRAWING NO.

3.1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED OUTDOOR SPACE 3.1
EXISTING AND PROPROSED BUILDINGS 
+ STRUCTURES
OUTDOOR DRINK PAVILION:

• BUILDING USE: TO SERVE 
BEVERAGES AND PLACE ORDERS

• DIMENSIONS: TBD
• LOCATION:TBD, IN OUTDOOR 

SPACE

PLEASE NOTE: THIS OUTDOOR SPACE WILL NOT BE COMPLETED UNTIL THE SPRING/SUMMER OF 2023. NO FORMAL 
DRAWINGS HAVE BEEN CREATED AT THIS TIME. THIS IS TO SHOW THE CONCEPT OF THE SPACE. LOCATION AND 
DIMENSIONS OF DRINK THE PAVILION HAVE NOT BEEN FINALIZED. 



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

EXISTING AND PROPOSED 
YARD SETBACKS

DRAWING NO.

4

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1
EXISTING AND 
PROPOSED YARD
SETBACKS:

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

EXISTING FRONT YARD 
SETBACK IS 8’ FROM 
OUTAGAMIE
COUNTY PROPERTY
LINE.

H
A

H
N

 P
RO

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

EXISTING AND PROPOSED 
YARD SETBACKS

DRAWING NO.

4.1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1
EXISTING AND 
PROPOSED YARD
SETBACKS:

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

EXISTING REAR YARD 
SETBACK IS 20’ FROM 
OUTAGAMIE
COUNTY PROPERTY
LINE.



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE
EXISTING AND PROPOSED 

PARKING, LOADING/UNLOADING, 
SIDEWALKS + LANDSCAPING

DRAWING NO.

5

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

PARKING: 
Parking: 30 Spaces (13.5 Spaces per 1,000 SF 
Leased)
Frontaged: 122 FT on North Ballard Road

DIMENSIONS OF EXISTING PARKING: 98’-8” x 64’, 
52’- 8  1/32” x 32”, 103’- 5 3/4” x 20’

MATERIALS (EXISTING + PROPOSED): ASPHALT

LOADING/UNLOADING:
DIMENSIONS: 12’x 52’ 

MATERIALS (EXISTING + PROPOSED): ASPHALT

SIDEWALK:
DIMENSIONS:  ON NORTHSIDE OF BUILDING: 9’-
9” x 60’-8”, ON WESTIDE OF BUILDING 4’ x 45’-7”

MATERIALS (EXISTING + PROPOSED): CONCRETE

KEY:
PARKING
UNLOADING/LOADING
SIDEWALK
LANDSCAPING



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE
EXISTING AND PROPOSED 

PARKING, LOADING/UNLOADING, 
SIDEWALKS + LANDSCAPING

DRAWING NO.

5.1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

LANDSCAPING 
DIMENSIONS OF EXISTING PARKING: 142’-6” x 
67’-0”

MATERIALS (EXISTING + PROPOSED): GRASS, 
VARIOUS FOILAGE

KEY:
PARKING
UNLOADING/LOADING
SIDEWALK
LANDSCAPING



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LANDSCAPING 
CONCEPT

DRAWING NO.

6

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED OUTDOOR SPACE 3.1
PROPOSED 
LANDSCAPING:
GRASS, VARIOUS 
FOILAGE

OUTDOOR SEATING
WILL BE SURROUNDED
BY VEGETABLE + HERB
GARDENS, GRASSY
LOUNGING AREAS, 
AND VARIOUS BUSHES 
+ FLOWERS.

OPEN AREA FOR 
EVENTS

MONTESSORI 
PLAYGROUND TO BE 
ADDED 

UPDATED BUSHES
IN FRONT ON THE 
EAST SIDE OF THE 
BUILDING



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LANDSCAPING 
CONCEPT

DRAWING NO.

6.1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED OUTDOOR SPACE 6.1
PROPOSED 
LANDSCAPING:
EXISTING TREES 
WILL REMAIN



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LANDSCAPING 
CONCEPT

DRAWING NO.

6.2

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED 
LANDSCAPING:
EXISTING TREES  FENCE
AND TREES WILL REMAIN. 

EXISTING FENCE AND TREES 



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION OF 
REFUSE CONTAINERS

DRAWING NO.

7

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

EXISTING/PROPOSED LOCATIONS OF REFUSE 
CONTAINERS

REFUSE CONTAINERS WERE LOCATED IN THE BACK
CORNER OF THE PARKING LOT (NORTH-WEST 
CORNER) BUT WILL BE MOVED TO THE NORTH-EAST
CORNER TO ENSURE AN ENJOYABLE ATMOSPHERE
FOR OUR GUESTS OUTSIDE. 

FENCE SURROUNDING REFUSE CONTAINERS WILL BE 
AT LEAST 6’ TALL. 

THE REFUSE CONTAINERS WILL BE ENCLOSED IN
A SIMILAR GATE/FENCE AS SHOWN BELOW:

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION OF 
EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURES

DRAWING NO.

7

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

EXISTING + PROPOSED LOCATIONS OF EXTERIOR LIGHT 
FXITURES

EXISTING LAMP POST IN PARKING LOT WILL REMAIN. MORE 
STREET LAMPS TO LIGHT PARKING LOT FROM NORTH BALLARD 
ROAD. 

MORE EXTERIOR LIGHTING WILL BE ADDED WITH THE 
RENOVATION OF THE EXTERIOR IN SPRING/SUMMER 2023. 
BELOW IS AN EXAMPLE OF THE PROPOSED LIGHTING.

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

PLEASE NOTE: NO FORMAL DRAWINGS HAVE BEEN CREATED 
AT THIS TIME. THIS IS TO SHOW THE CONCEPT OF THE 
EXTERIOR.



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION, HEIGHT,
+ MATERIALS OF FENCE

DRAWING NO.

8

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED OUTDOOR SPACE 3.1
PROPOSED 
LOCATION, HEIGHT, +
MATERIAL OF 
FENCE:

PROPOSED FENCE WILL 
FOLLOW THE SOUTH
AND EAST PROPERTY
LINES, AND PART OF 
THE NORTH PROPERTY
LINE BY THE PARKING 
LOT. 

THE FENCE WILL BE 
6’ TALL AND MADE OF 
ALUMINUM AND/OR 
COMPOSITE.

FINAL SELECTIONS
HAVE NOT BEEN MADE.
WILL BE CHOSEN IN 
SPRING/SUMMER 2023.

NO RETAINING WALLS
ARE PRESENT ON THE
PROPERTY.

j. The location, height 
and materials of all proposed 
and existing fences or retaining 
walls.



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION AND SIZE OF
EXISTING DRIVEWAY

DRAWING NO.

9

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

NOTE: SITE PLAN 
CAN BE VIEWED 
IN FULL SCALE ON 
18”X24” FROM
1993

LOCATION AND SIZE OF EXISTING 
DRIVEWAY

EXISTING DRIVEWAY FROM N BALLARD
ROAD IS 30’ WIDE. THIS DRIVEWAY WILL
REMAIN.



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE
LOCATION AND USE OF

BUILDINGS ON ADJOINING 
LAND

DRAWING NO.

10

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

VIEW OF AREA AROUND FOME FOOD & COMPANY 10.1

LOCATION AND USE OF BUILDINGS 
ON ADJOINING LAND:
SOUTH OF NORTHLAND AVE

• APPLETON PARKS & RECREATION
• BATELY CPA: Certified public accounting firm
• ACUPUNCTURE & HERB CENTER: Traditional Chinese medicine, healthcare
• BUXTON O’NEIL INSURANCE AGENCY: Insurance
• FARMERS INSURANCE: Insurance
• BURGER KING: Restaurant/fast food

• GINGEROOTZ: Asian cusine
• BSI-BUILDING SERVICE: Office furniture 
• MOTOMART: Gas station
• EDWARD JONES: Financial advisor
• HIDEOUT BAR
• CHASE BANK

LOCATION AND USE OF BUILDINGS ON ADJOINING LAND: NORTH OF NORTHLAND AVE

• “00” CAR WASH
• PICK’N SAVE: Grocery store
• COMMUNITY FIRST CREDIT UNION
• MJI BUILDING SERVICES: 
Construction 



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

PRELIMINARY 
ARCHIECTURAL PLANS

DRAWING NO.

11

SCALE: 1/8”=1’-0”

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

KITCHEN

DINING 

RETAIL/ORDER
PICK-UP



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

PRELIMINARY 
ARCHIECTURAL PLANS

DRAWING NO.

11.1

SCALE: 1/4”=1’-0”

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

FLOOR PLAN OF THE 
BUILDING: COUNTER

DRAWING NO.

12

SCALE: 1/4”=1’-0”

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

FLOOR PLAN OF THE 
BUILDING

DRAWING NO.

12.1

SCALE: 1/8”=1’-0”

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION OF
PROPOSED SIGNAGE

DRAWING NO.

13

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

EXISTING/PROPOSED LOCATIONS OF SIGNAGE

NEW SIGNAGE WILL BE ADDED TO THE EXTERIOR OF 
THE BUILDING AND THE EXISTING SIGNAGE FROM 
PARADISE ISLAND WILL BE REPLACED BY APPLETON 
SIGN. SEE SIGN PROPOSAL ON PAGE 13.1.

SEE LOCATION OF EXISTING SIGNAGE TO BE 
UPDATED ON SITE PLAN 2.1

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1

PLEASE NOTE: NO FORMAL DRAWINGS HAVE 
BEEN CREATED AT THIS TIME. THIS IS TO SHOW 
THE CONCEPT OF THE EXTERIOR.



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION OF
PROPOSED SIGNAGE

DRAWING NO.

13.1

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION OF
OF SNOW STORAGE

DRAWING NO.

14

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

DRAWING OF SITE PLAN 2.1
LOCATION OF SNOW STORAGE

SNOW WILL BE REMOVED FROM THE PARKING 
LOT AND PUT TOWARDS THE WEST SIDE OF THE 
PROPERTY (HIGHLIGHTED IN YELLOW).



DATE: 9.12.22PROJECT TITLE
PROPOSED 

HOURS OF OPERATION + 
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

DRAWING NO.

15

SCALE: NA

DRAWN BY: HSKAAR

PROJECT NO: 22-002

ACCEPTED BY:

DATE:2821 N BALLARD RD APPLETON, WI 54911

PROPOSED HOURS OF OPERATION

FOME FOOD & COMPANY WILL BE OPEN WEDNESDAY THROUGH SUNDAY 
7:00 AM - 3:00 PM. 

FOME WILL BE AVAILABLE TO HOST PRIVATE/SPECIAL EVENTS AFTER HOURS 
3:00 PM - 12:00 AM.

PROPOSED NUMBERS OF EMPLOYEES

FOME FOOD & COMPANY WILL HAVE 12-20 EMPLOYEES



3 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                     “…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 E Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI  54915-3128 

920-832-5945 tel. 
920-832-5949 fax  

 

TO:  Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee  
  
FROM: Utilities Deputy Director, Chris Stempa 
 
DATE: September 22, 2022  
 
RE: Action: Reject base bid from Staab Construction in the amount of $643,600 

for the 2022 AWWTP Blended Sludge Piping and Preliminary Heat 
Exchanger Replacement Project 

 

 
BACKGROUND: 
The 2022 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) includes $450,000 to replace blended sludge pipe 
and the preliminary heat exchanger in MK-Tunnel at the AWWTP.  McMahon and Associates 
(McMahon) was awarded the engineering services contract earlier in 2022 for $26,300, 
leaving a balance of $423,700 for construction. The public bid for this project included a base 
bid focused only on the blended sludge pipe and four alternate bids.  One of the alternates 
Alternate Bid #2 was an independent CIP project (Grit Trap Vortex System Drive 
Replacement) that was bundled with this public bid. The balance of the alternate bids were 
elements of the original Blended Sludge Piping Replacement CIP that included the heat 
exchanger replacement, recladding of the Raw Sludge Blend Tank, and numerous 
architectural repairs in MK-Tunnel.  The intent of the alternate bids was to provide flexibility 
and economy of scale with the goal of carrying at least a base bid project forward.  The 
rationale for which was based on substantially higher costs from other recent public bid 
projects.   
 

BIDS: 
On Tuesday September 8, 2022 the City opened and reviewed the bids from two contractors 
which are summarized in the Table 1 below.  Each bid met the submittal requirements.   
 
 Table 1: Bid Tab Summary 

Item 
Staab Construction 

Corporation 
August Winter and Sons, 

Inc 
Base Bid $643,000 $835,864 

 



Finance Committee Memo – Reject base bid from Staab Construction  
September 22, 2022  
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Staab Construction provided the least cost base bid.  However, their base bid exceeded the 
available budget by $193,000.  Contributing factors for higher bid costs appear to be the result 
of lingering supply chain issues, sustained high demand for various products and services, 
elevated costs for construction materials, and higher costs for labor. 
 
After conferring with our consulting engineer, the Utilities Department is recommending 
rejecting the bid, reviewing the current project bidding documents for items that can be 
deferred to a future year, and re-bidding with a reduction in project scope.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
I am recommending the rejection of the base bid from Staab Construction in the amount of 
$643,600 for the 2022 AWWTP Blended Sludge Piping and Preliminary Heat Exchanger 
Replacement Project. 
 
The items reduced from the project scope will be addressed in as part of a 2023 CIP. If you 
have any questions or require additional information regarding this project please contact 
Chris Stempa at 920-832-5945.   
 
Attachment:  
September 8, 2022 Blended Sludge Pipe, Heat Exchanger & Grit System Replacement Project  
Bid Tab Summary 
 
 



 
 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 
1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 
(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM: Dean R. Gazza 
 
DATE:  10/10/2022 
 
RE: Action: Award the “2022 AWWTP Biogas Boiler System Upgrades Project” 

contract to Rohde Brothers, Inc. in the amount of $333,450 with a contingency of 
12% for a project total not to exceed $373,464.   

 
 
The 2022 Capital Improvement Plan includes $750,000 to upgrade the HVAC systems for the H 
& J Buildings, the V-Buildings, and to make upgrades to the biogas boiler system at the Appleton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant. Of that amount $48,000 has been utilized for design leaving a balance 
of $702,000 for construction. Of that amount $375,000 has been allocated for the Biogas Boiler 
System Upgrades. Bids were opened on September 28, 2022, for the Biogas Boiler System 
Upgrades portion of the 2022 AWWTP HVAC Upgrades Project. 
 
The bids received were as follows: 
 
Rohde Brothers, Inc. (Low Bid)  $333,450 
Great Lakes Mechanical, Inc.   $345,000 
August Winter and Sons, Inc.   $370,205 
 
 
Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 
award the contract to Rohde Brothers, Inc. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 
Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer’s recommendation. 
Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to Rohde Brothers, Inc. in the amount of 
$333,450 plus a contingency of 12% only to be utilized as needed 
 
The Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department recommends rejecting these bids.  
Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


 
 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 
1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 
(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM: Dean R. Gazza 
 
DATE:  10/10/2022 
 
RE: Action: Award the City of Appleton’s "2022 Telulah Pavilion Repairs Project" 

contract to RJM Construction, LLC. in the amount of $158,572 with a 
contingency of 12% for a project total not to exceed $177,600. 

 
 
The 2021 Capital Improvement Plan includes $200,000 to renovate the pavilions at Telulah Park. 
The amount of $21,850 has been utilized for design leaving a balance of $178,150 for 
construction. We bid the original project scope in August of 2022 and the bids came in over 
budget and were subsequently rejected. We reduced the scope of work to only include renovation 
of the small pavilion and re-bid the project (bids below). The low bid is within our allocated 
budget. The remaining work needed for the large pavilion will be budgeted in a future year CIP.  
 
The bids were received as follows: 
 
RJM Construction, LLC.  (low bid) $158,572.00 
Cardinal Construction Co., Inc.  $199,233.00 
MJI Building Services   $236,851.89 
  
Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 
award the contract to RJM Construction, LLC. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities 
Management Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer's 
recommendation. Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to RJM Construction, LLC. 
in the amount of $158,572 plus a contingency of 12% only to be utilized as needed. 
 
Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 
 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


 
 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 
1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 
(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM: Dean R. Gazza 
 
DATE:  10/10/2022 
 
RE: Action: Award the City of Appleton’s "2022 AWWTP Painting Project" contract 

to SDS Painting Co., Inc. in the amount of $121,760 with a contingency of 10,000 
for a project total not to exceed $131,760. 

 
 
The 2022 AWWTP Operating Budget has allocated monies to paint several interior sections of 
the V-Building. The existing wall paint is at the end of its useful life and is in need of 
replacement. Our annual facility inspection program identifies areas in need of repair and 
allocates resources to allow for proactive replacement to protect and preserve the facility’s asset. 
 
The bid was received as follows: 
 
SDS Painting Co., Inc.  (low bid)  $121,760 
  
Although only one bid was received, the bid is in alignment with the engineers estimate and is 
within the allocated operating budget. 
 
Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 
award the contract to SDS Painting Co., Inc. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 
Department has also reviewed the bid and is in agreement with the engineer's recommendation. 
Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to SDS Painting Co., Inc. in the amount of 
$131,760 plus a contingency of $10,000 only to be utilized as needed. 
 
Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 
 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


                 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

Engineering Division 

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 

TEL (920) 832-6474 

                                                                                    FAX (920) 832-6489 

 

TO:  Members of the Finance Committee 

FROM: Ross Buetow, Deputy Director/City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Request to approve Budget Amendment – Appleton Street Sidewalk Funds  

DATE:  October 10, 2022 

 

 

Earlier this summer, the Department of Public Works completed the reconstruction of Appleton Street 

from College Avenue to Atlantic Street.  Included in the project bid was the replacement of existing 

sidewalks throughout the corridor.  As the project progressed, DPW and Facilities staff discussed the 

feasibility of replacing the portion of sidewalk along the library’s Appleton Street frontage.  Based on 

these discussions, it was decided to postpone the installation of this sidewalk, as it would most likely be 

damaged during subsequent construction activities on the library site.  It was further decided that the most 

efficient means to replace this sidewalk would be to incorporate the work as part of the library project 

scope.  The bid amount on our paving project for this sidewalk replacement was $27,301.89. 

 

Therefore, we request that the following Budget Amendment be approved: 

Public Works Capital Projects Fund     -$ 27,301.89 

Facilities and Construction Management Capital Projects Fund +$ 27,301.89 

 

 

 

Thank you for your consideration of this request. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Finance Committees Memo - Transfer of Library Sidewalk Funds.doc 



 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community & Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
 
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE:  October 12, 2022 
 
RE:  Variance Request to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the 

Northeast Business Park Plat No. 3 – 2331 E. Evergreen Drive (Tax Id #31-1-
6510-41) 

 

 

The City has received a request from Quasius Construction on behalf of Parker Johns BBQ for 
a variance to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, Section 4.H, to allow for an 
ancillary structure.  The subject parcel is located in the Northeast Business Park, at 2331 E. 
Evergreen Drive. 
 
The proposed structure will be 8’ x 16’ and located near the southeast corner of the existing 
building, near the dumpsters.  In addition, the structure will be screened by a brick wall per the 
attached elevations and plan.  The Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions as applicable to 
this parcel is attached.    

 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

A variance to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, Item 4.H, for the Northeast 
Business Park Plat No. 3 to allow for an ancillary structure at 2331 E. Evergreen Drive (Tax Id 
#31-1-6510-41) BE APPROVED.      
 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 





First Floor
0' - 0"

Roof
6' - 7"

PREFINISHED METAL ROOF PANELS TO MATCH EXISTING

First Floor
0' - 0"

Roof
6' - 7"

LP SMARTSIDE PAINTED TO MATCH EXISTING

First Floor
0' - 0"

Roof
6' - 7"

8' - 3"

Scale

P
ro

je
c
t 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
te

D
ra

w
n
 b

y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 b

y

Copyright © 2021 Quasius Construction, Inc. All Rights Reserved 3/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/4
/2

0
2

2
 1

1
:1

3
:0

3
 A

M

A1

E
le

v
a
ti
o
n
s . 1

0
/4

/2
0
2
2

S
D

L

S
D

L

P
a
rk

e
r 

J
o
h
n
s

S
to

ra
g
e
 S

h
e
d

3/8" = 1'-0"
1

North

3/8" = 1'-0"
2

South

3/8" = 1'-0"
3

East



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

T1.0

SITE LOCATION MAP

KEY TO SYMBOLS AND MATERIALS

APPLETON, WISCONSIN

PARKER JOHN'S

SYMBOLS MATERIALS

DRAWING INDEX

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS ABOUT THE CONTENT OR
 PRESENTATION OF MATERIAL ON THIS PLAN, PLEASE CALL (920) 469-9288

OUR SERVICE IS UNMATCHED AND OUR INTEGRITY IS IMPECCABLE.
PROCESS AND MAKE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION MORE ENJOYABLE.

ENGINEERING. OUR PLANS MOVE SMOOTHLY THROUGH THE STATE REVIEW
WE PROVIDE HIGH QUALITY ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN AND STRUCTURAL

INTEGRITY MISSION STATEMENT

DETAIL

FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS

CONSTRUCTION CLASSIFICATION:

DESIGN LOADS: PER IBC 2015, CHAPTER 16

OCCUPANCY:

BUILDING SIZE:

BUILDING DATA

BUILDING CODE: IBC 2015

GENERAL CONDITIONS:

QUICK SPEC

FAX (800) 388-3860

(800) 242-8511
WEBSITE: www.diggershotline.com

CALL 3 WORK DAYS
BEFORE YOU DIG



P
ro

je
c
t 

n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
te

D
ra

w
n
 b

y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 b

y

IS
S

U
E

 N
O

IS
S

U
E

 D
A

T
E

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

PRELIMINARY, NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

.
.

.

2
2
1
4
5

Q
U

A
S

IU
S

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
P

A
R

K
E

R
  

J
O

H
N

'S

2
3

3
1

 E
. 

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
, 

W
I

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 R
E

M
O

D
E

L
 F

O
R

:

2
9
 A

u
g
u
s
t,

 2
0
2
2

K
. 

K
U

E
P

E
R

A
. 

W
O

L
F

  T1.1



P
ro

je
c
t 

n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
te

D
ra

w
n
 b

y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 b

y

IS
S

U
E

 N
O

IS
S

U
E

 D
A

T
E

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

PRELIMINARY, NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

.
.

.

2
2
1
4
5

Q
U

A
S

IU
S

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
P

A
R

K
E

R
  

J
O

H
N

'S

2
3

3
1

 E
. 

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
, 

W
I

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 R
E

M
O

D
E

L
 F

O
R

:

2
9
 A

u
g
u
s
t,

 2
0
2
2

K
. 

K
U

E
P

E
R

A
. 

W
O

L
F

 T1.2



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

D1.0

Remove Existing Lower BoothsRemove Existing Lower Booths

Existing Raised Booths to
Remain. Remove Cushions

Existing Raised Booths to
Remain. Remove Cushions

Remove Existing Lower Booths

Existing Wall to Remain

DEMO EXISTING CARPET
FOR NEW LVP



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

D2.0



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

S1.0



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

A1.0

Barn Beam to
Roof Trusses

Wall to be 9' tall



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

A1.1

Barn Beam to
Roof Trusses

Wall to be 9' tall

LOGO



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

A2.0



P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

A3.0



WINDOW DIAGRAMS





HEAD

JAMB

SILL

HEAD

DOOR DIAGRAMS

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
n
u
m

b
e
r

D
a
t
e

D
r
a
w

n
 
b
y

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 
b
y

2
2
1
4
5

P
A

R
K

E
R

 
 
J
O

H
N

'
S

Q
U

A
S

I
U

S
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N

2
9
 
A

u
g
u
s
t
,
 
2
0
2
2

A
.
 
W

O
L
F

K
.
 
K

U
E

P
E

R

I
S

S
U

E
 
N

O
I
S

S
U

E
 
D

A
T

E
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
S

B
U

I
L
D

I
N

G
 
R

E
M

O
D

E
L
 
F

O
R

:

2
3
3
1
 
E

.
 
E

V
E

R
G

R
E

E
N

 
D

R
.

A
P

P
L
E

T
O

N
,
 
W

I

A4.0























Premium 
Waters

S&D 
Masonry Option

Prepared by City of Appleton
Comm. & Econ. Dev. Dept. 7/21

Northeast Business Park
Appleton, Wisconsin

Evergreen Dr Evergreen Dr

Fre
nc

h R
d

S.T
.H

. 4
41

U.S.H. 41

Enterprise Av

Int
ert

ec
h C

t

Pro
vid

en
ce

 Av

Lig
htn

ing
 D

rGa
tew

ay
 D

r

Enterprise Av

Venture Dr

Ex
ec

uti
ve

 D
r

Co
nk

ey
 St

Goodland Dr

Ba
lla

rd 
Rd

 (C
.T.

H.
 E)

Ba
lla

rd 
Rd

 (C
.T.

H.
 E)

Po
int

er 
Rd

Capitol Dr

Ro
em

er 
Rd

Ma
rsh

all
 R

d Co
nk

ey
 St

Pensar Dr

Winslow Av

Pro
gre

ss
 D

r

Zu
eh

lke
 D

r

Northland Av (C.T.H. OO)

Capitol Dr

Pershing St

Sa
nd

ra 
St

Co
nk

ey
 St

Ro
em

er 
Rd

Glendale Av

Wisconsin Central

S.T
.H

. 4
41

Ba
lla

rd 
Rd

 (C
.T.

H.
 E)

0 0.25 0.5 Miles

Appleton Marine

CMD Technology
Center

CMD
Corporation

Applied
Industrial

Technologies

MCC, Inc.

Valley Packaging
Industries

Voith Paper, Inc.

City of Appleton
Municipal Services

Waupaca Elevator

Pro-Con
Progressive
Converting

Voith Paper, Inc.

National Graphic
Solutions The Boldt

Company

Vitran

Miller

August
Winter
& Sons

Swagelok
Appleton

Fox Valley
Safety & 
Training

AlumaCast &
Bronze Foundry

Ferguson
Enterprises

Ahearn/
JLM/

L & S Electric

City of
Appleton

CMD

Guardian Life
Insurance Company

Laminations
(Great Northern

Company) C3 Corp.

ATI

AirgasOutagame
County

JP Graphics

Paul
Davis

Wisconsin
Distributors

Floor
Source
CoEx

Packer Fastner
Mid America

Engman-
Taylor Co.

Able
Distrib.

Nordon
Business
Environ-
mentsLifting

Gear
Hire

FCX
Performance

Pro-Label

C3 Corp

United
Moving Systems

Packerland
Rent-A-Mat

Standard
Electric

Vision Control
& Automation
SE AutomationLife

Promotions

Ducommun

Perfect
Patterns

L&S
Electric

BASF
Corporation

Appleton
Packing

& Gasket

A to Z
Machine

Integrity
Mutual

Insurance Co.

Valley
Tool

OEM
Tech.

IPS
Central
States
Casters

Marathon Center
Poyry
Metso

UW-Oshkosh

Energy
Control

& Design

Encircle
Health

Menn Law,
GSC Tech 
  Solutions,

Grant Thornton,
Vizance

Well Within/
CBS Squared

Rockwell Automatio,n
Larson Engineering,
Community Living 

Solutions,
Wisconsin Institute of 

Functional Medicine

WI Oculoplastics/
Prevea

Cintas
Fire

Protection

Baker Tilly,
Abouthhealth,

Vista,
Tetra Tech,

RMM Solutions,
Power Engineers,
NFP Retirement,

Wealthspire Advisors

Anixter/
Everyday

Waterproofing

Overend
Technologies

Wipfli/
Peak 

Performance

Beefeaters
Pub

Cambria
Suites

Cleanfreak/
Rocket Industrial

Valley Coatings/
Masters Building

Solutions

Allied
Valve

Evergreen
Office
Suites

Fox
Cities
Party
Rental

Orthopedic
& Spine
Therapy

Primary Care
Associates

Thedacare
Physicians
Pediatrics

McCarty
Law LLP

Davis &
 Kuelthau

AmericInn

Orthopedic & Sports
Institute of the Fox Valley

Recovery Inn

Dental
Associates

2239

17
26

2430

2441 2625

2620 2800

3001

21
11

23
00

24
00

2901 3005
3200 3230 3240

23
51

30303000

23
23

22
00

21
00

24
12

25
00

26
00

26
00

27
3027

41
27

01
25

25
25

01
26

01

28
09

29
01

27012611 3111

28
20

28
10

3300

29
00

30
10

30
05

29
10

29
15

2720

29
20

30
09

3311

32
10

321131113011
Airgas

Badger Mailing
Systems

Endeavor
Electric

30
2531

20
31

17Bartelt
Insulation

31
01

3012

2619ASP

2511 2500

31
20

31
37

31
15

30
35

A to Z

31
00

29
0029

27

30
40

30
00

Pro
Vidant

2221

2222

TMC/
AMS

Claren

31
16

2121
2323

2319

2300

3001

3030

34
00

3011
35

00

3010 3300

Progressive/
Sherman

Consulting
Forefront 

Dermatology

2101 2115 2331

2701 2801

39
00

39
40

2401

2201

2105

2500

2501
2700 2800

2901 3001 3101

31003000

3101 3301 3401 3701

40
00

39
12

39
00

38
00

3916

Pro-Con

30
10

2505

39
35

Konecranes

Albany
International

Ü

39
25

Weed
Man

El 
Jaripeo

USACE

City of Appleton

Legend
Park Parcels
CIparcel
Park Boundary
City Limits

A to Z

GLK 
Foods

Triple E Machine

Pro-Con

Valley Tool

ESOP 
Partners/

KOM Wealth 
Mgmt.

WI
Swim 

Academy

L&S
Electric

Peninsula 
Stone/

Frontier 
Builders



     
Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 

    
MEMO 

 
 
 
 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 
 

FROM: Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 
  Kurt Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
  Sue Olson, Staff Engineer 
 
DATE:  October 4, 2022 
 
RE: Approve changes to Municipal Code Chapter 24, Erosion and Sediment Control  
_______________________________________________________________________________  
 
The Department of Public Works requests approval of changes to Municipal Code Chapter 24, Erosion and 
Sediment Control.  Strike and bold language of the proposed changes is shown on the attached document.  
The proposed changes are requested to address staffing and workload issues by eliminating most permitting 
for small projects.  Changes are also required to the Erosion and Sediment Control Program. These are 
presented as two separate action items but are not independent documents.   
 
There are two sets of erosion control requirements from the State imposed onto the City.  The Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources WPDES Permit No. WI-S050075-3 requires erosion control plan review 
and inspection for sites of one acre or more disturbed area. These are the requirements covered under City of 
Appleton Municipal Code Chapter 24.  The WPDES permit also specifies the minimum frequency of 
inspections on these sites, which at times can be difficult to achieve. Historically the City has issued permits 
for sites much smaller than the State requires down to 2,000 square feet of disturbed area.   
 
Wisconsin DSPS Uniform Dwelling Code section SPS 321.125 requires plan review and inspection of one- 
and two-family dwellings.  The City of Appleton Erosion Control Inspector reviews plans and performs site 
inspections for both WDNR and DSPS requirements.  Permits issued for one and two-family homes have 
doubled in recent years and require a significant amount of inspection time. Below are the number of one and 
two-family permits issued since 2018: 
 
2018 – 59 
2019 – 56 
2020 – 83 
2021 – 112 
2022 - 109 (to date)  
 
Adding to the workload are new WDNR requirements for private stormwater practices that have been 
constructed since 2004.  The Erosion Control Inspector assists the Engineering Division with this program 
which was implemented in late 2021.   
 
The on-going staffing issues related to vacant positions and continued retirements, as well as a high volume 
of plan review and construction inspection, are not expected to change soon.  The proposed changes to the 
ordinance will eliminate plan review and permitting of most sites less than one acre of disturbed area, since 
this is not required by the State.  Erosion and Sediment Control is still required at these sites, and staff 



continue to have authority to address problems with any site, regardless of size.   This will provide additional 
time for staff to perform field inspections at the required frequency, assist the Engineering Division with the 
new program, and remain in compliance with permit requirements.    
 
 



Sec. 24-1.  Authority. 
 
 (a) This ordinance is adopted under the authority granted by §62.234, Wis. Stats.  This ordinance supersedes all 
provisions of any ordinance previously enacted under §62.23, Wis. Stats., that relates to erosion and sediment control.  
Except as otherwise specified in §62.234 Wis. Stats., §62.23, Wis. Stats., applies to this ordinance and to any 
amendments to this ordinance. 
 
 (b) The provisions of this ordinance are deemed not to limit any other lawful regulatory powers of the City of 
Appleton.   
 
 (c) The City of Appleton hereby designates the Director of Public Works or his/her designee as the administering 
authority to enforce the provisions of this ordinance. 
 
 (d) The requirements of this ordinance do not pre-empt more stringent erosion and sediment control requirements 
that may be imposed by any of the following: 
 
  (1) Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources administrative rules, permits or approvals, including those 

authorized under §281.16 and §283.33, Wis. Stats. 
 
  (2) Targeted non-agricultural performance standards promulgated in rules by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources under s. NR 151.004, Wis. Adm. Code. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 

 
Sec. 24-2.  Purpose. 
 
 The City of Appleton acknowledges that runoff from land disturbing construction activity and improper land 
management carries sediment and other pollutants to the waters of the state. 
 
 It is the purpose of this ordinance to further the maintenance of safe and healthful conditions; prevent and control 
water pollution; prevent and control soil erosion and sediment discharge; protect spawning grounds, fish and aquatic 
life; control building sites, placement of structures and land uses; preserve ground cover and scenic beauty; and 
promote sound economic growth, by minimizing the amount of sediment and other pollutants carried by runoff or 
discharged from land disturbing activity to waters of the state within the City of Appleton. 
 
 It is also the purpose of this ordinance to meet the performance standards in subchapters III and IV of Ch. NR 
151, Wis. Adm. Code and to meet the requirements for construction site pollutant control in the General Permit to 
Discharge under the Wisconsin Pollutant Discharge Elimination System WPDES Permit No. WI S050075-2 
administered by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 

 
Secs. 24-3 – 24-9.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-10.  Applicability and jurisdiction. 
 
 (a) Applicability. 

 
  (1) This ordinance applies to all land disturbing activities, including transportation facilities, within the City 

of Appleton except as provided under sub. (3).   
 

  (2) Land disturbing activities meeting any one of the following are required to prepare a plan and obtain a 
permit: 

  
   a. Building on lots in subdivisions, certified survey maps or unplatted lands. 

 



   b. Land disturbing activities involving grading, removal of protective ground cover or vegetation, 
excavation, land filling, scraping or other land disturbing activity affecting a surface of two thousand 
(2,000) square feetone (1) acre or more. 

 
   c. Land disturbing activities involving excavation or filling or a combination of excavating and filling 

affecting two hundred (200) cubic yards or more of soil, dirt, sand or other excavation or fill 
material. 

 
   dc. Land disturbing activities involving street, highway, road or bridge construction, enlargement, 

relocation or reconstruction affecting a surface area of one (1) acre or more. 
 
   e. Land disturbing activities involving the laying, repairing, replacing or enlarging of an underground 

pipe, wire, cable or facility for a distance of three hundred (300) feet or more. 
 
   f. Land disturbing activities within protective areas as defined in City of Appleton Municipal Code 

Sec. 20-312(f). 
 
   g. Routine ditch maintenance for a continuous distance of one hundred (100) feet or more. 
 
   hd. Notwithstanding the previously listed applicability requirements, this ordinance applies to any sites 

which, in the opinion of the City of Appleton, are likely to result in runoff that exceeds the safe 
capacity of the existing drainage facilities or receiving body of water, that cause undue erosion, that 
increases water pollution by scouring or the transportation of particulate matter, or that endangers 
property or public safety. 

 
  (3) This ordinance does not apply to the following: 
 
   a. Land disturbing construction activity that includes the construction of one- (1-) and two- (2-) family 

residential dwellings that are not part of a larger common plan of development or sale and that result 
in less than one (1) acre of disturbance. These construction sites are regulated by the Wisconsin 
Department of Safety and Professional Services under s. SPS 321.125 Wis. Adm. Code. 

 
   b. A construction project that is exempted by federal statutes or regulations from the requirement to 

have a national pollutant discharge elimination system permit issued under Chapter 40, Code of 
Federal Regulations, part 122, for land disturbing activity. 

 
   c. Nonpoint discharges from agricultural facilities and practices. 
 
   d. Nonpoint discharges from silviculture activities. 
 
   e. Activities conducted by a state agency, as defined under §227.01 (1), Wis. Stats., but also including 

the office of the district attorney, which is subject to the state plan promulgated or a memorandum 
of understanding entered into under §281.33 (2), Wis. Stats. 

   
 (b) Jurisdiction. 
 
  (1) This ordinance applies to land disturbing activities located within the boundaries of the City of Appleton. 
 
  (2) County and town ordinances.  This ordinance supercedes any county or town erosion and sediment 

control ordinance for lands annexed to the City after the effective date of the county’s or town’s 
ordinance, except when the county’s or town’s ordinance is more restrictive than this ordinance; then 
the more restrictive provisions set forth in the county or town ordinance shall become part of this 
ordinance and apply to the annexed lands.  In such cases, the City may grant a variance from the more 
restrictive requirements provided that the criteria for a variance as set forth in the county ordinance is 
met. 

 



  (3) Waivers.  Requests to waive the erosion and sediment control requirements, or a portion thereof, shall 
be submitted to the City of Appleton, in writing, with the application and fee, for review.  Written waivers 
may be granted administratively by the City for erosion and sediment control requirements that are 
required by the City if it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City that it is reasonable to expect that 
the objectives of this ordinance will be met without an erosion and sediment control plan or portion 
thereof. 

 
  (4) Applicability of maximum extent practicable.  Maximum extent practicable applies when a person who 

is subject to a performance standard of this ordinance demonstrates to the City of Appleton’s satisfaction 
that a performance standard is not achievable and that a lower level of performance is appropriate.  In 
making the assertion that a performance standard is not achievable and that a level of performance 
different from the performance standard is the maximum extent practicable, the responsible party shall 
take into account the best available technology, cost effectiveness, geographic features, and other 
completing interests such as protection of public safety and welfare, protection of endangered and 
threatened resources, and preservation of historic properties. 

(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 181-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16; Ord 9-20, §1, 2-11-20)) 
 
Secs. 24-11 – 24-14.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-15.  Definitions. 
 
 The following words, terms and phrases when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 
this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
 
 Administering authority means the Director of Public Works, or a designee.  
 
 Agricultural facilities and practices has the meaning in §281.16(1), Wis. Stats. 
 
 Average annual rainfall means a calendar year of precipitation, excluding snow, which is considered typical.  
An average annual rainfall for Green Bay, 1969 (March 29 - November 25) is applicable for the City of Appleton. 
 
 Best management practice or BMP means structural or non-structural measures, practices, techniques or devices 
employed to avoid or minimize soil, sediment or pollutants carried in runoff.  
 
 Business day means a day the offices of the City of Appleton are routinely and customarily open for business.  
 
 Cease and desist order means a court-issued order to halt land disturbing activity that is being conducted without 
the required permit or not in conformance with an existing permit. 
 
 City means the City of Appleton. 
 
 Common plan of development or sale means a development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land 
disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one (1) plan.  
A common plan of development or sale includes, but is not limited to, subdivision plats, certified survey maps, and 
other developments. 
 
 Construction site means an area upon which one (1) or more land disturbing construction activities occur, 
including areas that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land 
disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one (1) 
common plan of development. 
 
 Design storm means a hypothetical discrete rainstorm characterized by a specific duration, temporal distribution, 
rainfall intensity, return frequency and total depth of rainfall.  Rainfall amounts for 24-hour design rainfall events in 
Appleton are:  100-year, 5.50 inches; 10-year, 3.51 inches; 5-year, 3.01 inches; 2-year, 2.45 inches, and 1-year 2.14 
inches.  The distribution shall be NOAA Atlas 14 MSE4. 



 
 Erosion means the process by which the land’s surface is worn away by the action of wind, water, ice or gravity. 
 
 Erosion and sediment control plan means a comprehensive plan developed to address pollution caused by 
erosion and sedimentation of soil particles or rock fragments during construction.   
 
 Final stabilization means that all land disturbing activities at the site have been completed and that a uniform 
perennial vegetative cover has been established, with a density of at least seventy percent (70%) of the cover, for the 
unpaved areas and areas not covered by permanent structures, or that employ equivalent permanent stabilization 
measures. 
 
 Land disturbing activity means any man-made alteration resulting in a change in the topography, existing 
vegetative or non-vegetative soil cover, or drainage pattern, that may result in runoff and lead to an increase in soil 
erosion and movement of sediment.  Land disturbing activities include, but are not limited to, clearing and grubbing, 
demolition, excavating, pit trench dewatering, filling and grading activities, an unstable pipe outfall, or an unstable 
slope. 
 
 Landowner means any person holding fee title, an easement or other interest in property, which allows the person 
to undertake cropping, livestock management, land disturbing construction activity or maintenance of stormwater 
BMPs on the property. 
 
 Maximum extent practicable means the highest level of performance that is achievable, but is not equivalent to 
a performance standard, taking into account the best available technology, cost effectiveness and other competing 
issues such as human welfare, endangered and threatened resources, historic properties, and geographic features, 
pursuant to Sec. 20-10(b)(4) of the Appleton Municipal Code. 
 
 Performance standard means a narrative or measurable number specifying the minimum acceptable outcome for 
a facility or practice. 

 
 Permit means a written authorization made by the City of Appleton to the applicant to conduct land disturbing 
activity. 
 
 Pollutant has the meaning given in §283.01(13), Wis. Stats.  

 
 Pollution has the meaning given in §281.01(10), Wis. Stats. 
 
 Responsible party means any person holding fee title to the property or other entity performing services to meet 
the requirements of this ordinance through a contract or other agreement. 

 
 Runoff means storm water or precipitation including rain, snow or ice melt or similar water that moves on the 
land surface via sheet or channelized flow. 
 
 Performance security means cash, or an irrevocable letter of credit submitted to the City of Appleton by the 
responsible party to assure that requirements of the ordinance are carried out in compliance with the approved erosion 
and sediment control plan and to recover any costs incurred by the City for designing, engineering, preparation, 
checking and review of plans and specifications, regulations and ordinances, and legal, administrative and fiscal work 
undertaken to assure and implement such compliance. 
 
 Permit application fee means a sum of money paid to the City of Appleton by the responsible party for the 
purpose of recouping expenses incurred by the City in administering the permit. 
 
 Sediment means settleable solid material that is transported by runoff, suspended within runoff or deposited by 
runoff away from its original location. 
 



 Silviculture activity means activities including tree nursery operations, tree harvesting operations, reforestation, 
tree thinning, prescribed burning, and pest and fire control.  Clearing and grubbing of an area of a construction site is 
not a silviculture activity. 
 
 Site means the entire area included in the legal description of the land on which the land disturbing activity is 
proposed in the permit application or has occurred. 
 
 Stop work order means an order issued by the City of Appleton, which requires that all construction activity on 
the site be stopped. 
 
 Stormwater conveyance system means any method employed to carry stormwater runoff within and from a land 
development or redevelopment activity to the waters of the state.  Examples of methods include:  swales, channels 
and storm sewers. 
(Ord 182-11, §1, 1-1-12) 

 
 Technical standard means a document that specifies design, predicted performance and operation and 
maintenance specifications for a material, device or method. 
 
 Transportation facility means a highway, a railroad, a public mass transit facility, a public-use airport, a public 
trail or any other public work for transportation purposes such as harbor improvements under §85.095(1)(b), Wis. 
Stats.  Transportation facility does not include building sites for the construction of public buildings and buildings that 
are places of employment that are regulated by the Department pursuant to §281.33, Wis. Stats. 
 
 Waters of the state has the meaning in §283.01(20), Wis. Stat. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-16 – 24-19.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-20.  Technical standards. 
 
 (a) Design criteria, standards and specifications.  All BMPs required to comply with this ordinance shall meet 
the design criteria, standards and specifications based on any of the following:  
  
  (1) Design guidance and technical standards identified or developed by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources under subchapter V of Chapter NR 151, Wis. Adm. Code. 
 
  (2) Soil loss prediction tools (such as the Universal Soil Loss Equation [USLE] or its successors RUSLE 

and RUSLE2) when using an appropriate rainfall or runoff factor (also referred to as the R factor) or an 
appropriate design storm and precipitation distribution, and when considering the geographic location 
of the site and the period of disturbance. 

 
 (b) Other standards.  Other technical standards not identified or developed in sub. (a), may be used provided 
that the methods have been approved by the City of Appleton. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 183-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-21 – 24-23.  Reserved. 
 
Sec. 24-24.  Performance standards for non-permitted sites. 
 
 (a) Responsible party.  The responsible party shall comply with this section. 
 
 (b) Requirements.  Erosion and sediment control practices at each site where land disturbing construction 
activity is to occur shall be used to prevent or reduce all of the following: 
 
  (1) The deposition of soil from being tracked onto streets by vehicles. 



 
   (2) The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into on-site storm water inlets. 
 
  (3) The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas.  
 
  (4) The discharge of sediment from drainage ways that flow off the site. 
 
  (5) The discharge of sediment by dewatering activities. 
 
  (6) The discharge of sediment eroding from soil stockpiles existing for more than seven (7) days. 
 
  (7) The transport, by runoff from the site, of chemicals, cement and other building compounds and materials 

on the construction site during the construction period.  However, projects that require the placement of 
these materials in waters of the state, such as constructing bridge footings or BMP installations, are not 
prohibited by this paragraph. 

 
 (c) Location.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be located so that treatment occurs before runoff 
leaves the site or enters a storm conveyance system, any drainage channel or waters of the state. 
 
 (d) Implementation.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be implemented as follows: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be constructed or installed before land disturbing 

construction activities begin. 
 
  (2) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be maintained until final stabilization. 
 
  (3) Final stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and final grade has been 

reached on any portion of the site. 
 
  (4) Temporary stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and will not 

resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. 
 
  (5) BMPs that are no longer necessary for erosion and sediment control shall be removed by the responsible 

party. 
 
  (6) All off-site deposits occurring as a result of a storm event shall be cleaned up by the end of the next 

working day.  All other off-site deposits occurring as a result of land disturbing activities shall be cleaned 
up by the end of the workday.  Flushing is not allowed. 

 
 (e) Alternate requirements.  The City of Appleton may establish erosion and sediment control requirements 
more stringent than those set forth in this section if the City determines that an added level of protection is needed to 
protect resources. 
(Ord 184-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Sec. 24-25.  Performance standards for permitted sites. 
 
 (a)  Responsible party.  The responsible party shall implement an erosion and sediment control plan, developed 
in accordance with Sec. 24-35, that incorporates the requirements of this section. 
 
 (b) Plan.  A written site specific erosion and sediment control plan shall be developed in accordance with Sec. 
24-35 and implemented for each construction site. 
 
 (c) Erosion and other pollutant control requirements.  The plan required under sub. (b) shall include the 
following: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be used to prevent or reduce all of the following: 



 
   a. The deposition of soil from being tracked onto streets by vehicles. 
 
   b. The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into on-site storm water inlets. 
 
   c. The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into adjacent waters of the state. 
 
   d. The discharge of sediment from drainage ways that flow off the site. 
 
   e. The discharge of sediment by dewatering activities. 
 
   f. The discharge of sediment eroding from soil stockpiles existing for more than seven (7) days. 
 
   g. The discharge of sediment from erosive flows at outlets and in downstream channels. 
 
   h. The transport, by runoff from the site, of chemicals, cement and other building compounds and 

materials from the construction site during the construction period.  However, projects that require 
the placement of these materials in waters of the state, such as constructing bridge footings or BMP 
installations, are not prohibited by this subdivision. 

 
   i. The transport by runoff of untreated wash water from vehicle and wheel washing from the 

construction site.  Wastewaters, such as concrete truck washout, shall be properly managed to limit 
the discharge of pollutants. 

 
  (2) For permitted sites with less than one (1) acre disturbed activity, BMPs that, by design, achieve to the 

maximum extent practicable, a reduction of eighty percent (80%) of the sediment load carried in runoff, 
on an average annual basis, as compared with no sediment or erosion controls until the site has undergone 
final stabilization.  No person shall be required to exceed an eighty percent (80%) sediment reduction to 
meet the requirements of this paragraph.     

 
  (32) For permitted sites with one (1) acre or more disturbed area, BMPs that, by design, discharge no more 

than five (5) tons per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment load carried 
in runoff from initial grading to final stabilization, as determined by the WDNR construction site soil 
loss and sediment discharge guidance. 

 
  (43) Erosion and Sedimentation BMPs may be combined to meet the requirements of this section.  Credit 

toward meeting the sediment reduction shall be given for limiting the duration or area, or both, of land 
disturbing activity, or other appropriate mechanism.  The method of calculating the percent reduction in 
sediment shall be a method approved by the City of Appleton. 

 
  (54) No person shall be required to employ more BMPs than are needed to meet a performance standard in 

order to comply with MEP. 
 
  (65)  Notwithstanding sub. (2) and (3), if BMPs cannot be designed and implemented to meet these 

requirements, the plan shall include a written and site-specific explanation as to why the requirements 
are not attainable and how the sediment load shall be reduced to the maximum extent practicable.   

 
  (76) Preventative measures.  The plan shall incorporate all of the following: 
 
   a. Maintenance of existing vegetation, especially adjacent to surface waters whenever possible. 
 
   b. Minimization of soil compaction and preservation of topsoil. 
 
   c. Minimization of land disturbing construction activity on slopes of twenty percent (20%) or more. 
 
   d. Development of spill prevention and response procedures. 



    
  (87) All off-site deposits occurring as a result of a storm event shall be cleaned up by the end of the next 

working day.  All other off-site deposits occurring as a result of land disturbing activities shall be cleaned 
up by the end of the workday.  Flushing is not allowed. 

   
 (d) Location.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be located so that treatment occurs prior to runoff 
leaving the site or entering the storm conveyance system, any drainage channel or waters of the state.  
 
 (e) Implementation.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be implemented as follows: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be constructed or installed before land disturbing 

construction activities begin in accordance with plan developed under Sec. 24-35. 
 
  (2) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be maintained until final stabilization. 
 
  (3) Final stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and final grade has been 

reached on any portion of the site. 
 
  (4) Temporary stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and will not 

resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. 
 
  (5) BMPs that are no longer necessary for erosion and sediment control shall be removed by the responsible 

party. 
 
 (f) Alternate requirements.  The City of Appleton may establish erosion and sediment control requirements 
more stringent than those set forth in this section if the City determines that an added level of protection is needed to 
protect sensitive resources. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 185-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-26 – 24-29.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-30.  Permitting requirements, procedures and fees. 
 
 (a) Permit required.  No responsible party may commence any land disturbing activity subject to this ordinance 
without first receiving approval of an erosion and sediment control plan for the site and a permit from the City of 
Appleton. 

 
 (b) Permit application and fees.  The responsible party desiring to undertake a land disturbing activity subject 
to this ordinance shall submit an application for a permit and an erosion and sediment control plan that meets the 
requirements of Sec. 24-35 and shall pay an application fee to the City of Appleton.  By submitting an application, the 
applicant is authorizing the City of Appleton to enter the site to obtain information required for the review of the 
erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
 (c) Review and approval of permit application.  The City of Appleton shall review any complete permit 
application that is submitted with an erosion and sediment control plan, and the required fee.  The following approval 
procedure shall be used: 
 
  (1) Within twenty (20) business days of the receipt of a complete permit application, as required by sub. (b), 

the City of Appleton shall inform the applicant whether the application and plan are approved or 
disapproved based on the requirements of this ordinance.  

 
  (2) If the permit application and plan are approved, the City of Appleton shall issue the permit.   
 
  (3) If the permit application or plan is disapproved, the City of Appleton shall state in writing the reasons 

for disapproval.   



 
  (4) The City of Appleton may request additional information from the applicant.  If additional information 

is submitted, the City of Appleton shall have twenty (20) business days from the date the additional 
information is received to inform the applicant that the plan is either approved or disapproved. 

 
  (5) Failure by the City of Appleton to inform the permit applicant of a decision within twenty (20) business 

days of a required submittal shall be deemed to mean approval of the submittal and the applicant may 
proceed as if a permit had been issued. 

 
 (d) Performance security.  The City of Appleton may, at its discretion, require the submittal of a cash escrow, 
irrevocable letter of credit, or performance security prior to issuance of the permit to ensure that the practices are 
installed and maintained by the responsible party as required by the approved erosion and sediment control plan and 
any conditions attached to the permit.  The amount of the installation performance security shall be determined by the 
City of Appleton, not to exceed the total estimated construction cost of the erosion and sediment control practices 
approved under the permit unless otherwise specified in the permit.  The amount of any required maintenance 
performance security shall be determined by the City of Appleton.  Any performance securities shall contain forfeiture 
provisions for failure to complete work specified in the plan.   
 

Conditions for the release of performance security are as follows: 
 
  (1) The installation performance security shall be released in full only upon submission of “as built plans” 

and written certification by a professional engineer registered in the State of Wisconsin that the 
practice(s) were installed in accordance with the approved plan and other applicable provisions of this 
ordinance.  The City of Appleton may make provisions for a partial pro-rata release of the performance 
security based on the completion of various development stages including the final inspection of 
landscaping material. 

 
  (2) The maintenance performance security, minus any costs incurred by the City of Appleton to conduct 

required maintenance, design, engineering, preparation, checking and review of designs, plans and 
specifications; supervision and inspection to ensure that construction is in compliance with applicable 
plans, specifications, regulations and ordinances; and legal, administrative and fiscal work undertaken 
to assure and implement such compliance, shall be released at such time that the responsibility for 
practice maintenance is passed on to another private entity, via an approved maintenance agreement, or 
to the City of Appleton. 

 
 (e) Permit requirements.  All permits shall require the responsible party to: 
 
  (1) Notify the City of Appleton no less than two (2) business days prior to commencing any land disturbing 

construction activity.  
 
  (2) Notify the City of Appleton of completion of any BMPs within two (2) business days after their 

installation. 
 
  (3) Notify the City of Appleton no less than two (2) business days prior to leaving the site at the completion 

of the project or seasonal shutdown. 
 
  (34)  Obtain permission in writing from the City of Appleton prior to any modification pursuant to Sec. 

24-35 of the erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
  (45)  Install all BMPs as identified in the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 
  (56) Maintain and repair all road drainage systems, storm conveyance systems, BMPs and other facilities, 

both on and off site, identified in the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
  (67) Repair any siltation or erosion damage to adjoining surfaces and drainage ways resulting from land 

disturbing construction activities and document repairs in a site erosion control log. 



 
  (78) Inspect the BMPs within twenty-four (24) hours after each rain of 0.5 inches or more and at least once 

each week.  Make needed repairs, install additional BMPs as necessary and document the findings of the 
inspections in an erosion control log kept on site with the date of inspection, the name of the person 
conducting the inspection, a description of the present phase of the construction, a description of any 
repairs needed and documentation of the completed repairs. 

 
  (89) Winter dormant inspection requirements.  When a permitted construction site is shut down and dormant 

over the winter season, the applicant shall be exempt from weekly inspections as required in Sec. 24-
30(e)(7) upon approval of the Director of Public Works.  In order for a permitted site to be classified as 
winter dormant, the applicant must install erosion control measures to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Public Works, provide an inspection of these measures and then cease all construction activities except 
for minor maintenance activities.  Once a site is classified as winter dormant by the Director of Public 
Works, inspections are only required within twenty-four (24) hours of a rain or thaw event as determined 
by the Director of Public Works.  If at any time construction resumes or an erosion control failure occurs 
at the site, the site shall lose the winter dormant classification and the applicant must resume normal 
inspection. 

 
  (910) Documentation of inspection. When required by the City of Appleton, erosion control inspections, 

including any repairs needed and/or actions taken at the site, shall be documented on the City of Appleton 
online erosion control self-reporting system.  The permittee will be given access to this website, which 
contains documentation and forms for use in the erosion control inspections.  Digital photographs of 
each of the erosion control practices and the site conditions shall be submitted and shall be required to 
meet the minimum inspection requirements of this section. 

 
  (1011) Allow the City of Appleton to enter the site for the purpose of inspecting compliance with the 

erosion and sediment control plan or for performing any work necessary to bring the site into compliance 
with the plan.  Keep a copy of the erosion and sediment control plan at the construction site. 

 
 (f) Permit conditions.  Permits issued under this section may include conditions established by City of Appleton 
in addition to the requirements set forth in sub. (e), where needed to assure compliance with the performance standards 
in Sec. 24-25. 
 
 (g) Permit duration.  Permits issued under this section shall be valid for a period of one (1) year, or the length 
of the building permit or other construction authorizations, whichever is longer, from the date of issuance.   
 
 (h) Maintenance. The responsible party throughout the duration of the construction activities shall maintain all 
BMPs necessary to meet the requirements of this ordinance until the site has undergone final stabilization and final 
acceptance by the City of Appleton.  Upon failure to perform the necessary maintenance of the erosion control 
practices, the City of Appleton retains the right to perform maintenance and/or repairs.  The costs shall be assessed to 
the responsible party. 
 
 (i) All sites covered under this ordinance shall implement a long-term stormwater management plan per Wis. 
Adm. Code s. NR 216.47.  For sites not subject to the Stormwater Management Standards and Planning Ordinance in 
Article VI of Chapter 20 of the Appleton Municipal Code, a stormwater management acknowledgement form, 
accepting the long-term stormwater management requirements, shall be required prior to receiving an erosion and 
sediment control permit. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-31 – 24-34.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-35. Erosion and sediment control plan, statement and amendments. 
 
 (a)  Erosion and sediment control plan. 
  



  (1) An erosion and sediment control plan shall be prepared and submitted to the City of Appleton 
Department of Public Works. unless the project is required to also submit a site plan.  If a site plan is 
required, the complete erosion and sediment control permit application and appropriate fee shall be 
submitted to the City of Appleton Community Development Department with the site plan submittal.   

 
  (2) The complete erosion and sediment control plan shall be submitted in both hard copy and .pdf format. 
 
  (3) The erosion and sediment control plan shall be prepared by a person who holds a registration issued by 

the Wisconsin Department of Regulation and Licensing in one (1) of the following categories: 
 
   a. Architect. 
 
   b. Engineer. 
 
   c. Land Surveyor. 
 
   d. Landscape Architect. 
 
  (4)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall be designed to meet the performance standards in Sec. 24-

25 and other requirements of this ordinance. 
 
  (5)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall address pollution caused by soil erosion and sedimentation 

during construction and up to final stabilization of the site. The erosion and sediment control plan shall 
include, at a minimum, the following items:  

 
   a. The name(s) and address(es) of the owner or developer of the site, and of any consulting firm 

retained by the applicant, together with the name of the applicant’s contact at such firm.  The 
application shall also include start and end dates for construction.   

  
   b. Description of the site and the nature of the land disturbing activity.  Sites of one (1) acre or more 

shall include the limits of land disturbance on a United States Geological Service 7.5 minute series 
topographic map. 

 
   c. The intended sequence of land disturbing construction of the development site, including stripping;  

clearing and grubbing; excavation; rough grading; construction of utilities, infrastructure, and 
buildings; and final grading and landscaping.  Sequencing shall identify the expected date when 
clearing will begin, the estimated duration of exposure of cleared areas, areas of clearing, installation 
of temporary erosion and sediment control measures, establishment of permanent vegetation and 
removal of erosion and sediment controls. 

 
   d.   Estimates of the total area of the site and the total area of the site that is expected to be disturbed by 

construction activities. 
 
   e. For sites less than one (1) acre of disturbed area, include BMPs meeting the provisions of Sec. 24-

25(c)(2).  
 
   fe. For sites with one (1) acre or more of disturbed area, provide calculations per WDNR Soil Loss 

Guidelines per Sec. 24-25(c)(32). 
 
   gf.   Location and description of the existing surface soil as well as subsoils, as indicated by USDA 

Natural Resource Conservation Service Soil Survey information. 
 
   hg. Whenever permanent infiltration devices will be employed or were evaluated, the depth to the 

nearest seasonal high groundwater elevation or top of bedrock shall be identified per appropriate 
on-site testing. 

 



   ih. Name of the immediate named receiving water from the United States Geological Services 7.5 
minute series topographic maps. 

 
  (6)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall include a site map.  The site map shall include the following 

items and shall be at a scale not greater than one hundred (100) feet per inch and at a contour interval 
not to exceed two (2) feet. 

 
   a.   Existing topography, vegetative cover, natural and engineered drainage patterns and systems, roads, 

and surface waters.  Lakes, streams, wetlands, channels, ditches and other watercourses on the site 
and on adjacent lands shall be shown.  Any identified 100-year flood plains, flood fringes, 
floodways, and flood storage areas shall also be shown. 

 
   b.   Boundaries of the parcel and the construction site. 
 
   c.   Drainage patterns and approximate slopes before and after major grading activities. 
 
   d.   Areas of soil disturbance. 
 
   e.   Location, dimensions and descriptions of major structural and non-structural controls identified in 

the erosion and sediment control plan. 
 
   f. Location of areas where stabilization BMPs will be employed. 
 
   g. Areas that will be vegetated following land disturbing construction activity. 
 
   h.   Area(s) and location(s) of wetland acreage on the site and locations where stormwater is discharged 

to a surface water or wetland, within one-quarter mile downstream of the construction site. 
 
   i.   Water courses and wetlands that may affect or be affected by runoff from the site. 
 
   j. On sites one (1) acre or larger an alphanumeric or equivalent grid overlying the entire construction 

site map. 
 
   k. Topography and drainage network of enough of the contiguous properties to show runoff patterns 

onto, through, and from the site. 
 
   l. Location, dimensions and description of utilities, structures and pavements. 
 
   m. Area(s) used for infiltration of post-construction stormwater runoff. 
 
  (7)  Each erosion and sediment control plan shall include a description of appropriate control BMPs that will 

be installed and maintained at the construction site to prevent pollutants from reaching waters of the 
state.  The erosion and sediment control plan shall clearly describe the appropriate erosion and sediment 
control BMPs for each major land disturbing construction activity and the timing during the period of 
land disturbing construction activity that the erosion and sediment control BMPs will be implemented.  
The description of erosion and sediment control BMPs shall include, when appropriate, the following 
minimum requirements: 

 
   a. Description of interim and permanent stabilization practices, including a BMP implementation 

schedule.  Erosion and sediment control plans shall ensure that existing vegetation is preserved 
where attainable and that disturbed portions of the site are stabilized. 

 
   b. Description of structural practices to divert flow away from exposed soils, store flows or otherwise 

limit runoff and the discharge of pollutants from the site.  Unless otherwise specifically approved in 
writing by the City of Appleton, structural measures shall be installed on upland soils. 

 



   c.   Management of overland flow at all areas of the construction site, unless otherwise controlled by 
outfall controls. 

 
   d. Trapping of sediment in channelized flow. 
 
   e.   Staging land disturbing construction activities to limit exposed soil areas subject to erosion. 
 
   f.   Protection of downslope drainage inlets where they occur. 
 
   g.   Minimization of tracking at all vehicle and equipment entry and exit locations of the construction 

site. 
 
   h.   Clean up of off-site sediment deposits. 
 
   i.   Proper disposal of building and waste materials, including but not limited to designated sites for 

concrete truck washout. 
 
   j.   Stabilization of drainage ways. 
 
   k.   Control of soil erosion from stockpiles. 
 
   l. Installation of permanent stabilization practices within ten (10) days after final grading. 
 
   m.   Minimization of dust to the maximum extent practicable. 
(Ord 187-11, §1, 1-1-12) 
 
  (8)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall require that velocity dissipation devices be placed at 

discharge locations and along the length of any outfall channel, as necessary, to provide a non-erosive 
flow from the structure to a water course so that the natural physical and biological characteristics and 
functions are maintained and protected.   

 
 (b) Erosion and sediment control plan statement.  For each land disturbing construction site identified under 
Sec. 24-15, an erosion and sediment control plan statement shall be prepared.  This statement shall be submitted to 
the City of Appleton.  The control plan statement shall briefly describe the site, the development schedules and the 
best management practices that will be used to meet the requirements of the ordinance.  
 
 (c) Amendments.  The applicant shall amend the plan if any of the following occur: 
 
  (1) There is a change in design, construction, operation or maintenance at the site that has the reasonable 

potential for the discharge of pollutants and has not otherwise been addressed in the erosion and sediment 
control plan. 

 
  (2) The actions required by the erosion and sediment control plan fail to reduce the impacts of pollutants 

carried by construction site runoff. 
 
  (3) The City of Appleton notifies the applicant of changes needed in the plan. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16; Ord 10-20, §1, 2-11-20) 
 
Secs. 24-36 – 24-39.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-40.  Fee schedule. 
 
 Fees for the erosion and sediment control permits will be in such amount as may be established by the City of 
Appleton Common Council from time to time by separate resolution.  Fees will be on file with the City Clerk. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 



 
Secs. 24-41 – 24-44.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-45.  Site inspections. 
 
 Whenever land disturbing activities are being carried out, the City of Appleton may enter the land pursuant to the 
provisions of §§66.0119(1), (2), and (3), Wis. Stats.  
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 188-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-46 – 24-49.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-50.  Enforcement and penalties. 
 
 (a) Any land disturbing activity initiated after the effective date of this ordinance by any person, firm, association 
or corporation subject to the ordinance provisions shall be deemed a violation unless conducted in accordance with 
these ordinance provisions. 
 
 (b) The City of Appleton shall notify the responsible party in writing of any non-complying activity.  The notice 
shall describe the nature of the violation, remedial actions needed, a schedule for remedial action and additional 
enforcement action, which may be taken. 
 
 (c) Upon receipt of written notification from the City of Appleton, the responsible party shall make the necessary 
corrections within the time period established by the City of Appleton.   
 
 (d) If the violations issued pursuant to this ordinance are likely to result in damage to properties, public facilities, 
or waters of the state, the City of Appleton may enter the land and take emergency actions necessary to prevent such 
damage.  The costs incurred by the City of Appleton plus interest and legal costs shall be billed to the responsible 
party. 
 
 (e) The City of Appleton is authorized to post a stop work order on all land development or redevelopment 
activity in violation of this ordinance, or to request the Appleton City Attorney to obtain a cease and desist order. 
  
 (f) The City of Appleton may revoke a permit issued under this ordinance for noncompliance with ordinance 
provisions. 
 
 (g) Any permit revocation, stop work order or cease and desist order shall remain in effect unless retracted by 
the City of Appleton or by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
 (h) The City of Appleton is authorized to refer any violation of this ordinance, or of a stop work order or cease 
and desist order issued pursuant to this ordinance, to the Appleton City Attorney for the commencement of further 
legal proceedings. 
 
 (i) Any person, firm, association or corporation who does not comply with the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be subject to the general penalty provisions of the Appleton Municipal Code Sec. 1-16.  Each day that the violation 
exists shall constitute a separate offense. 
 
 (j) Violations of this ordinance deemed to be a public nuisance shall be subject to abatement under Sec. 12-32 
of the Appleton Municipal Code or compliance with this ordinance may be enforced by injunctional order in any court 
with jurisdiction.  It shall not be necessary to prosecute for forfeiture before resorting to injunctional proceedings. 
 
 (k) When the City of Appleton determines that the holder of a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance has failed 
to follow practices set forth in the erosion and sediment control plan submitted and approved pursuant to this 
ordinance, or has failed to comply with schedules set forth in said erosion and sediment control plan, the City of 
Appleton or a party designated by the City of Appleton may enter upon the land and perform the work or other 



operations necessary to bring the condition of said lands into conformance with requirements of the approved plan.  
The City of Appleton shall keep a detailed accounting of the costs and expenses of performing this work.  These costs 
and expenses shall be deducted from any performance or maintenance security posted pursuant to this ordinance.  
Where such a security has not been established, or where such a security is insufficient to cover these costs, the costs 
and expenses shall be entered on the tax roll as a special charge against the property.  
 
 (l) No building occupancy may be issued if there is noncompliance of any provision herein. 
 
 (m) No building permit may be issued in any subdivision when the subdivision is not in compliance with the 
requirements of this chapter. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-51 – 24-54.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-55.  Appeals 
 
 (a) The Utilities Committee of the Appleton Common Council shall hear and recommend to Council appeals 
where it is alleged that there is error in any order, decision or determination made by the City of Appleton in 
administering this ordinance except for cease and desist orders obtained under Sec. 24-50(e).   
 
 Upon appeal, the Committee may recommend to Council relief from the provisions of this ordinance that are not 
contrary to the public interest or provisions of state regulations, and where owing to special conditions a literal 
enforcement of this ordinance will result in unnecessary hardship. 
 
 (b) Who may appeal.  Appeals to the Utilities Committee of the City of Appleton may be taken by any aggrieved 
person or by an officer, department, board or bureau of the City of Appleton affected by any decision of the City of 
Appleton.  Written appeals shall be filed with the City Clerk.  The Utilities Committee will make a recommendation 
within forty-five (45) calendar days of filing of the appeal.  If the Utilities Committee takes no action within forty-
five (45) calendar days, the appeal will automatically be sent to Council with a recommendation for approval.  Either 
party may file a written request for a time extension with the City Clerk.  
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-56 – 24-59.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-60.  Severability. 
 
 If any section or portion thereof shall be declared by a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
unlawful or unenforceable, such decision shall apply only to the specific section or portion thereof directly specified 
in the decision, and not affect the validity of all other provisions, sections or portion thereof of the ordinance which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-0; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
*Editor’s Note:  Chapter 24 was repealed and recreated by ordinance 180-04.  This ordinance is effective as of January 
1, 2005. 
 
*Editor’s Note:  Chapter 24 was repealed and recreated by ordinance 49-16.  This ordinance is effective as of June 21, 
2016. 
City Law: 21‐0961 
Revised: 09‐02‐2022 



 

 1

City of Appleton 
Construction Site Pollutant Control Program 

Section 2.4 WPDES Permit No. WI-S050075-3 
Permit Start Date May 1, 2019 

February 2020 
Revised September 2022 

 
Since 1998, the City of Appleton has progressively addressed erosion control issues.  The City 
has an Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance, an established program and a full-time erosion 
control inspector assigned to administer the program.  This document describes the program as 
required in the Permit from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). This 
revision addresses current and expected long-term workload and staffing issues. 
 
Funding for this program is through the City of Appleton Stormwater Utility.   
 
This document will be kept in the Inspections Division of the Department of Public Works 
(DPW) located on the fifth floor of City Center, 100 N. Appleton Street, Appleton, Wisconsin.   
 
Bold text is permit language.  
 
2.4 Construction Site Pollutant Control 
 
The permittee shall continue to implement and enforce its program to reduce the discharge 
of sediment and construction materials from construction sites.  The permittee shall 
implement the following measureable goals: 
 
2.4.1 Construction Site Ordinance  
 
An ordinance or other regulatory mechanism to require erosion and sediment control at 
construction sites and establish sanctions to ensure compliance.  At a minimum, the 
ordinance or other regulatory mechanism shall establish or include: 

 
a. Applicability and jurisdiction, pursuant to the authority provided to the 
permittee under Wisconsin statutes, the ordinance shall apply to all construction 
sites with one acre or more of land disturbance, and to sites of less than one acre if 
they are part of a larger common plan of development or sale.  

  
b. Requirements for design and implementation of erosion and sediment control 
practices consistent with the criteria of those approved by the Department. 

 
c.  Construction site performance standards equivalent to those in ss. NR 
151.11(6m), (7) and (8) and 151.23(4m), (5) and (6) Wis. Adm Code, to achieve the 
following measurable goals: 

 



 

 2

(1) BMPs for construction sites that, by design, discharge no more than 5 tons 
per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment load 
carried in runoff from initial grading to final stabilization. 

 
(2) BMP’s for transportation facilities that, by design, discharge no more than 5 
tons per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment 
load carried in runoff from the initial grading to final stabilization. 

   
d. Erosion and sediment control plan requirements for landowners of construction 
sites equivalent to those contained in s. NR 216.46 Wis. Adm. Code. 

 
 e. Inspection and enforcement authority. 
  

f. Requirements for construction site operators to manage waste such as discarded 
building materials, concrete truck washout, chemicals, litter and sanitary waste at the 
construction site to reduce adverse impacts to waters of the state.   

 
The City of Appleton Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance was originally effective January 
1, 1999 and subsequently updated January 2005, January 2012 and June 2016.  Ordinance 
updates followed the model WDNR ordinance available at the time.  The ordinance has always 
traditionally been more stringent than the WDNR model ordinance, requiring permits for 
disturbed areas of two thousand (2,000) square feet or larger.  The 2020 ordinance update 
includesd the new requirements of Section 2.4.1.  This revision and the associated ordinances 
changes require plan review and permits for sites disturbing one acre or more, continuing to meet 
the permit requirements.  
 
The ordinance is Chapter 24 of the Municipal Code.  It is available at DPW - Inspections and on 
the City’s website, as periodically updated.   
 
2.4.2 Erosion and Sediment control plan review.   
 
Written procedures for construction site plan review which incorporate consideration of 
potential water quality impacts.  Preconstruction erosion control plan reviews shall be 
conducted for all construction sites with greater than one acre of land disturbance.   
 
Erosion and sediment control permits are required for all land disturbing activities exposing 2000 
sq. ft. one acre or more of the soil surface, including but not limited to, clearing/grubbing, 
demolition, excavating, filling and grading activities, . with the exception of one and two family 
construction, where permits are required only when land disturbance is one acre or more. DPW - 
Inspections addresses one and two family construction for sites disturbing less than one acre per 
the Uniform Dwelling Code.  Permit applications are available at DPW - Inspections, the 
Community & Economic Development Department – Planning Division, and on the City of 
Appleton website.  The City of Appleton Erosion Control Inspector is responsible for reviewing 
all plans requiring a permit., with assistance from the DPW-Engineering Division and 
consultants as needed.  Plans are submitted to the Community & Economic Development 



 

 3

Department – Planning Division when the project is required to go through the City site plan 
review process, and directly to DPW - Inspections when no site plan is requiredDivision.   
 
The City uses a checklist that is consistent with the ordinance to review and prepare plans.  The 
checklist is attached to this document.   The checklist was updated per the 2020 ordinance update 
and has been reviewed and updated again with this 2022 revision..  
 
 
Once a plan is received by DPW - Inspections, the plan review process is as follows: 
 
A. The Erosion Control Inspector reviews the plan for conformance with the erosion and 

sediment control ordinance within 20 working days of receipt and responds one of the 
following ways: 
 
1. Contacts the applicant in writing and requests revisions necessary for approval.  Reviews 

re-submittals within 20 working days of receipt. 
 

2. Approves the plan, assigns permit number, signs the permit application and enters plan 
information into the PermiTrack on-line system (generally sites one acre or more) or the 
AS400 system (generally sites less than one acre) for tracking purposes. 

 
3. Notifies the Community & Economic Development Department – Planning Division of 

the erosion & sediment plan approval when the plan is part of the City site plan review 
process.  Notifies the permit applicant of approval when the City site plan is not required. 

 
4. Returns a copy of the approved permit application to the applicant, which indicates the 

plan and permit are approved. 
 

The duration of the permit is for a period of one (1) year, or the length of any corresponding 
building permit, whichever is longer, from the date of issuance.  

 
B. Plans for DPW - Engineering projects requiring a permit are prepared by the Project 

Engineer with the assistance of the Erosion Control Inspector in accordance with the erosion 
and sediment control ordinance and City of Appleton standard construction specifications.  
For projects designed by a consultant for DPW-Engineering, the consultant prepares the plan 
and submits it to the Erosion Control Inspector for review.  The Erosion Control Inspector 
issues permits for DPW - Engineering projects and enters the information into the AS400 
system for tracking. The Erosion Control Inspector is invited to all preconstruction meetings 
for DPW projects.    

 
Appleton standard construction specifications for Erosion Control and Vegetative 
Restoration are based on the WDNR technical standards and updated every two years.  Any 
necessary changes between official updates of the specifications are included in project 
Special Provisions. 

 
2.4.3 Administrative procedures. 



 

 4

 
Written procedures for the administration of the construction site pollutant control 
program including the process for obtaining local approval, managing and responding to 
complaints, tracking regulated construction sites, and construction site plan receipt and 
consideration of information submitted by the public.   
 
 
A. Administration of the erosion & sediment control program is by DPW– Inspections under the 

authority and requirements of Chapter 24 of the City of Appleton Municipal Code (Erosion 
& Sediment Control Ordinance).  All revisions to the ordinance are reviewed and approved 
by the Utilities Committee and Common Council.        

 
B. The process for obtaining plan approval is documented in Section 2.4.2.    
 
C. Complaints are logged into the AS400 system and routed to the erosion control inspector for 

a site inspection and any necessary follow up action.  Inspection notes and follow up 
activities are documented in the AS400 system. 

 
D. Regulated construction sites are tracked on either the PermiTrack or the AS400 system.  

Non-compliance orders are entered into the AS400 system and tracked through weekly code 
enforcement meetings.             

 
E. Plan received for review are logged into a Word chart under the DPW - Inspections drive on 

the City’s server.  This log is available for a limited amount of staff to edit and various 
additional staff as “read only”.    

 
F. Information submitted by the public regarding this program can be submitted many ways.  In 

general, this information would be reviewed by the Erosion Control Inspector and the 
Inspections Supervisor.  Any changes to the program resulting from this information would 
be documented and provided to the WDNR.   

 
 
2.4.4 Construction site inspections and enforcement. 
 
Written procedures for construction site inspection and enforcement of erosion and 
sediment control measures. By April 1, 2020, at a minimum, the procedures shall establish:   
 

a. Municipal departments or staff responsible for construction site inspections and 
enforcement.  

 
The DPW - Inspections is responsible for inspection and enforcement of the Erosion and 
Sediment Control Ordinance.  A full time Erosion Control Inspector position has been in place 
and staffed since 1999.   
 

 
 



 

 5

b. Construction site inspection frequency.  The permittee shall inspect all construction 
sites, at a minimum, in accordance with the frequency specified in [the following 
table:] 

 
 
 
 

Site Inspection Frequency 
(1) All sites one acre or more in 

size 
 New projects shall be inspected 

within the first two weeks of 
commencement of land 
disturbing  activity 

 All active sites shall be inspected 
at least once every 45 days 

 All inactive sites shall be 
inspected at least once every 60 
days 

(2) Follow up inspection  Follow up inspections are 
required within 7 days of any 
sediment discharge or 
inadequate control measure, 
unless corrections were made 
and observed by the inspector 
during the initial inspection or 
corrections were verified via 
photographs submitted to the 
inspector 

(3) Final Inspection  Confirm that all graded areas 
have reached final stabilization 
and that all temporary control 
measures are removed, and 
permanent stormwater 
management BMPs are installed 
as designed. 

 
 

New projects of one acre or more are inspected within the first two weeks of the beginning of 
construction.  Routine inspection of active sites occurs every 45 days, monthly when 
possible.  Inactive sites are inspected every 60 days.  Priority is given to sensitive or high risk 
areas, with the size of the site not necessarily corresponding to the risk.  When DPW – 
Inspections is notified of a discharge or when an inspection identifies deficiencies in on-site 
erosion control measures, the responsible party is notified of needed corrections and 
deadlines for making corrections.  Follow up inspections are made within 7 days.  
Inspections continue until final site stabilization occurs and erosion control measures are 
removed. 
 



 

 6

Verification that permanent stormwater BMPs are installed as designed is handled by DPW -  
Engineering under section 2.5 of the permit.  
 
c. Construction site inspection documentation.  Compliance with the inspection 

requirements in 2.4.4.a and b. above, shall be determined by proper documentation 
and maintenance of records of an established inspection program designed to 
inspect all sites.  

 
Inspections are documented on the PermiTrack or the AS400 system. Inspection 
information includes the inspection date, address of site, reason for inspection, permit 
number, whether it passed or failed, and details of any violations or miscellaneous 
information.  Enforcement action is documented in the AS400 system.   
 
Photos are taken of practices not in compliance with the approved plan and stored on the 
City server. 

 
d. Enforcement mechanisms that will be used to obtain compliance.  

 
The stepped enforcement process is as follows: 

 
1. Verbal notice is immediately given to the construction manager along with the 

list of required corrections and the date of compliance.  A formal written notice 
of non-compliance is issued to the owner of the property, with a copy to the 
construction manager.   The compliance date and required corrections are listed 
on the notice.  The compliance time may vary from immediate action to 
typically 2 or 3 days, depending on the severity of the violation or impending 
weather. 

2. A re-inspection will take place to determine if adequate corrections  
have been made, and one of the following will occur: 
 
a. The corrections are made and approved – case will be closed.   
b. If no corrective action has been made, a stop work order will be issued.  If 

corrections still have not been made within 1 week of the Stop Work Order, 
or a weather event has caused sediment runoff offsite, a citation will be issued.  
Further citations will be issued until corrective action is taken and approved. 

c. If a significant amount of time has passed and the corrections are still not 
made, the City of Appleton may make the required corrections and assess 
the costs to the property owner in order to bring the site into compliance. 

 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 Flow Chart 
 Checklist 
 Ordinance 



���������	
����������	����	���������	
������������	���������	����			��
	�	��������	���	��	������	�	����������� 	��������	����	!	"	����#$�������	�������%	��	 ���������
 ���������	����	�����&	���	����������	�����	�����������	���	��������	�	��������	���	������	�	�����
 �����	���	��������	�'���('���	���)����

���	���)���	����	��������	��(�
���	���)���	��	�����	��	������	����*���
+����	���������	��	,����	������-������
���	����������



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2022 EROSION & SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN REVIEW CHECKLIST 
 
Site Name: ___________________  Address: ____________________________________________  
 
Date:________________________ Site Plan #: ____________________ Reviewed By: __________ 
 
Review comments in red. 
 
1. Erosion & Sediment Control Application 
 

Shown Shown But  
Incomplete 

Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

   a.Fee (Less than 1 ac. - $100, 1 to 10 acs. - $150, 10+ acs. - $200) 
   b.Owner name, address, phone, e-mail, and signature   
   c.Applicant name, address, phone, e-mail, and signature  
   d.Consulting professional and firm name, address, phone, and e-mail 
   e.Start and end date for construction 
   f.Description of construction activity 
   g.Total area of site and estimated area of disturbance 
   h.Contractor - Project Manager & Superintendent, phone & e-mail 

 
2. Erosion & Sediment Control Plan Statement -Written Narrative & Attachments–Code Sec. 24-35(a)(1-5 and 7) and (b) 

             
Shown Shown But  

Incomplete 
Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

    a.Description of the site, project, & development schedule  
    b.List all BMP’s to be used, including corresponding DNR Technical 

Standard (if applicable).
    c.Intended sequence of major land disturbing activities with anticipated 

dates including construction & erosion/sediment control activities.  
Include at a minimum:  trackout control, inlet protection, ditch checks 
(check proper separation distance considering slope, soil type and flow 
velocity), channel stabilization, clean water diversions, overland flow 
BMPs, sediment traps/basins, stockpile management, permanent 
stabilization, waste management, etc  

    d.Describe temporary and permanent soil stabilization practices.  Include 
anticipated schedule for implementation (e.g., phasing of construction, 
temporary stabilization (seed, mulch, etc.), stockpile management, final 
stabilization, erosion matting, etc).

    e.Phasing of project to limit amount of disturbed soil at any one time 
    f.Description of existing surface/subsurface soil (USDA–NRCS Soil 

Survey).
    g.Show limits of land disturbance shown on USGS 7.5 minute series 

topographic map (for sites 1 or more acre in size). 
    h.Name of immediate receiving water from 7.5 minute series USGS 

topographic map.
    i.Depth to nearest seasonal high groundwater elevation/top of bedrock 

on sites where permanent infiltration is to occur. 
    j.Verification of DNR WRAPP (NOI) permit application for projects where 

one or more acres will be disturbed. 
    k.DNR Soil Loss Worksheet & DNR required attachments (NOI sites 

only) 
     l.Submit ALL supporting calculations for structural BMPs to demonstrate 

that BMP designs meet standards.  Include calculated dewatering times 
for sediment basins, etc. 

    m.Verify BMP’s designed per DNR Technical standards 
 



J:\CLERICAL - ENG & INSP\StormWater\EC Plan Checklist - WPDES 2022.docx 

2 
 

 
3. Erosion & Sediment Control Site Map/Plan View – Code Sec. 24-35(a)(6) 
 

Shown Shown But  
Incomplete 

Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

    a.Scaled at 100 feet per inch or less and contour interval at 2 feet or 
less. 

    b.Alphanumeric or equivalent grid overlying site map.  
    c.Existing topography, surface cover, drainage systems, and surface 

waters on and adjacent to the site (show enough of adjacent properties 
to show runoff patterns onto, through, and from the site). 

    d.Locations and delineation of on-site and potentially impacted adjacent 
wetlands. 

    e.Existing and planned buildings, roads, and all utilities.   
   f.Location of soil types (USDA – NRCS Soil Survey).  
   g.Boundary of the project site. 
    h.Boundary of the disturbed area (phasing boundaries shown if 

applicable). 
    i.Existing and planned locations where storm water is discharged from 

site (surface and subsurface). 
    j.Trackout control at all egress driveways. 
    k.Concrete truck washout containment location  
   l.Perimeter control measures (silt fencing, earthen berms, etc.).
   m.Storm drain inlet protection (on-site and off-site if needed).
    n.Ditch checks.  
    o.Stockpile locations and control measures. 
    p.Clean water diversions. 
    q.Sediment traps or sediment basins. 
   r.Velocity dissipation at outfalls.
   s.Stabilization of steep slopes (erosion mat needed?).
   t.Stabilization of drainage ways (erosion mat needed?).
    u.Detail sheets of all BMP’s as applicable (inlet protection, tracking pad, 

perimeter control, concrete truck washout containment, sediment basins 
or traps with all design parameters shown, ditch checks, etc.)  

    v.Temporary and permanent soil stabilization practices (seed, mulch, 
etc.).

    w.Roof water downspout protection. 
    x.Site dewatering provisions per DNR technical standard. 
    y.Provisions for cleaning up off-site sediment deposits and list how often. 
    z.Provisions to minimize airborne dust leaving site. 
   aa.Provisions for disposal of construction and waste materials.
   bb.Planned final site conditions, including landscaping.

 
 

4. Stormwater Management Plan (Post Construction) – As Required in Code Sec. 24-30(i) 
 

Identified Identified 
but Not 
Complete 

Not 
Identified 

Not 
Applicable

Required Item 

    a.Long-term Stormwater Management Acknowledgement form 
signed by the owner of the site.  This form simply acknowledges 
that the owner is aware of the stormwater requirements for the 
site per Wis. Adm. Code NR 216.  This is required for sites that 
require a permit but are not subject to the stormwater 
management standards and planning ordinance.

    b.Sites of one (1) or more acres are subject to the Stormwater 
Management Standards and Planning Ordinance requirements in 
Article VI of Chapter 20 of the City of Appleton Municipal Code. 

 
 
 



     
Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 

    
MEMO 

 
 
 
 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 
 

FROM: Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 
  Kurt Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
  Sue Olson, Staff Engineer 
 
DATE:  October 4, 2022 
 
RE: Approve changes to Erosion and Sediment Control Program 
_______________________________________________________________________________  
 
The Department of Public Works requests approval of changes to the Erosion and Sediment Control 
Program.  Strike and bold language of the proposed program changes along with a revised flow chart and 
review checklist are attached.  The proposed changes are requested to address staffing and workload issues 
by eliminating most permitting for small projects.  Changes are also required to the Erosion and Sediment 
Control ordinance. These are presented as two separate action items but are not independent documents.   
 
There are two sets of erosion control requirements from the State imposed onto the City.  The Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources WPDES Permit No. WI-S050075-3 requires erosion control plan review 
and inspection for sites of one acre or more disturbed area. These are the requirements covered under City of 
Appleton Municipal Code Chapter 24.  The WPDES permit also specifies the minimum frequency of 
inspections on these sites, which at times can be difficult to achieve. Historically the City has issued permits 
for sites much smaller than the State requires down to 2,000 square feet of disturbed area.   
 
Wisconsin DSPS Uniform Dwelling Code section SPS 321.125 requires plan review and inspection of one- 
and two-family dwellings.  The City of Appleton Erosion Control Inspector reviews plans and performs site 
inspections for both WDNR and DSPS requirements.  Permits issued for one and two-family homes have 
doubled in recent years and require a significant amount of inspection time. Below are the number of one and 
two-family permits issued since 2018: 
 
2018 – 59 
2019 – 56 
2020 – 83 
2021 – 112 
2022 - 109 (to date)  
 
Adding to the workload are new WDNR requirements for private stormwater practices that have been 
constructed since 2004.  The Erosion Control Inspector assists the Engineering Division with this program, 
which was implemented in late 2021.   
 
The Program revision also establishes a consistent submittal process, with all submittals going directly to the 
Inspections Division, rather than some plans submitted to Inspections and some submitted to Community 
Development.  This will allow staff to better schedule their time for plan review with time for field 
inspections.  The timeline for plan review in the ordinance is not proposed to be changed. 



 
The on-going staffing issues related to vacant positions and continued retirements, as well as a high volume 
of plan review and construction, are not expected to change soon.  The proposed changes will eliminate plan 
review and permitting of most sites less than one acre of disturbed area, since this is not required by the 
State.  Erosion and Sediment Control is still required at these sites, and staff continue to have authority to 
address problems with any site, regardless of size.   This will provide additional time for staff to perform 
field inspections at the required frequency, assist the Engineering Division with the new program, and remain 
in compliance with permit requirements.    
 
 



 

 1

City of Appleton 
Construction Site Pollutant Control Program 

Section 2.4 WPDES Permit No. WI-S050075-3 
Permit Start Date May 1, 2019 

February 2020 
Revised September 2022 

 
Since 1998, the City of Appleton has progressively addressed erosion control issues.  The City 
has an Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance, an established program and a full-time erosion 
control inspector assigned to administer the program.  This document describes the program as 
required in the Permit from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). This 
revision addresses current and expected long-term workload and staffing issues. 
 
Funding for this program is through the City of Appleton Stormwater Utility.   
 
This document will be kept in the Inspections Division of the Department of Public Works 
(DPW) located on the fifth floor of City Center, 100 N. Appleton Street, Appleton, Wisconsin.   
 
Bold text is permit language.  
 
2.4 Construction Site Pollutant Control 
 
The permittee shall continue to implement and enforce its program to reduce the discharge 
of sediment and construction materials from construction sites.  The permittee shall 
implement the following measureable goals: 
 
2.4.1 Construction Site Ordinance  
 
An ordinance or other regulatory mechanism to require erosion and sediment control at 
construction sites and establish sanctions to ensure compliance.  At a minimum, the 
ordinance or other regulatory mechanism shall establish or include: 

 
a. Applicability and jurisdiction, pursuant to the authority provided to the 
permittee under Wisconsin statutes, the ordinance shall apply to all construction 
sites with one acre or more of land disturbance, and to sites of less than one acre if 
they are part of a larger common plan of development or sale.  

  
b. Requirements for design and implementation of erosion and sediment control 
practices consistent with the criteria of those approved by the Department. 

 
c.  Construction site performance standards equivalent to those in ss. NR 
151.11(6m), (7) and (8) and 151.23(4m), (5) and (6) Wis. Adm Code, to achieve the 
following measurable goals: 

 



 

 2

(1) BMPs for construction sites that, by design, discharge no more than 5 tons 
per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment load 
carried in runoff from initial grading to final stabilization. 

 
(2) BMP’s for transportation facilities that, by design, discharge no more than 5 
tons per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment 
load carried in runoff from the initial grading to final stabilization. 

   
d. Erosion and sediment control plan requirements for landowners of construction 
sites equivalent to those contained in s. NR 216.46 Wis. Adm. Code. 

 
 e. Inspection and enforcement authority. 
  

f. Requirements for construction site operators to manage waste such as discarded 
building materials, concrete truck washout, chemicals, litter and sanitary waste at the 
construction site to reduce adverse impacts to waters of the state.   

 
The City of Appleton Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance was originally effective January 
1, 1999 and subsequently updated January 2005, January 2012 and June 2016.  Ordinance 
updates followed the model WDNR ordinance available at the time.  The ordinance has always 
traditionally been more stringent than the WDNR model ordinance, requiring permits for 
disturbed areas of two thousand (2,000) square feet or larger.  The 2020 ordinance update 
includesd the new requirements of Section 2.4.1.  This revision and the associated ordinances 
changes require plan review and permits for sites disturbing one acre or more, continuing to meet 
the permit requirements.  
 
The ordinance is Chapter 24 of the Municipal Code.  It is available at DPW - Inspections and on 
the City’s website, as periodically updated.   
 
2.4.2 Erosion and Sediment control plan review.   
 
Written procedures for construction site plan review which incorporate consideration of 
potential water quality impacts.  Preconstruction erosion control plan reviews shall be 
conducted for all construction sites with greater than one acre of land disturbance.   
 
Erosion and sediment control permits are required for all land disturbing activities exposing 2000 
sq. ft. one acre or more of the soil surface, including but not limited to, clearing/grubbing, 
demolition, excavating, filling and grading activities, . with the exception of one and two family 
construction, where permits are required only when land disturbance is one acre or more. DPW - 
Inspections addresses one and two family construction for sites disturbing less than one acre per 
the Uniform Dwelling Code.  Permit applications are available at DPW - Inspections, the 
Community & Economic Development Department – Planning Division, and on the City of 
Appleton website.  The City of Appleton Erosion Control Inspector is responsible for reviewing 
all plans requiring a permit., with assistance from the DPW-Engineering Division and 
consultants as needed.  Plans are submitted to the Community & Economic Development 



 

 3

Department – Planning Division when the project is required to go through the City site plan 
review process, and directly to DPW - Inspections when no site plan is requiredDivision.   
 
The City uses a checklist that is consistent with the ordinance to review and prepare plans.  The 
checklist is attached to this document.   The checklist was updated per the 2020 ordinance update 
and has been reviewed and updated again with this 2022 revision..  
 
 
Once a plan is received by DPW - Inspections, the plan review process is as follows: 
 
A. The Erosion Control Inspector reviews the plan for conformance with the erosion and 

sediment control ordinance within 20 working days of receipt and responds one of the 
following ways: 
 
1. Contacts the applicant in writing and requests revisions necessary for approval.  Reviews 

re-submittals within 20 working days of receipt. 
 

2. Approves the plan, assigns permit number, signs the permit application and enters plan 
information into the PermiTrack on-line system (generally sites one acre or more) or the 
AS400 system (generally sites less than one acre) for tracking purposes. 

 
3. Notifies the Community & Economic Development Department – Planning Division of 

the erosion & sediment plan approval when the plan is part of the City site plan review 
process.  Notifies the permit applicant of approval when the City site plan is not required. 

 
4. Returns a copy of the approved permit application to the applicant, which indicates the 

plan and permit are approved. 
 

The duration of the permit is for a period of one (1) year, or the length of any corresponding 
building permit, whichever is longer, from the date of issuance.  

 
B. Plans for DPW - Engineering projects requiring a permit are prepared by the Project 

Engineer with the assistance of the Erosion Control Inspector in accordance with the erosion 
and sediment control ordinance and City of Appleton standard construction specifications.  
For projects designed by a consultant for DPW-Engineering, the consultant prepares the plan 
and submits it to the Erosion Control Inspector for review.  The Erosion Control Inspector 
issues permits for DPW - Engineering projects and enters the information into the AS400 
system for tracking. The Erosion Control Inspector is invited to all preconstruction meetings 
for DPW projects.    

 
Appleton standard construction specifications for Erosion Control and Vegetative 
Restoration are based on the WDNR technical standards and updated every two years.  Any 
necessary changes between official updates of the specifications are included in project 
Special Provisions. 

 
2.4.3 Administrative procedures. 



 

 4

 
Written procedures for the administration of the construction site pollutant control 
program including the process for obtaining local approval, managing and responding to 
complaints, tracking regulated construction sites, and construction site plan receipt and 
consideration of information submitted by the public.   
 
 
A. Administration of the erosion & sediment control program is by DPW– Inspections under the 

authority and requirements of Chapter 24 of the City of Appleton Municipal Code (Erosion 
& Sediment Control Ordinance).  All revisions to the ordinance are reviewed and approved 
by the Utilities Committee and Common Council.        

 
B. The process for obtaining plan approval is documented in Section 2.4.2.    
 
C. Complaints are logged into the AS400 system and routed to the erosion control inspector for 

a site inspection and any necessary follow up action.  Inspection notes and follow up 
activities are documented in the AS400 system. 

 
D. Regulated construction sites are tracked on either the PermiTrack or the AS400 system.  

Non-compliance orders are entered into the AS400 system and tracked through weekly code 
enforcement meetings.             

 
E. Plan received for review are logged into a Word chart under the DPW - Inspections drive on 

the City’s server.  This log is available for a limited amount of staff to edit and various 
additional staff as “read only”.    

 
F. Information submitted by the public regarding this program can be submitted many ways.  In 

general, this information would be reviewed by the Erosion Control Inspector and the 
Inspections Supervisor.  Any changes to the program resulting from this information would 
be documented and provided to the WDNR.   

 
 
2.4.4 Construction site inspections and enforcement. 
 
Written procedures for construction site inspection and enforcement of erosion and 
sediment control measures. By April 1, 2020, at a minimum, the procedures shall establish:   
 

a. Municipal departments or staff responsible for construction site inspections and 
enforcement.  

 
The DPW - Inspections is responsible for inspection and enforcement of the Erosion and 
Sediment Control Ordinance.  A full time Erosion Control Inspector position has been in place 
and staffed since 1999.   
 

 
 



 

 5

b. Construction site inspection frequency.  The permittee shall inspect all construction 
sites, at a minimum, in accordance with the frequency specified in [the following 
table:] 

 
 
 
 

Site Inspection Frequency 
(1) All sites one acre or more in 

size 
 New projects shall be inspected 

within the first two weeks of 
commencement of land 
disturbing  activity 

 All active sites shall be inspected 
at least once every 45 days 

 All inactive sites shall be 
inspected at least once every 60 
days 

(2) Follow up inspection  Follow up inspections are 
required within 7 days of any 
sediment discharge or 
inadequate control measure, 
unless corrections were made 
and observed by the inspector 
during the initial inspection or 
corrections were verified via 
photographs submitted to the 
inspector 

(3) Final Inspection  Confirm that all graded areas 
have reached final stabilization 
and that all temporary control 
measures are removed, and 
permanent stormwater 
management BMPs are installed 
as designed. 

 
 

New projects of one acre or more are inspected within the first two weeks of the beginning of 
construction.  Routine inspection of active sites occurs every 45 days, monthly when 
possible.  Inactive sites are inspected every 60 days.  Priority is given to sensitive or high risk 
areas, with the size of the site not necessarily corresponding to the risk.  When DPW – 
Inspections is notified of a discharge or when an inspection identifies deficiencies in on-site 
erosion control measures, the responsible party is notified of needed corrections and 
deadlines for making corrections.  Follow up inspections are made within 7 days.  
Inspections continue until final site stabilization occurs and erosion control measures are 
removed. 
 



 

 6

Verification that permanent stormwater BMPs are installed as designed is handled by DPW -  
Engineering under section 2.5 of the permit.  
 
c. Construction site inspection documentation.  Compliance with the inspection 

requirements in 2.4.4.a and b. above, shall be determined by proper documentation 
and maintenance of records of an established inspection program designed to 
inspect all sites.  

 
Inspections are documented on the PermiTrack or the AS400 system. Inspection 
information includes the inspection date, address of site, reason for inspection, permit 
number, whether it passed or failed, and details of any violations or miscellaneous 
information.  Enforcement action is documented in the AS400 system.   
 
Photos are taken of practices not in compliance with the approved plan and stored on the 
City server. 

 
d. Enforcement mechanisms that will be used to obtain compliance.  

 
The stepped enforcement process is as follows: 

 
1. Verbal notice is immediately given to the construction manager along with the 

list of required corrections and the date of compliance.  A formal written notice 
of non-compliance is issued to the owner of the property, with a copy to the 
construction manager.   The compliance date and required corrections are listed 
on the notice.  The compliance time may vary from immediate action to 
typically 2 or 3 days, depending on the severity of the violation or impending 
weather. 

2. A re-inspection will take place to determine if adequate corrections  
have been made, and one of the following will occur: 
 
a. The corrections are made and approved – case will be closed.   
b. If no corrective action has been made, a stop work order will be issued.  If 

corrections still have not been made within 1 week of the Stop Work Order, 
or a weather event has caused sediment runoff offsite, a citation will be issued.  
Further citations will be issued until corrective action is taken and approved. 

c. If a significant amount of time has passed and the corrections are still not 
made, the City of Appleton may make the required corrections and assess 
the costs to the property owner in order to bring the site into compliance. 

 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 Flow Chart 
 Checklist 
 Ordinance 



���������	
����������	����	���������	
������������	���������	����			��
	�	��������	���	��	������	�	����������� 	��������	����	!	"	����#$�������	�������%	��	 ���������
 ���������	����	�����&	���	����������	�����	�����������	���	��������	�	��������	���	������	�	�����
 �����	���	��������	�'���('���	���)����

���	���)���	����	��������	��(�
���	���)���	��	�����	��	������	����*���
+����	���������	��	,����	������-������
���	����������



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2022 EROSION & SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN REVIEW CHECKLIST 
 
Site Name: ___________________  Address: ____________________________________________  
 
Date:________________________ Site Plan #: ____________________ Reviewed By: __________ 
 
Review comments in red. 
 
1. Erosion & Sediment Control Application 
 

Shown Shown But  
Incomplete 

Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

   a.Fee (Less than 1 ac. - $100, 1 to 10 acs. - $150, 10+ acs. - $200) 
   b.Owner name, address, phone, e-mail, and signature   
   c.Applicant name, address, phone, e-mail, and signature  
   d.Consulting professional and firm name, address, phone, and e-mail 
   e.Start and end date for construction 
   f.Description of construction activity 
   g.Total area of site and estimated area of disturbance 
   h.Contractor - Project Manager & Superintendent, phone & e-mail 

 
2. Erosion & Sediment Control Plan Statement -Written Narrative & Attachments–Code Sec. 24-35(a)(1-5 and 7) and (b) 

             
Shown Shown But  

Incomplete 
Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

    a.Description of the site, project, & development schedule  
    b.List all BMP’s to be used, including corresponding DNR Technical 

Standard (if applicable).
    c.Intended sequence of major land disturbing activities with anticipated 

dates including construction & erosion/sediment control activities.  
Include at a minimum:  trackout control, inlet protection, ditch checks 
(check proper separation distance considering slope, soil type and flow 
velocity), channel stabilization, clean water diversions, overland flow 
BMPs, sediment traps/basins, stockpile management, permanent 
stabilization, waste management, etc  

    d.Describe temporary and permanent soil stabilization practices.  Include 
anticipated schedule for implementation (e.g., phasing of construction, 
temporary stabilization (seed, mulch, etc.), stockpile management, final 
stabilization, erosion matting, etc).

    e.Phasing of project to limit amount of disturbed soil at any one time 
    f.Description of existing surface/subsurface soil (USDA–NRCS Soil 

Survey).
    g.Show limits of land disturbance shown on USGS 7.5 minute series 

topographic map (for sites 1 or more acre in size). 
    h.Name of immediate receiving water from 7.5 minute series USGS 

topographic map.
    i.Depth to nearest seasonal high groundwater elevation/top of bedrock 

on sites where permanent infiltration is to occur. 
    j.Verification of DNR WRAPP (NOI) permit application for projects where 

one or more acres will be disturbed. 
    k.DNR Soil Loss Worksheet & DNR required attachments (NOI sites 

only) 
     l.Submit ALL supporting calculations for structural BMPs to demonstrate 

that BMP designs meet standards.  Include calculated dewatering times 
for sediment basins, etc. 

    m.Verify BMP’s designed per DNR Technical standards 
 



J:\CLERICAL - ENG & INSP\StormWater\EC Plan Checklist - WPDES 2022.docx 

2 
 

 
3. Erosion & Sediment Control Site Map/Plan View – Code Sec. 24-35(a)(6) 
 

Shown Shown But  
Incomplete 

Not 
Shown 

N/A Required Item 

    a.Scaled at 100 feet per inch or less and contour interval at 2 feet or 
less. 

    b.Alphanumeric or equivalent grid overlying site map.  
    c.Existing topography, surface cover, drainage systems, and surface 

waters on and adjacent to the site (show enough of adjacent properties 
to show runoff patterns onto, through, and from the site). 

    d.Locations and delineation of on-site and potentially impacted adjacent 
wetlands. 

    e.Existing and planned buildings, roads, and all utilities.   
   f.Location of soil types (USDA – NRCS Soil Survey).  
   g.Boundary of the project site. 
    h.Boundary of the disturbed area (phasing boundaries shown if 

applicable). 
    i.Existing and planned locations where storm water is discharged from 

site (surface and subsurface). 
    j.Trackout control at all egress driveways. 
    k.Concrete truck washout containment location  
   l.Perimeter control measures (silt fencing, earthen berms, etc.).
   m.Storm drain inlet protection (on-site and off-site if needed).
    n.Ditch checks.  
    o.Stockpile locations and control measures. 
    p.Clean water diversions. 
    q.Sediment traps or sediment basins. 
   r.Velocity dissipation at outfalls.
   s.Stabilization of steep slopes (erosion mat needed?).
   t.Stabilization of drainage ways (erosion mat needed?).
    u.Detail sheets of all BMP’s as applicable (inlet protection, tracking pad, 

perimeter control, concrete truck washout containment, sediment basins 
or traps with all design parameters shown, ditch checks, etc.)  

    v.Temporary and permanent soil stabilization practices (seed, mulch, 
etc.).

    w.Roof water downspout protection. 
    x.Site dewatering provisions per DNR technical standard. 
    y.Provisions for cleaning up off-site sediment deposits and list how often. 
    z.Provisions to minimize airborne dust leaving site. 
   aa.Provisions for disposal of construction and waste materials.
   bb.Planned final site conditions, including landscaping.

 
 

4. Stormwater Management Plan (Post Construction) – As Required in Code Sec. 24-30(i) 
 

Identified Identified 
but Not 
Complete 

Not 
Identified 

Not 
Applicable

Required Item 

    a.Long-term Stormwater Management Acknowledgement form 
signed by the owner of the site.  This form simply acknowledges 
that the owner is aware of the stormwater requirements for the 
site per Wis. Adm. Code NR 216.  This is required for sites that 
require a permit but are not subject to the stormwater 
management standards and planning ordinance.

    b.Sites of one (1) or more acres are subject to the Stormwater 
Management Standards and Planning Ordinance requirements in 
Article VI of Chapter 20 of the City of Appleton Municipal Code. 

 
 
 



Sec. 24-1.  Authority. 
 
 (a) This ordinance is adopted under the authority granted by §62.234, Wis. Stats.  This ordinance supersedes all 
provisions of any ordinance previously enacted under §62.23, Wis. Stats., that relates to erosion and sediment control.  
Except as otherwise specified in §62.234 Wis. Stats., §62.23, Wis. Stats., applies to this ordinance and to any 
amendments to this ordinance. 
 
 (b) The provisions of this ordinance are deemed not to limit any other lawful regulatory powers of the City of 
Appleton.   
 
 (c) The City of Appleton hereby designates the Director of Public Works or his/her designee as the administering 
authority to enforce the provisions of this ordinance. 
 
 (d) The requirements of this ordinance do not pre-empt more stringent erosion and sediment control requirements 
that may be imposed by any of the following: 
 
  (1) Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources administrative rules, permits or approvals, including those 

authorized under §281.16 and §283.33, Wis. Stats. 
 
  (2) Targeted non-agricultural performance standards promulgated in rules by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources under s. NR 151.004, Wis. Adm. Code. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 

 
Sec. 24-2.  Purpose. 
 
 The City of Appleton acknowledges that runoff from land disturbing construction activity and improper land 
management carries sediment and other pollutants to the waters of the state. 
 
 It is the purpose of this ordinance to further the maintenance of safe and healthful conditions; prevent and control 
water pollution; prevent and control soil erosion and sediment discharge; protect spawning grounds, fish and aquatic 
life; control building sites, placement of structures and land uses; preserve ground cover and scenic beauty; and 
promote sound economic growth, by minimizing the amount of sediment and other pollutants carried by runoff or 
discharged from land disturbing activity to waters of the state within the City of Appleton. 
 
 It is also the purpose of this ordinance to meet the performance standards in subchapters III and IV of Ch. NR 
151, Wis. Adm. Code and to meet the requirements for construction site pollutant control in the General Permit to 
Discharge under the Wisconsin Pollutant Discharge Elimination System WPDES Permit No. WI S050075-2 
administered by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 

 
Secs. 24-3 – 24-9.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-10.  Applicability and jurisdiction. 
 
 (a) Applicability. 

 
  (1) This ordinance applies to all land disturbing activities, including transportation facilities, within the City 

of Appleton except as provided under sub. (3).   
 

  (2) Land disturbing activities meeting any one of the following are required to prepare a plan and obtain a 
permit: 

  
   a. Building on lots in subdivisions, certified survey maps or unplatted lands. 

 



   b. Land disturbing activities involving grading, removal of protective ground cover or vegetation, 
excavation, land filling, scraping or other land disturbing activity affecting a surface of two thousand 
(2,000) square feetone (1) acre or more. 

 
   c. Land disturbing activities involving excavation or filling or a combination of excavating and filling 

affecting two hundred (200) cubic yards or more of soil, dirt, sand or other excavation or fill 
material. 

 
   dc. Land disturbing activities involving street, highway, road or bridge construction, enlargement, 

relocation or reconstruction affecting a surface area of one (1) acre or more. 
 
   e. Land disturbing activities involving the laying, repairing, replacing or enlarging of an underground 

pipe, wire, cable or facility for a distance of three hundred (300) feet or more. 
 
   f. Land disturbing activities within protective areas as defined in City of Appleton Municipal Code 

Sec. 20-312(f). 
 
   g. Routine ditch maintenance for a continuous distance of one hundred (100) feet or more. 
 
   hd. Notwithstanding the previously listed applicability requirements, this ordinance applies to any sites 

which, in the opinion of the City of Appleton, are likely to result in runoff that exceeds the safe 
capacity of the existing drainage facilities or receiving body of water, that cause undue erosion, that 
increases water pollution by scouring or the transportation of particulate matter, or that endangers 
property or public safety. 

 
  (3) This ordinance does not apply to the following: 
 
   a. Land disturbing construction activity that includes the construction of one- (1-) and two- (2-) family 

residential dwellings that are not part of a larger common plan of development or sale and that result 
in less than one (1) acre of disturbance. These construction sites are regulated by the Wisconsin 
Department of Safety and Professional Services under s. SPS 321.125 Wis. Adm. Code. 

 
   b. A construction project that is exempted by federal statutes or regulations from the requirement to 

have a national pollutant discharge elimination system permit issued under Chapter 40, Code of 
Federal Regulations, part 122, for land disturbing activity. 

 
   c. Nonpoint discharges from agricultural facilities and practices. 
 
   d. Nonpoint discharges from silviculture activities. 
 
   e. Activities conducted by a state agency, as defined under §227.01 (1), Wis. Stats., but also including 

the office of the district attorney, which is subject to the state plan promulgated or a memorandum 
of understanding entered into under §281.33 (2), Wis. Stats. 

   
 (b) Jurisdiction. 
 
  (1) This ordinance applies to land disturbing activities located within the boundaries of the City of Appleton. 
 
  (2) County and town ordinances.  This ordinance supercedes any county or town erosion and sediment 

control ordinance for lands annexed to the City after the effective date of the county’s or town’s 
ordinance, except when the county’s or town’s ordinance is more restrictive than this ordinance; then 
the more restrictive provisions set forth in the county or town ordinance shall become part of this 
ordinance and apply to the annexed lands.  In such cases, the City may grant a variance from the more 
restrictive requirements provided that the criteria for a variance as set forth in the county ordinance is 
met. 

 



  (3) Waivers.  Requests to waive the erosion and sediment control requirements, or a portion thereof, shall 
be submitted to the City of Appleton, in writing, with the application and fee, for review.  Written waivers 
may be granted administratively by the City for erosion and sediment control requirements that are 
required by the City if it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City that it is reasonable to expect that 
the objectives of this ordinance will be met without an erosion and sediment control plan or portion 
thereof. 

 
  (4) Applicability of maximum extent practicable.  Maximum extent practicable applies when a person who 

is subject to a performance standard of this ordinance demonstrates to the City of Appleton’s satisfaction 
that a performance standard is not achievable and that a lower level of performance is appropriate.  In 
making the assertion that a performance standard is not achievable and that a level of performance 
different from the performance standard is the maximum extent practicable, the responsible party shall 
take into account the best available technology, cost effectiveness, geographic features, and other 
completing interests such as protection of public safety and welfare, protection of endangered and 
threatened resources, and preservation of historic properties. 

(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 181-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16; Ord 9-20, §1, 2-11-20)) 
 
Secs. 24-11 – 24-14.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-15.  Definitions. 
 
 The following words, terms and phrases when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 
this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
 
 Administering authority means the Director of Public Works, or a designee.  
 
 Agricultural facilities and practices has the meaning in §281.16(1), Wis. Stats. 
 
 Average annual rainfall means a calendar year of precipitation, excluding snow, which is considered typical.  
An average annual rainfall for Green Bay, 1969 (March 29 - November 25) is applicable for the City of Appleton. 
 
 Best management practice or BMP means structural or non-structural measures, practices, techniques or devices 
employed to avoid or minimize soil, sediment or pollutants carried in runoff.  
 
 Business day means a day the offices of the City of Appleton are routinely and customarily open for business.  
 
 Cease and desist order means a court-issued order to halt land disturbing activity that is being conducted without 
the required permit or not in conformance with an existing permit. 
 
 City means the City of Appleton. 
 
 Common plan of development or sale means a development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land 
disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one (1) plan.  
A common plan of development or sale includes, but is not limited to, subdivision plats, certified survey maps, and 
other developments. 
 
 Construction site means an area upon which one (1) or more land disturbing construction activities occur, 
including areas that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land 
disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one (1) 
common plan of development. 
 
 Design storm means a hypothetical discrete rainstorm characterized by a specific duration, temporal distribution, 
rainfall intensity, return frequency and total depth of rainfall.  Rainfall amounts for 24-hour design rainfall events in 
Appleton are:  100-year, 5.50 inches; 10-year, 3.51 inches; 5-year, 3.01 inches; 2-year, 2.45 inches, and 1-year 2.14 
inches.  The distribution shall be NOAA Atlas 14 MSE4. 



 
 Erosion means the process by which the land’s surface is worn away by the action of wind, water, ice or gravity. 
 
 Erosion and sediment control plan means a comprehensive plan developed to address pollution caused by 
erosion and sedimentation of soil particles or rock fragments during construction.   
 
 Final stabilization means that all land disturbing activities at the site have been completed and that a uniform 
perennial vegetative cover has been established, with a density of at least seventy percent (70%) of the cover, for the 
unpaved areas and areas not covered by permanent structures, or that employ equivalent permanent stabilization 
measures. 
 
 Land disturbing activity means any man-made alteration resulting in a change in the topography, existing 
vegetative or non-vegetative soil cover, or drainage pattern, that may result in runoff and lead to an increase in soil 
erosion and movement of sediment.  Land disturbing activities include, but are not limited to, clearing and grubbing, 
demolition, excavating, pit trench dewatering, filling and grading activities, an unstable pipe outfall, or an unstable 
slope. 
 
 Landowner means any person holding fee title, an easement or other interest in property, which allows the person 
to undertake cropping, livestock management, land disturbing construction activity or maintenance of stormwater 
BMPs on the property. 
 
 Maximum extent practicable means the highest level of performance that is achievable, but is not equivalent to 
a performance standard, taking into account the best available technology, cost effectiveness and other competing 
issues such as human welfare, endangered and threatened resources, historic properties, and geographic features, 
pursuant to Sec. 20-10(b)(4) of the Appleton Municipal Code. 
 
 Performance standard means a narrative or measurable number specifying the minimum acceptable outcome for 
a facility or practice. 

 
 Permit means a written authorization made by the City of Appleton to the applicant to conduct land disturbing 
activity. 
 
 Pollutant has the meaning given in §283.01(13), Wis. Stats.  

 
 Pollution has the meaning given in §281.01(10), Wis. Stats. 
 
 Responsible party means any person holding fee title to the property or other entity performing services to meet 
the requirements of this ordinance through a contract or other agreement. 

 
 Runoff means storm water or precipitation including rain, snow or ice melt or similar water that moves on the 
land surface via sheet or channelized flow. 
 
 Performance security means cash, or an irrevocable letter of credit submitted to the City of Appleton by the 
responsible party to assure that requirements of the ordinance are carried out in compliance with the approved erosion 
and sediment control plan and to recover any costs incurred by the City for designing, engineering, preparation, 
checking and review of plans and specifications, regulations and ordinances, and legal, administrative and fiscal work 
undertaken to assure and implement such compliance. 
 
 Permit application fee means a sum of money paid to the City of Appleton by the responsible party for the 
purpose of recouping expenses incurred by the City in administering the permit. 
 
 Sediment means settleable solid material that is transported by runoff, suspended within runoff or deposited by 
runoff away from its original location. 
 



 Silviculture activity means activities including tree nursery operations, tree harvesting operations, reforestation, 
tree thinning, prescribed burning, and pest and fire control.  Clearing and grubbing of an area of a construction site is 
not a silviculture activity. 
 
 Site means the entire area included in the legal description of the land on which the land disturbing activity is 
proposed in the permit application or has occurred. 
 
 Stop work order means an order issued by the City of Appleton, which requires that all construction activity on 
the site be stopped. 
 
 Stormwater conveyance system means any method employed to carry stormwater runoff within and from a land 
development or redevelopment activity to the waters of the state.  Examples of methods include:  swales, channels 
and storm sewers. 
(Ord 182-11, §1, 1-1-12) 

 
 Technical standard means a document that specifies design, predicted performance and operation and 
maintenance specifications for a material, device or method. 
 
 Transportation facility means a highway, a railroad, a public mass transit facility, a public-use airport, a public 
trail or any other public work for transportation purposes such as harbor improvements under §85.095(1)(b), Wis. 
Stats.  Transportation facility does not include building sites for the construction of public buildings and buildings that 
are places of employment that are regulated by the Department pursuant to §281.33, Wis. Stats. 
 
 Waters of the state has the meaning in §283.01(20), Wis. Stat. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-16 – 24-19.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-20.  Technical standards. 
 
 (a) Design criteria, standards and specifications.  All BMPs required to comply with this ordinance shall meet 
the design criteria, standards and specifications based on any of the following:  
  
  (1) Design guidance and technical standards identified or developed by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources under subchapter V of Chapter NR 151, Wis. Adm. Code. 
 
  (2) Soil loss prediction tools (such as the Universal Soil Loss Equation [USLE] or its successors RUSLE 

and RUSLE2) when using an appropriate rainfall or runoff factor (also referred to as the R factor) or an 
appropriate design storm and precipitation distribution, and when considering the geographic location 
of the site and the period of disturbance. 

 
 (b) Other standards.  Other technical standards not identified or developed in sub. (a), may be used provided 
that the methods have been approved by the City of Appleton. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 183-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-21 – 24-23.  Reserved. 
 
Sec. 24-24.  Performance standards for non-permitted sites. 
 
 (a) Responsible party.  The responsible party shall comply with this section. 
 
 (b) Requirements.  Erosion and sediment control practices at each site where land disturbing construction 
activity is to occur shall be used to prevent or reduce all of the following: 
 
  (1) The deposition of soil from being tracked onto streets by vehicles. 



 
   (2) The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into on-site storm water inlets. 
 
  (3) The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas.  
 
  (4) The discharge of sediment from drainage ways that flow off the site. 
 
  (5) The discharge of sediment by dewatering activities. 
 
  (6) The discharge of sediment eroding from soil stockpiles existing for more than seven (7) days. 
 
  (7) The transport, by runoff from the site, of chemicals, cement and other building compounds and materials 

on the construction site during the construction period.  However, projects that require the placement of 
these materials in waters of the state, such as constructing bridge footings or BMP installations, are not 
prohibited by this paragraph. 

 
 (c) Location.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be located so that treatment occurs before runoff 
leaves the site or enters a storm conveyance system, any drainage channel or waters of the state. 
 
 (d) Implementation.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be implemented as follows: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be constructed or installed before land disturbing 

construction activities begin. 
 
  (2) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be maintained until final stabilization. 
 
  (3) Final stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and final grade has been 

reached on any portion of the site. 
 
  (4) Temporary stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and will not 

resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. 
 
  (5) BMPs that are no longer necessary for erosion and sediment control shall be removed by the responsible 

party. 
 
  (6) All off-site deposits occurring as a result of a storm event shall be cleaned up by the end of the next 

working day.  All other off-site deposits occurring as a result of land disturbing activities shall be cleaned 
up by the end of the workday.  Flushing is not allowed. 

 
 (e) Alternate requirements.  The City of Appleton may establish erosion and sediment control requirements 
more stringent than those set forth in this section if the City determines that an added level of protection is needed to 
protect resources. 
(Ord 184-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Sec. 24-25.  Performance standards for permitted sites. 
 
 (a)  Responsible party.  The responsible party shall implement an erosion and sediment control plan, developed 
in accordance with Sec. 24-35, that incorporates the requirements of this section. 
 
 (b) Plan.  A written site specific erosion and sediment control plan shall be developed in accordance with Sec. 
24-35 and implemented for each construction site. 
 
 (c) Erosion and other pollutant control requirements.  The plan required under sub. (b) shall include the 
following: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be used to prevent or reduce all of the following: 



 
   a. The deposition of soil from being tracked onto streets by vehicles. 
 
   b. The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into on-site storm water inlets. 
 
   c. The discharge of sediment from disturbed areas into adjacent waters of the state. 
 
   d. The discharge of sediment from drainage ways that flow off the site. 
 
   e. The discharge of sediment by dewatering activities. 
 
   f. The discharge of sediment eroding from soil stockpiles existing for more than seven (7) days. 
 
   g. The discharge of sediment from erosive flows at outlets and in downstream channels. 
 
   h. The transport, by runoff from the site, of chemicals, cement and other building compounds and 

materials from the construction site during the construction period.  However, projects that require 
the placement of these materials in waters of the state, such as constructing bridge footings or BMP 
installations, are not prohibited by this subdivision. 

 
   i. The transport by runoff of untreated wash water from vehicle and wheel washing from the 

construction site.  Wastewaters, such as concrete truck washout, shall be properly managed to limit 
the discharge of pollutants. 

 
  (2) For permitted sites with less than one (1) acre disturbed activity, BMPs that, by design, achieve to the 

maximum extent practicable, a reduction of eighty percent (80%) of the sediment load carried in runoff, 
on an average annual basis, as compared with no sediment or erosion controls until the site has undergone 
final stabilization.  No person shall be required to exceed an eighty percent (80%) sediment reduction to 
meet the requirements of this paragraph.     

 
  (32) For permitted sites with one (1) acre or more disturbed area, BMPs that, by design, discharge no more 

than five (5) tons per acre per year, or to the maximum extent practicable, of the sediment load carried 
in runoff from initial grading to final stabilization, as determined by the WDNR construction site soil 
loss and sediment discharge guidance. 

 
  (43) Erosion and Sedimentation BMPs may be combined to meet the requirements of this section.  Credit 

toward meeting the sediment reduction shall be given for limiting the duration or area, or both, of land 
disturbing activity, or other appropriate mechanism.  The method of calculating the percent reduction in 
sediment shall be a method approved by the City of Appleton. 

 
  (54) No person shall be required to employ more BMPs than are needed to meet a performance standard in 

order to comply with MEP. 
 
  (65)  Notwithstanding sub. (2) and (3), if BMPs cannot be designed and implemented to meet these 

requirements, the plan shall include a written and site-specific explanation as to why the requirements 
are not attainable and how the sediment load shall be reduced to the maximum extent practicable.   

 
  (76) Preventative measures.  The plan shall incorporate all of the following: 
 
   a. Maintenance of existing vegetation, especially adjacent to surface waters whenever possible. 
 
   b. Minimization of soil compaction and preservation of topsoil. 
 
   c. Minimization of land disturbing construction activity on slopes of twenty percent (20%) or more. 
 
   d. Development of spill prevention and response procedures. 



    
  (87) All off-site deposits occurring as a result of a storm event shall be cleaned up by the end of the next 

working day.  All other off-site deposits occurring as a result of land disturbing activities shall be cleaned 
up by the end of the workday.  Flushing is not allowed. 

   
 (d) Location.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be located so that treatment occurs prior to runoff 
leaving the site or entering the storm conveyance system, any drainage channel or waters of the state.  
 
 (e) Implementation.  The BMPs used to comply with this section shall be implemented as follows: 
 
  (1) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be constructed or installed before land disturbing 

construction activities begin in accordance with plan developed under Sec. 24-35. 
 
  (2) Erosion and sediment control practices shall be maintained until final stabilization. 
 
  (3) Final stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and final grade has been 

reached on any portion of the site. 
 
  (4) Temporary stabilization activity shall commence when land disturbing activities cease and will not 

resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. 
 
  (5) BMPs that are no longer necessary for erosion and sediment control shall be removed by the responsible 

party. 
 
 (f) Alternate requirements.  The City of Appleton may establish erosion and sediment control requirements 
more stringent than those set forth in this section if the City determines that an added level of protection is needed to 
protect sensitive resources. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 185-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-26 – 24-29.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-30.  Permitting requirements, procedures and fees. 
 
 (a) Permit required.  No responsible party may commence any land disturbing activity subject to this ordinance 
without first receiving approval of an erosion and sediment control plan for the site and a permit from the City of 
Appleton. 

 
 (b) Permit application and fees.  The responsible party desiring to undertake a land disturbing activity subject 
to this ordinance shall submit an application for a permit and an erosion and sediment control plan that meets the 
requirements of Sec. 24-35 and shall pay an application fee to the City of Appleton.  By submitting an application, the 
applicant is authorizing the City of Appleton to enter the site to obtain information required for the review of the 
erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
 (c) Review and approval of permit application.  The City of Appleton shall review any complete permit 
application that is submitted with an erosion and sediment control plan, and the required fee.  The following approval 
procedure shall be used: 
 
  (1) Within twenty (20) business days of the receipt of a complete permit application, as required by sub. (b), 

the City of Appleton shall inform the applicant whether the application and plan are approved or 
disapproved based on the requirements of this ordinance.  

 
  (2) If the permit application and plan are approved, the City of Appleton shall issue the permit.   
 
  (3) If the permit application or plan is disapproved, the City of Appleton shall state in writing the reasons 

for disapproval.   



 
  (4) The City of Appleton may request additional information from the applicant.  If additional information 

is submitted, the City of Appleton shall have twenty (20) business days from the date the additional 
information is received to inform the applicant that the plan is either approved or disapproved. 

 
  (5) Failure by the City of Appleton to inform the permit applicant of a decision within twenty (20) business 

days of a required submittal shall be deemed to mean approval of the submittal and the applicant may 
proceed as if a permit had been issued. 

 
 (d) Performance security.  The City of Appleton may, at its discretion, require the submittal of a cash escrow, 
irrevocable letter of credit, or performance security prior to issuance of the permit to ensure that the practices are 
installed and maintained by the responsible party as required by the approved erosion and sediment control plan and 
any conditions attached to the permit.  The amount of the installation performance security shall be determined by the 
City of Appleton, not to exceed the total estimated construction cost of the erosion and sediment control practices 
approved under the permit unless otherwise specified in the permit.  The amount of any required maintenance 
performance security shall be determined by the City of Appleton.  Any performance securities shall contain forfeiture 
provisions for failure to complete work specified in the plan.   
 

Conditions for the release of performance security are as follows: 
 
  (1) The installation performance security shall be released in full only upon submission of “as built plans” 

and written certification by a professional engineer registered in the State of Wisconsin that the 
practice(s) were installed in accordance with the approved plan and other applicable provisions of this 
ordinance.  The City of Appleton may make provisions for a partial pro-rata release of the performance 
security based on the completion of various development stages including the final inspection of 
landscaping material. 

 
  (2) The maintenance performance security, minus any costs incurred by the City of Appleton to conduct 

required maintenance, design, engineering, preparation, checking and review of designs, plans and 
specifications; supervision and inspection to ensure that construction is in compliance with applicable 
plans, specifications, regulations and ordinances; and legal, administrative and fiscal work undertaken 
to assure and implement such compliance, shall be released at such time that the responsibility for 
practice maintenance is passed on to another private entity, via an approved maintenance agreement, or 
to the City of Appleton. 

 
 (e) Permit requirements.  All permits shall require the responsible party to: 
 
  (1) Notify the City of Appleton no less than two (2) business days prior to commencing any land disturbing 

construction activity.  
 
  (2) Notify the City of Appleton of completion of any BMPs within two (2) business days after their 

installation. 
 
  (3) Notify the City of Appleton no less than two (2) business days prior to leaving the site at the completion 

of the project or seasonal shutdown. 
 
  (34)  Obtain permission in writing from the City of Appleton prior to any modification pursuant to Sec. 

24-35 of the erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
  (45)  Install all BMPs as identified in the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 
  (56) Maintain and repair all road drainage systems, storm conveyance systems, BMPs and other facilities, 

both on and off site, identified in the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
  (67) Repair any siltation or erosion damage to adjoining surfaces and drainage ways resulting from land 

disturbing construction activities and document repairs in a site erosion control log. 



 
  (78) Inspect the BMPs within twenty-four (24) hours after each rain of 0.5 inches or more and at least once 

each week.  Make needed repairs, install additional BMPs as necessary and document the findings of the 
inspections in an erosion control log kept on site with the date of inspection, the name of the person 
conducting the inspection, a description of the present phase of the construction, a description of any 
repairs needed and documentation of the completed repairs. 

 
  (89) Winter dormant inspection requirements.  When a permitted construction site is shut down and dormant 

over the winter season, the applicant shall be exempt from weekly inspections as required in Sec. 24-
30(e)(7) upon approval of the Director of Public Works.  In order for a permitted site to be classified as 
winter dormant, the applicant must install erosion control measures to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Public Works, provide an inspection of these measures and then cease all construction activities except 
for minor maintenance activities.  Once a site is classified as winter dormant by the Director of Public 
Works, inspections are only required within twenty-four (24) hours of a rain or thaw event as determined 
by the Director of Public Works.  If at any time construction resumes or an erosion control failure occurs 
at the site, the site shall lose the winter dormant classification and the applicant must resume normal 
inspection. 

 
  (910) Documentation of inspection. When required by the City of Appleton, erosion control inspections, 

including any repairs needed and/or actions taken at the site, shall be documented on the City of Appleton 
online erosion control self-reporting system.  The permittee will be given access to this website, which 
contains documentation and forms for use in the erosion control inspections.  Digital photographs of 
each of the erosion control practices and the site conditions shall be submitted and shall be required to 
meet the minimum inspection requirements of this section. 

 
  (1011) Allow the City of Appleton to enter the site for the purpose of inspecting compliance with the 

erosion and sediment control plan or for performing any work necessary to bring the site into compliance 
with the plan.  Keep a copy of the erosion and sediment control plan at the construction site. 

 
 (f) Permit conditions.  Permits issued under this section may include conditions established by City of Appleton 
in addition to the requirements set forth in sub. (e), where needed to assure compliance with the performance standards 
in Sec. 24-25. 
 
 (g) Permit duration.  Permits issued under this section shall be valid for a period of one (1) year, or the length 
of the building permit or other construction authorizations, whichever is longer, from the date of issuance.   
 
 (h) Maintenance. The responsible party throughout the duration of the construction activities shall maintain all 
BMPs necessary to meet the requirements of this ordinance until the site has undergone final stabilization and final 
acceptance by the City of Appleton.  Upon failure to perform the necessary maintenance of the erosion control 
practices, the City of Appleton retains the right to perform maintenance and/or repairs.  The costs shall be assessed to 
the responsible party. 
 
 (i) All sites covered under this ordinance shall implement a long-term stormwater management plan per Wis. 
Adm. Code s. NR 216.47.  For sites not subject to the Stormwater Management Standards and Planning Ordinance in 
Article VI of Chapter 20 of the Appleton Municipal Code, a stormwater management acknowledgement form, 
accepting the long-term stormwater management requirements, shall be required prior to receiving an erosion and 
sediment control permit. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-31 – 24-34.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-35. Erosion and sediment control plan, statement and amendments. 
 
 (a)  Erosion and sediment control plan. 
  



  (1) An erosion and sediment control plan shall be prepared and submitted to the City of Appleton 
Department of Public Works. unless the project is required to also submit a site plan.  If a site plan is 
required, the complete erosion and sediment control permit application and appropriate fee shall be 
submitted to the City of Appleton Community Development Department with the site plan submittal.   

 
  (2) The complete erosion and sediment control plan shall be submitted in both hard copy and .pdf format. 
 
  (3) The erosion and sediment control plan shall be prepared by a person who holds a registration issued by 

the Wisconsin Department of Regulation and Licensing in one (1) of the following categories: 
 
   a. Architect. 
 
   b. Engineer. 
 
   c. Land Surveyor. 
 
   d. Landscape Architect. 
 
  (4)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall be designed to meet the performance standards in Sec. 24-

25 and other requirements of this ordinance. 
 
  (5)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall address pollution caused by soil erosion and sedimentation 

during construction and up to final stabilization of the site. The erosion and sediment control plan shall 
include, at a minimum, the following items:  

 
   a. The name(s) and address(es) of the owner or developer of the site, and of any consulting firm 

retained by the applicant, together with the name of the applicant’s contact at such firm.  The 
application shall also include start and end dates for construction.   

  
   b. Description of the site and the nature of the land disturbing activity.  Sites of one (1) acre or more 

shall include the limits of land disturbance on a United States Geological Service 7.5 minute series 
topographic map. 

 
   c. The intended sequence of land disturbing construction of the development site, including stripping;  

clearing and grubbing; excavation; rough grading; construction of utilities, infrastructure, and 
buildings; and final grading and landscaping.  Sequencing shall identify the expected date when 
clearing will begin, the estimated duration of exposure of cleared areas, areas of clearing, installation 
of temporary erosion and sediment control measures, establishment of permanent vegetation and 
removal of erosion and sediment controls. 

 
   d.   Estimates of the total area of the site and the total area of the site that is expected to be disturbed by 

construction activities. 
 
   e. For sites less than one (1) acre of disturbed area, include BMPs meeting the provisions of Sec. 24-

25(c)(2).  
 
   fe. For sites with one (1) acre or more of disturbed area, provide calculations per WDNR Soil Loss 

Guidelines per Sec. 24-25(c)(32). 
 
   gf.   Location and description of the existing surface soil as well as subsoils, as indicated by USDA 

Natural Resource Conservation Service Soil Survey information. 
 
   hg. Whenever permanent infiltration devices will be employed or were evaluated, the depth to the 

nearest seasonal high groundwater elevation or top of bedrock shall be identified per appropriate 
on-site testing. 

 



   ih. Name of the immediate named receiving water from the United States Geological Services 7.5 
minute series topographic maps. 

 
  (6)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall include a site map.  The site map shall include the following 

items and shall be at a scale not greater than one hundred (100) feet per inch and at a contour interval 
not to exceed two (2) feet. 

 
   a.   Existing topography, vegetative cover, natural and engineered drainage patterns and systems, roads, 

and surface waters.  Lakes, streams, wetlands, channels, ditches and other watercourses on the site 
and on adjacent lands shall be shown.  Any identified 100-year flood plains, flood fringes, 
floodways, and flood storage areas shall also be shown. 

 
   b.   Boundaries of the parcel and the construction site. 
 
   c.   Drainage patterns and approximate slopes before and after major grading activities. 
 
   d.   Areas of soil disturbance. 
 
   e.   Location, dimensions and descriptions of major structural and non-structural controls identified in 

the erosion and sediment control plan. 
 
   f. Location of areas where stabilization BMPs will be employed. 
 
   g. Areas that will be vegetated following land disturbing construction activity. 
 
   h.   Area(s) and location(s) of wetland acreage on the site and locations where stormwater is discharged 

to a surface water or wetland, within one-quarter mile downstream of the construction site. 
 
   i.   Water courses and wetlands that may affect or be affected by runoff from the site. 
 
   j. On sites one (1) acre or larger an alphanumeric or equivalent grid overlying the entire construction 

site map. 
 
   k. Topography and drainage network of enough of the contiguous properties to show runoff patterns 

onto, through, and from the site. 
 
   l. Location, dimensions and description of utilities, structures and pavements. 
 
   m. Area(s) used for infiltration of post-construction stormwater runoff. 
 
  (7)  Each erosion and sediment control plan shall include a description of appropriate control BMPs that will 

be installed and maintained at the construction site to prevent pollutants from reaching waters of the 
state.  The erosion and sediment control plan shall clearly describe the appropriate erosion and sediment 
control BMPs for each major land disturbing construction activity and the timing during the period of 
land disturbing construction activity that the erosion and sediment control BMPs will be implemented.  
The description of erosion and sediment control BMPs shall include, when appropriate, the following 
minimum requirements: 

 
   a. Description of interim and permanent stabilization practices, including a BMP implementation 

schedule.  Erosion and sediment control plans shall ensure that existing vegetation is preserved 
where attainable and that disturbed portions of the site are stabilized. 

 
   b. Description of structural practices to divert flow away from exposed soils, store flows or otherwise 

limit runoff and the discharge of pollutants from the site.  Unless otherwise specifically approved in 
writing by the City of Appleton, structural measures shall be installed on upland soils. 

 



   c.   Management of overland flow at all areas of the construction site, unless otherwise controlled by 
outfall controls. 

 
   d. Trapping of sediment in channelized flow. 
 
   e.   Staging land disturbing construction activities to limit exposed soil areas subject to erosion. 
 
   f.   Protection of downslope drainage inlets where they occur. 
 
   g.   Minimization of tracking at all vehicle and equipment entry and exit locations of the construction 

site. 
 
   h.   Clean up of off-site sediment deposits. 
 
   i.   Proper disposal of building and waste materials, including but not limited to designated sites for 

concrete truck washout. 
 
   j.   Stabilization of drainage ways. 
 
   k.   Control of soil erosion from stockpiles. 
 
   l. Installation of permanent stabilization practices within ten (10) days after final grading. 
 
   m.   Minimization of dust to the maximum extent practicable. 
(Ord 187-11, §1, 1-1-12) 
 
  (8)  The erosion and sediment control plan shall require that velocity dissipation devices be placed at 

discharge locations and along the length of any outfall channel, as necessary, to provide a non-erosive 
flow from the structure to a water course so that the natural physical and biological characteristics and 
functions are maintained and protected.   

 
 (b) Erosion and sediment control plan statement.  For each land disturbing construction site identified under 
Sec. 24-15, an erosion and sediment control plan statement shall be prepared.  This statement shall be submitted to 
the City of Appleton.  The control plan statement shall briefly describe the site, the development schedules and the 
best management practices that will be used to meet the requirements of the ordinance.  
 
 (c) Amendments.  The applicant shall amend the plan if any of the following occur: 
 
  (1) There is a change in design, construction, operation or maintenance at the site that has the reasonable 

potential for the discharge of pollutants and has not otherwise been addressed in the erosion and sediment 
control plan. 

 
  (2) The actions required by the erosion and sediment control plan fail to reduce the impacts of pollutants 

carried by construction site runoff. 
 
  (3) The City of Appleton notifies the applicant of changes needed in the plan. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16; Ord 10-20, §1, 2-11-20) 
 
Secs. 24-36 – 24-39.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-40.  Fee schedule. 
 
 Fees for the erosion and sediment control permits will be in such amount as may be established by the City of 
Appleton Common Council from time to time by separate resolution.  Fees will be on file with the City Clerk. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 



 
Secs. 24-41 – 24-44.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-45.  Site inspections. 
 
 Whenever land disturbing activities are being carried out, the City of Appleton may enter the land pursuant to the 
provisions of §§66.0119(1), (2), and (3), Wis. Stats.  
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 188-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-46 – 24-49.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-50.  Enforcement and penalties. 
 
 (a) Any land disturbing activity initiated after the effective date of this ordinance by any person, firm, association 
or corporation subject to the ordinance provisions shall be deemed a violation unless conducted in accordance with 
these ordinance provisions. 
 
 (b) The City of Appleton shall notify the responsible party in writing of any non-complying activity.  The notice 
shall describe the nature of the violation, remedial actions needed, a schedule for remedial action and additional 
enforcement action, which may be taken. 
 
 (c) Upon receipt of written notification from the City of Appleton, the responsible party shall make the necessary 
corrections within the time period established by the City of Appleton.   
 
 (d) If the violations issued pursuant to this ordinance are likely to result in damage to properties, public facilities, 
or waters of the state, the City of Appleton may enter the land and take emergency actions necessary to prevent such 
damage.  The costs incurred by the City of Appleton plus interest and legal costs shall be billed to the responsible 
party. 
 
 (e) The City of Appleton is authorized to post a stop work order on all land development or redevelopment 
activity in violation of this ordinance, or to request the Appleton City Attorney to obtain a cease and desist order. 
  
 (f) The City of Appleton may revoke a permit issued under this ordinance for noncompliance with ordinance 
provisions. 
 
 (g) Any permit revocation, stop work order or cease and desist order shall remain in effect unless retracted by 
the City of Appleton or by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
 (h) The City of Appleton is authorized to refer any violation of this ordinance, or of a stop work order or cease 
and desist order issued pursuant to this ordinance, to the Appleton City Attorney for the commencement of further 
legal proceedings. 
 
 (i) Any person, firm, association or corporation who does not comply with the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be subject to the general penalty provisions of the Appleton Municipal Code Sec. 1-16.  Each day that the violation 
exists shall constitute a separate offense. 
 
 (j) Violations of this ordinance deemed to be a public nuisance shall be subject to abatement under Sec. 12-32 
of the Appleton Municipal Code or compliance with this ordinance may be enforced by injunctional order in any court 
with jurisdiction.  It shall not be necessary to prosecute for forfeiture before resorting to injunctional proceedings. 
 
 (k) When the City of Appleton determines that the holder of a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance has failed 
to follow practices set forth in the erosion and sediment control plan submitted and approved pursuant to this 
ordinance, or has failed to comply with schedules set forth in said erosion and sediment control plan, the City of 
Appleton or a party designated by the City of Appleton may enter upon the land and perform the work or other 



operations necessary to bring the condition of said lands into conformance with requirements of the approved plan.  
The City of Appleton shall keep a detailed accounting of the costs and expenses of performing this work.  These costs 
and expenses shall be deducted from any performance or maintenance security posted pursuant to this ordinance.  
Where such a security has not been established, or where such a security is insufficient to cover these costs, the costs 
and expenses shall be entered on the tax roll as a special charge against the property.  
 
 (l) No building occupancy may be issued if there is noncompliance of any provision herein. 
 
 (m) No building permit may be issued in any subdivision when the subdivision is not in compliance with the 
requirements of this chapter. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-51 – 24-54.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-55.  Appeals 
 
 (a) The Utilities Committee of the Appleton Common Council shall hear and recommend to Council appeals 
where it is alleged that there is error in any order, decision or determination made by the City of Appleton in 
administering this ordinance except for cease and desist orders obtained under Sec. 24-50(e).   
 
 Upon appeal, the Committee may recommend to Council relief from the provisions of this ordinance that are not 
contrary to the public interest or provisions of state regulations, and where owing to special conditions a literal 
enforcement of this ordinance will result in unnecessary hardship. 
 
 (b) Who may appeal.  Appeals to the Utilities Committee of the City of Appleton may be taken by any aggrieved 
person or by an officer, department, board or bureau of the City of Appleton affected by any decision of the City of 
Appleton.  Written appeals shall be filed with the City Clerk.  The Utilities Committee will make a recommendation 
within forty-five (45) calendar days of filing of the appeal.  If the Utilities Committee takes no action within forty-
five (45) calendar days, the appeal will automatically be sent to Council with a recommendation for approval.  Either 
party may file a written request for a time extension with the City Clerk.  
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-05; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
Secs. 24-56 – 24-59.  Reserved. 
 
 
Sec. 24-60.  Severability. 
 
 If any section or portion thereof shall be declared by a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
unlawful or unenforceable, such decision shall apply only to the specific section or portion thereof directly specified 
in the decision, and not affect the validity of all other provisions, sections or portion thereof of the ordinance which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
(Ord 180-04, §1, 1-1-0; Ord 49-16, §1, 6-21-16) 
 
*Editor’s Note:  Chapter 24 was repealed and recreated by ordinance 180-04.  This ordinance is effective as of January 
1, 2005. 
 
*Editor’s Note:  Chapter 24 was repealed and recreated by ordinance 49-16.  This ordinance is effective as of June 21, 
2016. 
City Law: 21‐0961 
Revised: 09‐02‐2022 



                 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

Engineering Division 

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 

TEL (920) 832-6474 

                                                                                    FAX (920) 832-6489 

TO:  Members of the Utilities Committee 

FROM:  Ross Buetow, Deputy Director/City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Project List – 2023 Add-on Water Main Replacements  

DATE:  October 11, 2022 
 

 

On July 20, 2022 the Common Council authorized a transfer of $2,900,000 from the Second Raw Water Line 

Improvements Project to the DPW 2022 Watermain Program. These funds became available after bids for the 

second raw water line project came in well below the budgeted amount.  Since the July 2022 Council action, 

DPW staff has reviewed our water system records to identify and prioritize water main relay projects best 

suited for use of these funds. The primary criteria used in the selection process was to replace undersized 

mains and/or mains with extensive maintenance and break histories.  Another important factor was to find 

locations where the water mains could be replaced with as little damage as possible to existing street 

pavement. The scope of this project is limited to water main replacement only.  The only water services that 

will be replaced are lead services encountered during construction. 
 

The following is a summary of planned replacements: 

Briarcliff Dr Crestview Dr Edgemere Dr Exist 8" CIP '64 Tyton jt.
Multiple leaks, breaks.  

High maintainance.

Crestview Dr
Lynn Dr                          

(south leg)
White Oak Dr Exist 8" CIP '61

Multiple leaks, breaks.  

High maintainance.

Julie St Crestview Dr Lynn Dr Exist 8" CIP '51
Numerous Main breaks, 

holes in pipe.

Kay St Viola St Racine St
Exist 6" CIP '54 (Viola to Graceland);         

1- 1/2" Copper w/o Racine)

Undesized main. 

Flow/pressure concerns.

Lee St Fremont St Robin Way
Exist 8" CIP '70 (Fremont to Blueberry); 

8" DIP '76 (Blueberry to Robin Way)

Multiple leaks, breaks.  

High maintainance.

Lynn Dr
Crestview Dr                    

(north leg)
Newberry St Exist 8" CIP '51

Main breaks, holes in 

pipe.

Capitol Dr Lawe St McDonald St Exist 12" DIP '78 (Unwrapped)
28 main breaks. High 

Maintenance

Franklin St Badger Ave Richmond St Exist 4" CIP 1913
Undesized main. 

Flow/pressure issues.

Atlantic St Richmond St Oneida St Exist 4" CIP Pre 1930. Exist 6" CIP '38
Numerous main breaks.       

2 major since 2008.

Existing Water Main Issue(s)Street ToFrom

 
 

This work will be bid in 2022 for construction in 2023.  Thank you for your consideration. 
 

Utilities Committees Memo - Project List - 2023 Add-on Water Main Replacements.doc 



Tentative Agreements 

City of Appleton & IAFF Local 257 

August 19, 2022 

 

ARTICLE 10 – VACATIONS 

 

A. Fire Operations personnel shall be eligible for vacations on the following basis: 

 

1. Three (3) working days vacation after one (1) year of service. 

2. Six (6) working days vacation after two (2) years of service. 

3. Ten (10) Nine (9) working days vacation after eight (8) years of service.  

4. Twelve (12) working days vacation after twelve (12) years of service. 

5. Sixteen (16) Fifteen (15) working days vacation after twenty (20) years of service. 

 

ARTICLE 11 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 

A. Banked Sick Leave: 

 

1. Severance Pay:  Accumulated and unused sick leave not to exceed 720 hours shall be paid 

to an employee or their beneficiary at their retirement or death at their base rate of pay at the 

time of such retirement or death as follows: 

 

 In Event of Retirement,  

If the City offers a PEHP the employee will be eligible for 50% of the eligible sick leave to be 

paid to PEHP.  The remaining amount will be paid in cash. 

 

2020 10% of eligible amount paid to PEHP.  The remaining amount will be paid in cash. 

2021 20% of eligible amount paid to PEHP.  The remaining amount will be paid in cash. 

2022 25% of eligible amount paid to PEHP.  The remaining amount will be paid in cash. 

 

ARTICLE 12 – HEALTH AND DENTAL INSURANCE 

 

Health Insurance 

 

Provided the employer offers a Health Plan, employees shall pay the same contribution as non-

represented employees on plans offered by the City to non-represented employees. 

 

Dental Insurance 

 

Provided the employer offers a Dental Plan, employees shall pay the same contribution as non-

represented employees on plans offered by the City to non-represented employees.   

 

ARTICLE 13– POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN  

 

Provided the employer offers the Post Employment Health Plan, the employer shall contribute for each 

Eligible Employee the amount of $10 per month.  Additionally, upon retirement, 100% of the Eligible 



Employee’s earned vacation and holiday balance, that would have otherwise been paid to the Eligible 

Employee, had the Employer not participated in the Plan, shall be contributed to the Plan.  The parties 

further agree that annually, 100% of the Eligible Employee’s earned and unused PTO shall be contributed 

to the Plan.   

 

ARTICLE 17 – PROMOTIONS (side letter incorporated into the contract, whereas promotions to Captain 

are offered to best qualified vs. senior qualified) 

 

The Fire Department will train on departmental seniority basis Fire Operations Fire fighters from each shift 

to fully assume the duties of Driver-Engineer and will maintain a list of those Fire fighters who have 

successfully completed a training program as attested by the Training Officer and the Chief.  Seniority will 

not prevail if an employee is found unable to adapt and apply him or herself in a manner applicable to the 

standards of handling and operating Fire Department apparatus.  

 

All positions within the Fire Department other than that of Fire Fighter and Captain shall be promotional 

and shall be offered to qualified existing employees on the basis of seniority.  Qualifications for each 

position shall not be arbitrary or capricious, shall be reasonably related to the work involved, shall be in 

writing, and copies of said qualifications shall be supplied to the Union as and when qualifications are 

established or changed.  Only in the event that such promotion is refused by all qualified employees, shall 

the City hire a new employee to fill such vacancy or newly created position. 

 

Vacancies for Captain shall be promotional and shall be offered to the best qualified employee based on 

the City’s promotional process for Captain. Changes to this promotional process shall be agreed to by 

both Management and the Union. 

 

ARTICLE 36 – LONGEVITY PAY (elimination of longevity pay) 

 

All employees with a minimum of 10 years of service hired prior to 6/9/2015 shall receive $200 annually in 

bi-weekly payments. 

 

ARTICLE 37 – ADVANCED LIFE SUPPORT (ALS) ENGINE (new to the contract) 

 
 ALS Engines: 

1. Each frontline emergency response vehicle, engines, and ladders, with the exception of 9300, will 
be staffed with a minimum of one paramedic and one Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) 
under the ALS Engine Company EMS Plan. 

2. The Fire Department will need a minimum of 30 paramedics to ensure coverage 24/7/365. 
a. Note: The State of Wisconsin Department of Health Services allows for a two-year phase 

in period. ALS Engines can begin with less than 30 paramedics and build up to that 
number over time.  

 
All locally offered courses required by Medical Control to maintain a paramedic license will be sponsored 
utilizing on- and off-duty hours. Off duty training will be paid in accordance with the labor agreement. Any 
out-of-town training course will be considered on a case-by-case basis and should not be the primary 
source of recertification course work. 
 
Once the Fire Department exceeds the minimum number of paramedics (30). A paramedic may choose to 
be removed from the active paramedic pool (process outlined below). Open Fire Fighter/Paramedic 
positions will be filled by the most senior Fire Fighter/Paramedic in the Fire Fighter ranks.  
 



Fire Fighter/Paramedics that choose to drop their paramedic designation must maintain an EMT license. 
To drop their status, the employee will provide a written request to the Deputy Chief of Operations by July 
31st of each calendar year. The Fire Chief or designee will determine if staffing allows the change from 
active status. Approvals will be made based on the number of active status years as a paramedic first, 
followed by department seniority. Any approved changes will take place the following January during shift 
alignments. The employee’s pay will be reduced to the appropriate pay scale. 
 
A Fire Fighter/Paramedic may request immediate withdrawal from active status if there is a Fire 
Fighter/Paramedic that can fill the future opening and the Fire Chief approves. 
 

EXHIBIT A – WAGES 

 

• 2023 = 2.25% increase on 12/1/23 

• 2024 = 1% increase on 7/1/24 

• 2024 = 2% increase on 12/1/24 

• 2025 = 2.50% increase on 12/1/25 

• Paramedic pay 2.75% over Fire Fighter/EMT 

ADDITIONAL ITEMS: 

 

• Management/union joint reviewed of contract. Administrative and cleanup changes were made. 

• Side Letter Agreement Related to Specialties was incorporated into the contract. 

• Side Letter Agreement Related to Hours of Work was incorporated into the contract. 

• Side Letter Vacation Selection was incorporated into the contract. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

1 

 

2023-2025 
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

OF 
FIRE FIGHTERS 

LOCAL 257 
ARTICLE TITLE PAGE 

1 PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT 3 
2 RECOGNITION 3 
3 DUES DEDUCTION 3 
4 HOURS OF WORK 3 
5 OVERTIME 4 
6 SALARIES (See Exhibit A) 6 
7 UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 6 
8 PENSION FUND CONTRIBUTIONS 6 
9 HOLIDAYS 6 

10 VACATIONS 7 
11 LEAVES OF ABSENCE 9 
12 HEALTH & DENTAL INSURANCE 11 
13 POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN 11 
14 DUTY INCURRED DISABILITY PAY 12 
15 POSTING OF JOBS 12 
16 TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS 12 
17 PROMOTIONS 13 
18 LOSS OR DAMAGE 14 
19 PUBLIC ELECTIONS 14 
20 UNION ACTIVITIES 14 
21 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 14 
22 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 14 
23 MILITARY LEAVE 16 
24 WAIVER 16 
25 SAVINGS CLAUSE 17 
26 NO OTHER AGREEMENT 17 
27 CHANGES IN THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT 17 
28 TERM OF AGREEMENT 17 
29 FUNCTION OF MANAGEMENT 17 
30 AMENDMENT 17 
31 PROBATIONARY STATUS, NEW EMPLOYEES, 

TRANSFERS 
17 

32 CONTINUING EDUCATION 18 
33 PHYSICAL FITNESS 18 
34 NON-DISCRIMINATION 19 
35 PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 19 
36 SPECIALTY PAY 19 



 

 

2 

 

37 ADVANCE LIFE SUPPORT (ALS) ENGINES 20 
 SIGNATURE PAGE 21 

EXHIBIT A SALARIES 22 
EXHIBIT B DISCIPLINARY ACTION SCHEDULE 25 

SIDE LETTER Implementation of N.F.P.A. Physicals 27 



 

 

2 

 

AGREEMENT 
 

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement made and entered into by and between the City of Appleton, Appleton, Wisconsin, and the International 
Association of Fire fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, Local 257.  
 
It is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall promote and improve working conditions between the 
CITY and the UNION set forth herein rates of pay, hours of work and other terms and conditions of employment to be observed 
by the parties hereto.  It shall be inherent in this Agreement that all Articles and provisions thereof are binding on both parties to 
the Agreement except in cases where a provision may be invalidated by law or other jurisdiction as provided in Article 25 of this 
Contract. 
 
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION 
 
This Agreement made and entered into at Appleton, Wisconsin, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 111.70 and 62.13 of the 
Wisconsin Statutes by and between the CITY OF APPLETON, a municipal corporation, as municipal employer with the Fire 
Chief as its agent, hereinafter referred to as the CITY and APPLETON FIRE FIGHTERS, Local 257, AFL-CIO-CLC, as sole and 
exclusive bargaining agent for Appleton Fire fighters, Municipal employees hereinafter referred to as the UNION. 
 
The terms “officer in charge”, “CITY” and “Appleton Fire Department” as used herein shall be interpreted to mean the Fire Chief 
or their designee. 
 
ARTICLE 3 – DUES DEDUCTION 
 
The Association, as the exclusive representative of all the employees in the bargaining unit, will represent all such employees, 
Association and non-Association fairly and equally.  No employee shall be required to join the Association, but membership in 
the Association shall be available to all employees who apply consistent with the Association constitution and by-laws.  No 
employee shall be denied Association membership because of race, color, religion, age, disability, marital status, family status, 
national origin, sexual orientation or sex. 
 
The Employer agrees that it will deduct from the monthly earnings of all employees in the collective bargaining unit, who have an 
Authorization and Consent to Deduct Union Dues on file with Employer, such amount being the monthly dues certified by the 
Association and uniformly required of all members, and pay said amount to the treasurer of the affiliated local on or before the 
end of the month following the month in which said deduction was made.  Changes in the amount of dues to be deducted shall 
be certified by the Association thirty (30) days before the effective date of the change. 
 
For all new employees, after filing an Authorization and Consent to Deduct Union Dues with Employer, said deduction shall be 
made from the first paycheck from which said deductions are normally made.  The City shall be held harmless in the event a 
dispute arises between an employee and the Association regarding the interpretation and/or application of this provision. 
 
ARTICLE 4 – HOURS OF WORK 
 

A. The basic work week for the following categories of employees (hereinafter called “Fire Operations personnel”) shall 
consist of fifty-six (56) hours to be worked in twenty-four (24) hour tours on the basis of two days on, four days off.   

 
1. Captains 
2. Lieutenants 
3. Driver-Engineers 
4. Fire fighters   
5. Fire fighter/Inspectors 



 

 

3 

 

 
Employees in the above categories may be changed to a 40-hour per week schedule defined as a seven (7) day period 
beginning and ending on the same day, at the discretion of the Chief, for the following reasons: 

 
1. Accommodating light duty assignments following an injury or illness, provided, however, that employees who are 

eligible for such assignment as a result of off-duty injury or illness shall have the option of accepting or refusing such 
light duty assignment.  Pre-scheduled vacation which falls during the term of such assignment shall be granted 
based on the employee’s original schedule.  Sick leave and vacation requests, which are approved after the 
schedule change has been made, shall be based on the employee’s new schedule. 

2. In order for newly hired employees to receive and complete the required recruit school training.   
3. Conducting Driver training limited to a two-week period. 
4. To attend the Acting Fire Officer Academy limited to a two-week period. 

 
B. The duty day shall begin at 0700 hours for Operations Personnel.  The Chief or their designee shall determine staffing 

needs during that period.  
 
C. Employees may exchange workdays between themselves.   

1.    Provided, however, the City shall not be liable for overtime or temporary assignment pay which accrues solely    
       due to the exchange of work hours. 

 2.    Provided it does not interfere with scheduled mandatory training. 
  a. Mandatory training shall be defined as: 

1.  One city-wide mandatory training day per shift, unless training can be completed virtually at a        
     different agreed upon time. 

  2.  If unable to attend the original dates, the make-up days for both EMS training and physical  fitness testing    
                       and,  
  3.  One day per shift per year at the discretion of the Chief or designee with 45 days notice. 
3. Provided there are no documented active performance issues. 
4.  Provided both exchanging employees are fit for full unrestricted duty. 
5.  Provided the maximum consecutive trade period shall be three two working day blocks.  Employees 
     trading to the maximum allowance must work one two working day block prior to the trade period and must 
     work one two working day block upon returning. 

 6.  Provided they are qualified for the assignment as outlined below: 
a. Officers will be allowed to exchange with Officers and with other qualified acting officers subject to the 

discretion of the Chief or their designee. 
b. Driver Engineers will be allowed to exchange with Driver Engineers and with other qualified employees 

designated as relief drivers subject to the discretion of the Chief or their designee. 
c. Fire Fighters will be allowed to exchange with Fire fighters subject to the discretion of the Chief or their 

designee. 
d. Paramedics will be allowed to exchange with Paramedics subject to the discretion of the Chief or their 

designee. 
e. When scheduling, a person working a duty exchange will be assigned, if qualified, to the position in which 

the initiator of the exchange would have been assigned.  In addition, they may be preassigned to any 
classification for which they are qualified, when there is no regularly scheduled, qualified, employee 
available.  
 

7.   Provided that only one Fire fighter/Inspector can exchange with a non-Fire fighter/Inspector subject to the discretion    
      of the Chief or their designee.  

 
 It is the requesting employee’s responsibility to ensure that the request for duty exchange has been received by the 

Chief or their designee. 



 

 

4 

 

 
D. Whenever necessary because of insufficient staffing to fill crews, the Chief or their designee may call in off-duty 

personnel.  Such call-ins shall be completed using technology systems using rankings within the classification. In the 
event that all available employees are notified and such vacancies cannot be filled as a result of employees refusing, 
such vacancies shall be filled by assigning the employees with the least seniority by job classification.  In cases where 
contact cannot be made with an employee, the employee will be by-passed for that day but will again be eligible for the 
next vacancy or emergency.  
 

E. The duty day for the purpose of training procedures and other regular, routine duties shall commence at 0700 and 
terminate at 1630.  A lunch period shall generally be provided between 1130 and 1300. Maintenance and servicing of 
vehicles, equipment, and other fire department property after 1630 shall be limited to items necessary for efficient 
response to alarms.  The balance of the tour of duty shall be to provide service in matters of responding to emergency 
and non-emergency calls. If the lunch period needs to be altered to meet the needs of the organization, a lunch period of 
a continuous one and one half hours shall be scheduled between 1030 and 1430. 
 

F. The routine duty schedule for Saturday shall be from 0700 until 1200.  Sunday and holidays, as designated in Article 9, 
shall be limited to the past customary practice of those duties necessary for efficient responses to alarms, housework, 
and vehicle checks.   
 

G. If routine duties are assigned outside the above stated duty schedule, the following alternatives shall apply and are 
subject to the employees discretion for compensation: 
 
WEEKDAYS:  Routine duties may be assigned between 1630 and 2200 hours.  A meal break of continuous one and 
one half-hours shall be scheduled between 1600 hours and 2000 hours. Employees will be compensated for hours 
worked. Compensation can be in the form of either half-time pay or time back during an employee’s scheduled shift. 
 
SATURDAYS: Routine duties may be assigned from 0700 –1800 hours.  A lunch break of a continuous one and one 
half-hours shall be scheduled between 1100 hours and 1400 hours.  Employees will be compensated for hours worked. 
Compensation can be in the form of either half-time pay or time back during an employee’s scheduled shift. 
 
SUNDAYS AND HOLIDAYS: Employees assigned routine duties on Sundays and Holidays shall be compensated at an 
additional straight time rate for hours worked.  A lunch break of a continuous one and one half-hours shall be scheduled 
between 1100 hours and 1400 hours.  Routine duties shall not be assigned beyond 1630. 

 
H. The duty day for the Fire fighter/Inspector for the purpose of training procedures and other regular, routine duties shall 

commence at 0700 and terminate at 1130, recommence at 1300 and terminate at 1630.  Additional routine inspection 
activities may be assigned after 1630 as required but no later than 2400 on weekdays and Saturdays and 2200 on 
Sundays and Holidays.  (Activities such as fire investigation, occupancy inspections, public education events, special 
event inspection, PAC inspection, emergency inspection issues and juvenile fire setter education.)  All meal parameters 
in are applicable to the position of Fire fighter/Inspector. 
 

ARTICLE 5 – OVERTIME 
 
A.  Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraphs 1 and 2 of this paragraph, all time worked over forty (40) hours per week 

shall be considered overtime and be paid for at the rate of time and one-half such employee’s base rate.  When 
employees are required to work beyond their normal scheduled hours for any reason, they shall be paid overtime at time 
and one-half for actual time worked.   

 
1.  Fire Operations personnel shall be paid overtime for all hours worked over twenty-four hours per shift and for any 

hours worked on a scheduled day off when the employee has worked all of their scheduled hours in that pay 



 

 

5 

 

period.  When staffing apparatus, the employee will be paid the regular base rate as outlined in Exhibit A.  When 
not staffing apparatus such as attending meetings or training including mandatory training, the employee’s base 
rate will be computed by taking the regular base rate as outlined in Exhibit A, multiplied by eighty (80) and divided 
by 112.  
 

2. a. Employees who are required by the City to attend training or whose attendance at such training is mandatory to 
maintain their position, shall be paid for reasonable travel time at the 56-hour overtime rate in lieu of any 
mileage reimbursement.  This provision shall not apply to training held within a 10-mile radius of Station 1.  

b. Travel Time – Employees who elect to attend or participate in training sessions on their off-duty time, with prior 
approval of the Chief, shall be granted paid time off, in twelve-hour blocks, if required for travel.  Travel for multi-
day classes that include one or more duty days is deemed to be required if one of the following conditions exist: 

 
1. If the class occurs within a regularly scheduled two day block the following conditions do not apply. The 

existence of the following conditions will be determined by the employer. 
2. The employee must leave the workplace prior to 0700 hours to arrive at the training site on time they shall 

be granted the preceding 12 hours off.  
3. The employee cannot reasonably be expected to return to Fire Station #1 at 1700 hours or earlier, following 

the training then the employee shall not be required to work for the remainder of that shift. Employees who 
can reasonably be expected to return to Fire Station #1 prior to 1700 hours shall return to duty at 1900 
hours. 

4. Employees who cannot reasonably be expected to return to Fire Station #1 by 2200 hours or earlier 
following training shall be granted the first 12 hours off if they are scheduled to work the next day. 
 

B.   Overtime shall be computed to the next one-quarter hour.  Deductions for tardy employees shall also be to the next one-
quarter hour. 
 

C.  Employees recalled for a period of less than ten (10) hours of overtime will not be charged with time worked on the 
overtime schedule. 
 

D.  Employees who are pre-scheduled to work overtime shall receive payment for time actually worked at the appropriate 
rate or three (3) hours at straight time, whichever is greater.  Employees notified of pre-scheduled overtime shall have 
their choice of all available openings in that classification.   
 

E.  Extended Shift will be defined as when an employee is authorized to work beyond their normal scheduled hours for any 
reason.  The employee will be paid at time and one-half for all hours worked. 
 

F.  All overtime will be filled subject to senior qualified from the call list, except where herein specifically stated otherwise.  All 
personnel will be numbered according to seniority on the department.  Call lists shall be divided by classifications and 
overtime call-back of personnel shall be made on a rotating basis using a technology messaging system 

 
 Seniority lists are available to employees via the use of scheduling technology. 
 
G.  In the event of a defined specialty emergency, personnel will be called in at the discretion of the Shift Commander, in 

rotation according to rank; specialty Officer, specialty Driver, specialty Firefighter. 
 

H.  A call list will be created for the purpose of allocating overtime for all Fire fighter/Inspectors for the purpose of assigning 
fire prevention/investigation work.  Overtime shall be allocated in the following manner: 
 

1.  Fire cause investigation and other emergency call-ins:  The call list will be rotated monthly.  The employee at the top 
of the list will be called first for any such overtime during that month.   



 

 

6 

 

 
2.  Prescheduled overtime: Overtime will be offered on an alternating basis, by event subject to the provisions below.   

 
 An event is defined as any prescheduled overtime occurrence (evening inspection, special community  
 events, etc.)  More than one event could occur on the same day or at the same time depending on the  
 staffing levels determined by management. 
 
ARTICLE 6 – SALARIES (See Exhibit A) 
 
A. Pay Period:  Pay day shall be every other Thursday and shall include compensation for all hours worked the preceding 

two (2) week period (Operations personnel weekly rate to be based on an average), ending Sunday at 0700 hours.  If a 
holiday falls on a day Monday through Thursday, payday shall be Friday. 
 

B. All employees are required to participate in direct deposit. 
 
ARTICLE 7 – UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 
 
Employees shall be paid a uniform allowance as follows: 
 
A. Annual Maintenance Allowance:  Fire Operations employees shall receive $520 annually as a uniform allowance. This 

allowance will be paid in $20 bi-weekly payments. 
 

B. New Employees: 
 

1. Initial Clothing Allowance:  All new employees shall receive a one-time $550 initial clothing allowance, which will be 
added to the employees first paycheck.  This allowance shall be considered a loan to each probationary employee.  
Employees who fail to complete probation shall re-pay the City this allowance.  Employees who complete probation 
shall not re-pay the City any initial allowance.  
 

2. Dress Uniform:  New employees will be issued their dress uniform upon graduation of the recruit school training. 
New employees who fail to complete their probationary period will be required to turn their dress uniform over to the 
Fire department.  
 

C. Union Logo: 
The Union will be allowed to place a union sticker on helmets provided by the Appleton Fire Department.  Specific 
location of the sticker is to be mutually agreed upon and to be uniform. 
 

ARTICLE 8 – PENSION FUND CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Employees agree to pay the same contribution as general municipal employees for funding benefits under the Wisconsin 
Retirement Fund. 
 
ARTICLE 9 – HOLIDAYS 
 
A holiday shall be considered as starting at 0700 hours on the date of such holiday and shall remain in effect for the succeeding 
twenty-four (24) hour period.  
 
A. Operations Employees: 

The following holidays are included in this Agreement for all Operations employees: 
         



 

 

7 

 

 New Year’s Day   
 Easter Sunday  
 Memorial Day  
 Independence Day      
 Labor Day       
 Thanksgiving Day      
 Friday after Thanksgiving Day 
 Christmas Eve  
 Christmas Day     
 
1. If a Fire Operations person is scheduled to work overtime on a holiday, the employee shall be paid double time for 

all such hours worked. 
 

2. In lieu of further compensation for the above holidays, Fire Operations personnel shall receive one hundred twenty 
(120) hours pay per year at their regular straight time rate as outlined in Exhibit A.  Such payment shall be made on 
the last payday of December and shall only be made to employees on the payroll as of that date.  Employees 
leaving the department for any reason after that date shall not be required to reimburse the City for any holiday pay.  
Provided, however, retirees shall have their holiday pay prorated upon retirement at any time during the year.  New 
employees who have worked less than one year as of the last payday of December shall receive a prorated 
payment. 
 

An employee, at their option, may elect to convert any or all of the 120 hours compensation described above to actual time off in 
full day increments.  Holiday payout shall be reduced by twelve (12) hours for each conversion day taken.   Selection of these 
days shall be in accordance with the provisions of Article 10 (D) (2) a-c, and shall be made after all employees have passed on 
their regular and floater vacation picks.  All selections shall be completed no later than November 15.  Holiday conversions for 
the fourth slot cannot be submitted for a date after December 14th.    
 
ARTICLE 10 – VACATIONS 
 
A. Fire Operations personnel shall be eligible for vacations on the following basis: 

 
1. Three (3) working days vacation after one (1) year of service. 
2. Six (6) working days vacation after two (2) years of service. 
3. Ten (10) working days vacation after eight (8) years of service.  
4. Twelve (12) working days vacation after twelve (12) years of service. 
5. Sixteen (16) working days vacation after twenty (20) years of service. 

 
B. Regular employees shall be entitled to paid vacation benefits as of January 1st of each year based upon their length of 

continuous service. For purposes of determining future vacation eligibility, the year of hire shall be treated as a full year 
of service. 

 
C. Vacation allowances shall not be cumulative and after the qualifications have been met for vacation, it must be taken 

between January 1 and December 31, or be lost, with the City not being liable for any compensation, or up to three days 
(13.3 hours per day) can be deposited into the PEHP or HSA.  
 

D. The Chief shall have the vacation schedule available for employees on or before November 1 preceding the year 
vacations are to run so that picking of vacations can be completed by January 1, where applicable.  The order of picking 
vacations shall be by seniority on each shift.  The seniority to be determined by the number of full-time years an 



 

 

8 

 

employee has on the Fire Department and being assigned to the same shift, the senior member of the hiring class shall 
always pick first.  
 

 The second or following vacations cannot be selected until all personnel have picked in each round. 

1. The Fire Operations personnel that have qualified for more than three (3) days of vacation will be allowed to split 
their vacation into one or more blocks.  However, requests for more than three consecutive blocks must be 
approved by the Chief or their designee 

2. Fire operations personnel shall pick their vacation on the basis of two (2) working day blocks, not to exceed the 
number of working days each person has accrued in accordance with Section A.  

a.        Personnel with 3 days remaining to select may either:  
b.        Select a 2 day block and select the remaining day the next round  
c.        Select a 2 day block and keep the remaining day as a floater  
d.        Select all 3 days in one pick, but those days must be consecutive 

  3. After employees select the number of blocks to which they are entitled, any vacation days allowed but not 
scheduled, shall be permitted to be used as “floater” days.  Such use shall be in accordance with the following: 

a. In the event two or more employees choose the same floater, seniority will prevail. 
b. After a floater is picked, under no circumstances will a more senior employee be able to remove 

him/her.  
c. Use of a floater day shall require prior approval of the Chief or his/her designee and will not be 

granted if, at the time of the request, the approval of such day will result in overtime or if the function 
of the Department will be curtailed.  The Chief may grant exceptions to this provision on a case-by-
case basis.  

 
4.   After vacation periods have been selected, no changes will be made unless, due to duty injuries, transfers to 
another shift, division or program, or permission is obtained from the Chief or their designee. 
 
5.   A total of nine (9) employees, but only three (3) from each shift, can be on vacation at any one time unless an 
employee has been transferred to another shift after vacations have been picked. (Article 10- E will prevail.) 
 
6.   A fourth vacation slot for each shift may be approved under the following provisions;  

a. Approval will not be granted more than fourteen (14) days from the date of the leave that is being 
requested. 

b. Request for the 4th slot will not be approved if the approval will cause overtime. 
c. Approval may be granted for requests with less than fourteen (14) days’ notice from the date of the 

leave that is being requested with approval of the Chief or their designee.  
 
E.  Employees permanently transferred during the year to a different shift or position, shall have the option to change the 

dates they have chosen for vacation, which option shall be exercised within thirty (30) days of such transfer.  The 
exercise of this option shall not affect the vacations of other employees in any way and shall not be granted if more than 
four (4) employees are on vacation at any given time per shift.    

 
F.  Retiring employees shall be paid for their vacation based on the number of weeks such vacation would represent if it 

were taken within their schedule.  Employees who are terminated for any other reason shall be paid on the basis of eight 
hours per vacation day at their regular hourly rate.    

 
 



 

 

9 

 

ARTICLE 11 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
A. Sick Leave: 

1. Operations employees shall be entitled to accumulate five (5) hours sick leave per month to a maximum of 1080 
hours.  Operations employees hired after 1/1/11 shall receive four (4) hours per month until January 1 following the 
year said employee qualifies for top step Fire Fighter.  On January 1 following that year the employee will receive 
five (5) hours accumulation per month.  Any employee who has reached the maximum accumulation of sick leave 
(1080) hours and who has used twelve (12) hours or less of sick leave in a calendar year shall be permitted to 
increase the maximum accumulation of sick leave by the unused amount of sick leave for that year to a maximum 
accumulation of 1440 hours.   Family Medical qualifying sick leave will count as sick leave used when determining 
the criteria for adding sick leave beyond the 1080 maximum. 
 
a. Fire Operations personnel shall be charged with one-half (1/2) hours of sick leave for each hour taken. 
b. Probationary employees shall accumulate, but shall not be paid sick leave until they have completed six (6) 

months of service.  
c. Employees shall accumulate sick leave while they remain on the payroll.  Employees in an unpaid leave or non-

FMLA status for a full month will not accumulate sick leave. 
 

2. An employee may use and be paid sick leave for absences required by their off duty injury, illness or required dental 
care, or serious illness or injury at home, (including, but not limited to, the hospitalization of his wife for birth of child.) 
 

3. Sick leave may also be used by employees for non-medical emergencies at the employee’s home.  An emergency 
shall be defined for purposes of this paragraph, as a situation where the employee’s presence at home is required to 
protect or maintain the health or safety of their family or to prevent serious property damage.   Paid leave for 
emergencies shall not exceed twelve hours per incident without approval of the Chief or their designee. 
 

4. In order to be granted sick leave with pay, an employee must: 
 

a. Report immediately to the Chief or their designee the reason for their absence and the expected duration of 
such absence.  

b. Keep the Chief or their designee informed of the circumstances if absence is of more than two working days 
duration. 

c. Submit a medical certificate for any absence of more than two (2) working days, if required by the City. 
d. The City may make such medical examinations or nursing visits as it deems desirable.  All costs associated with 

the medical examination shall be paid solely by the employer. 
 

The medical examination may be outside the residence, provided that: 
1.  Costs of transportation are paid by the City; and 
2. The examination is conducted at a medical facility, including by way of example but not limitation, a hospital 

or physician’s office, reasonably near the employee; and 
3. The employee’s illness or injury is one which reasonably permits travel; and  
4. The employee is required to drive unless the illness, injury or medications impair the employee’s ability to 

drive. 
 

5. Employees shall not be eligible for paid sick leave for absences resulting from injury or illness incurred while working 
for another employer for pay, when such absence is compensable under Worker’s Compensation through the other 
employer.  This provision shall not apply to Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) qualifying absences. 

 
6. Fire Operations Personnel:  Doctor and dental appointments, which are not emergencies, must be made on off-duty 

days. 



 

 

10 

 

 
B. Banked Sick Leave: 
 

1. Severance Pay:  Accumulated and unused sick leave not to exceed 720 hours shall be paid to an employee or their 
beneficiary at their retirement or death at their base rate of pay at the time of such retirement or death as follows: 
 

 In Event of Retirement,  
If the City offers a PEHP the employee will be eligible for 50% of the eligible sick leave to be 
paid to PEHP.  The remaining amount will be paid in cash. 

 
 In Event of Death: 

100% of eligible amount will be paid to the employee’s beneficiary in cash. 
 

C. Funeral Leave:  All employees will receive time off without loss of pay, if normally scheduled to work, for a death in the 
immediate family, beginning from the time of notification of death to the next scheduled day after interment, except 
however, that such time off without loss of pay is limited to two (2) work days for Fire Operations personnel. 

 
1. Immediate family is defined as spouse, son, daughter, mother or stepmother, father or stepfather, legal guardian, 

sister, brother, mother-in-law, and father-in-law. 
 

2. Fire Operations personnel shall be granted 24 hours off without loss of pay to attend the funeral or wake (not both) 
of grandparents, spouse’s grandparents or grandchildren, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, if scheduled to work on 
that day. 
 

3. Employees shall be permitted to exchange hours for additional funeral experiences not covered by the above 
paragraphs (funeral leave), pursuant to the provisions of Article 4C. 
 

4. Additional time off shall not be granted for funeral leave if death in the family relationships outlined above occurs 
while the employee is absent because of sick leave, vacation or leave of absence.   

 
D. Leave of Absence Without Pay:  Requests for leave of absence without pay for justifiable reasons shall be made by 

written application on a form provided by the Human Resources Office and be submitted at least two (2) days prior to 
the anticipated leave.  

 
1. For a leave not to exceed two (2) consecutive days, their request shall be made to and approved by the Chief. 

 
2. For a leave in excess of two (2) consecutive days, the employee shall make his request to the Director of Human 

Resources after securing the approval of the Chief. 
 

3. No employee shall be granted a leave of absence without pay unless such employee makes arrangements in 
advance with the Director of Human Resources for payment of health and dental insurance premiums during the 
period of the absence. 
 

4. Failure to comply with the regulations of this Article shall result in disciplinary action in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 21 and Exhibit B of this contract.  
 

E. An employee shall be given time off without loss of pay when performing jury duty or when subpoenaed to appear 
before a court, public body or commission in connection with City business.  In the case of jury duty, the employee shall 
remit their fee to the City. 

 



 

 

11 

 

F. Operations employees on the payroll on 1/1/11 shall receive 3 PTO days each year to be used as paid time off.  Any 
PTO days not used as of December 31st will be paid pursuant to Article 13 – Post Employment Health Plan or to the 
employee’s Health Savings Account.  The employee shall notify the department by December 31st of their selection. 

 
For those employees eligible for 3 PTO Days.  PTO days shall be pro-rated in the year of termination/resignation as 
follows: 
  
 January-April   0 
 May-August   1 
 September-December  2 

 
Operations employees hired after 1/1/11 shall receive 2 PTO days each year until January 1 following the year said 
employee obtains top step Fire Fighter (Over 8-year step).  On January 1 following that year the employee will receive 3 
PTO days each year to be used as paid time off.  Any PTO days not used as of December 31st will be paid pursuant to 
Article 13 – Post Employment Health Plan or to the employee’s Health Savings Account.  The employee shall notify the 
department by December 31st of their selection. 
 
For those employees eligible for 2 PTO Days – PTO days shall be pro-rated in the year of hire/ termination/resignation 
as follows:   
 
              Hired         Leaving 
 January-June   1  0 
 July-December   0  1  
 
At the time of retirement employees who qualify for an annuity under the Wisconsin Retirement fund shall receive their 
full unused balance of PTO pursuant to the PEHP.   

 
ARTICLE 12 – HEALTH AND DENTAL INSURANCE 
 
Note:  Retirees cannot stay on the City plan after they are eligible for Medicare.  Provided the employer offers a health plan, 
retirees will be offered a group plan, but not necessarily the same plan as active employees. 
 
Health Insurance 
 
Provided the employer offers a Health Plan, employees shall pay the same contribution as non-represented employees on plans 
offered by the City to non-represented employees. 
 
Dental Insurance 
 
Provided the employer offers a Dental Plan, employees shall pay the same contribution as non-represented employees on plans 
offered by the City to non-represented employees.   
 
ARTICLE 13– POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN  
 
Provided the employer offers the Post Employment Health Plan, the employer shall contribute for each Eligible Employee the 
amount of $10 per month.  Additionally, upon retirement, 100% of the Eligible Employee’s earned vacation and holiday balance, 
that would have otherwise been paid to the Eligible Employee, had the Employer not participated in the Plan, shall be 
contributed to the Plan.  The parties further agree that annually, 100% of the Eligible Employee’s earned and unused PTO shall 
be contributed to the Plan.   
 



 

 

12 

 

ARTICLE 14 – DUTY INCURRED DISABILITY PAY 
 
A. An employee, while performing within the scope of their employment as provided by Chapter 102 of the Wisconsin 

Statutes (Worker’s Compensation Act), shall receive the difference between their prevailing straight time salary and their 
Worker’s Compensation Benefits described herein as “Injury Pay” for the period of time the employee may be 
temporarily totally or temporarily partially disabled because of said injury, not to exceed thirty (30) weeks from date of 
injury. 
 

B. Special cases may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the City. 
 

C. Operations employees will remain on their assigned shift for light duty assignment if the injury is a work-related injury, if 
the employee’s physician certifies that they may return to a light duty assignment on a twenty-four-hour shift and if the 
employee’s restrictions allow them the return. No more than one employee/shift shall remain on their 56-hour schedule. 
Order of availability shall be first come, first serve and if more than one injury on the same day, then by seniority. 
 

ARTICLE 15 – POSTING OF JOBS 
 
A. Vacancies in existing positions: 
 

1. Before any vacancy is filled, other than that of Fire Fighter Inspector, a notice shall be provided at least one (1) week 
in advance of the application deadline date.  The notice shall clearly state the application requirements, an outline of 
job requirements, pay classifications applicable to the positions, and/or any other information applicable.  

 
B. Vacancies for newly created positions: 
 

1. Before any vacancy is filled, a notice shall be posted at all fire stations and remain posted for a period of not less 
than one (1) week.  The notice shall clearly state the application requirements, an outline of job requirements, pay 
classifications applicable to the position, and/or any other information applicable.   

 
C. The Union will be furnished a copy of such notice. 

 
D. A “promotional vacancy” as used herein shall be deemed to mean vacancies created by newly created positions or by 

promotions but shall not include the position of Fire Fighter.  Employees appointed to temporarily fill such vacancies or 
performing the duties required of such vacant position, shall be paid not less than the rate of pay applicable to such 
position. 

 
Time spent on temporary assignment from the time of vacancy until it is filled shall be used in determining step 
progression for the employee who is selected to fill that vacancy. 

 
ARTICLE 16 – TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS 
 

A. Temporary assignments to driver positions of more than 12 hours shall go to senior qualified, on duty Operations 
personnel.  Temporary assignments to officer positions of more than 12 hours shall go to senior qualified, on duty 
Operations personnel.  An employee’s seniority for temporary assignments will be based on departmental seniority.  An 

employee working a duty exchange will assume the seniority of the employee they are working for.  Senior qualified 
employees who are working a duty exchange will not displace an employee previously scheduled for temporary 
assignment.  
 



 

 

13 

 

For the purpose of training as a qualified acting officer, by mutual agreement of the involved employees, the department 
may allow an acting officer to temporarily fill the role of officer with a qualified Lieutenant or Captain on the apparatus as 
a training opportunity with no additional compensation. 
 
Should the acting officer be serving as the driver of the apparatus when placed in the acting officer training position, any 
placement of a relief driver to operate the apparatus must be by mutual agreement for the training purpose of the relief 
driver with no additional compensation.  
 

B. When a vacancy will require calling in off-duty personnel, such vacancy will be assigned to off-duty Operations 
personnel of the same classification causing such vacancy and in accordance with the overtime call in provisions in 
Article 5.   
 
An employee temporarily assigned to a higher classification within the bargaining unit having a higher rate of pay shall 
receive the next higher rate of the new classification for the period of time worked in that higher classification.   
 

C. Employees temporarily assigned to a management position shall receive $1.00 per hour more than the over one (1) year 
step of Captain.  Employees so assigned shall be paid this higher rate for eight hours or for the actual time assigned, 
whichever is greater. 

 
D. Temporary Assignment to the position of Relief Firefighter/Inspector (RFFI) shall be filled by a qualified RFFI.  The 

department will qualify one individual per shift to the position of RFFI.  For the purpose of temporary assignment the 
RFFI will first serve in the Firefighter/Inspector (FFI) over any other temporary assignments.  An RFFI can be temporarily 
assigned as relief driver or acting officers when not functioning as an FFI. 

 
Firefighter/Inspectors (FFI) can be temporarily assigned as acting officers once they have qualified as such and have 
been in their position as an FFI for a minimum 3 years.   Both FFI’s on each shift may be qualified to be an acting officer, 
but only one FFI may be assigned to be an acting officer on a shift day. Should a FFI be working on a duty exchange for 
a non-FFI and they have qualified as an acting officer, the FFI on the duty exchange could also be assigned as an acting 
officer. 
 

E. Temporary Assignment of a Lieutenant to the position of Acting Captain for extended absences shall be handled in the 
following way: 
 
1. Extended absence is defined for the purpose of this article, as a period of time in excess of a normal approved 

vacation block(s) and identified by the Fire Chief or his designee. 
 

2. The temporary assignment will be made to the senior Lieutenant, based on departmental seniority, assigned to 
the station where the extended Captain vacancy has occurred. 
 

3. Compensation for the temporary assignment will be in accordance with the provisions of “B” above. 
 
ARTICLE 17 – PROMOTIONS 
 
All positions within the Fire Department other than that of Fire Fighter and Captain shall be promotional and shall be offered to 
qualified existing employees on the basis of seniority.  Qualifications for each position shall not be arbitrary or capricious, shall 
be reasonably related to the work involved, shall be in writing, and copies of said qualifications shall be supplied to the Union as 
and when qualifications are established or changed.  Only in the event that such promotion is refused by all qualified employees, 
shall the City hire a new employee to fill such vacancy or newly created position. 
 
Vacancies for Captain shall be promotional and shall be offered to the best qualified employee based on the City’s promotional 
process for Captain. Changes to this promotional process shall be agreed to by both Management and the Union. 



 

 

14 

 

 
Vacancies in the Firefighter Inspector (FFI) position will be filled on the basis of departmental seniority from the current qualified 
Relief Firefighter Inspectors (RFFI), however, to qualify for promotion to FFI, RFFI must have filled the role of an RFFI for a 
period of two years.  If none of the current RFFI’s have the two years’ experience, the most senior RFFI based on department 
seniority shall be offered the promotion.  Should a qualified RFFI refuse promotion when offered, the RFFI will relinquish their 
position of RFFI.   
 
The Fire Department will train Fire Fighters, based on department seniority, from each shift to fully assume the duties of Driver-
Engineer and will maintain a list of those Fire Fighters who have successfully completed a training program as attested by the 
Training Officer and the Chief.  Seniority will not prevail if an employee is found unable to adapt and apply themselves in a 
manner applicable to the standards of handling and operating Fire Department apparatus.  
 
ARTICLE 18 – LOSS OR DAMAGE 
 
A. City Property:  Employees shall not be assessed or charged for loss or damage of City property of materials unless such 

loss or damage occurred as a result of the willful and malicious act of an employee. 
 

B. Third Parties:  The City shall authorize the City Attorney to defend actions brought against any Fire Fighter or shall pay 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of defending such action, growing out of any acts done in the course of their 
employment or out of any alleged breach of their duty as such Fire Fighter. 
 

C. Any judgment obtained against such Fire Fighter shall be paid by the City provided the Fire Fighter acted within the 
scope of their employment as provided in Section 895.46 Wisconsin Statutes. 

 
ARTICLE 19 – PUBLIC ELECTIONS 
 
Any employee entitled to vote in any public election shall be afforded the necessary time off to do so in accordance with the 
provision of Section 6.76 of the Wisconsin Statutes or by any other means that is satisfactory to the City, the Chief and the 
Union. 
 
ARTICLE 20 – UNION ACTIVITIES 

 
A. Negotiations:  The City agrees to allow time off with no loss of pay to negotiation committee members, if and when 

negotiations are scheduled at a time when committee members are on duty. 
 
ARTICLE 21 – DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
A. Infractions of any rules of conduct established by the City of which the Union has been duly notified shall be subject to 

disciplinary action.  The employee and the Union shall be notified not more than ten (10) days (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays and holidays) from the date the City knew or should have known of the infraction or incident and unless so 
notified, no disciplinary action shall be taken thereon. 
 

B. The nature and extent of the disciplinary action taken shall be limited to that specified in Exhibit “B” which is attached 
hereto and made a part hereof. 
 

C. It is understood and agreed by the parties to this agreement that an employee who has been disciplined may elect to 
appeal such discipline through Article 22, except in those cases that the exclusive lawful procedure for appeal of such 
discipline is that provided by State Statutes Sec. 62.13. 

 
ARTICLE 22 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 



 

 

15 

 

 
A. Both the Union and the City recognize that grievances and complaints should be settled promptly and at the earliest 

possible stage and that the grievance process must be initiated within ten (10) days of the date that the employee knew 
or should have reasonably known of the incident giving rise to the grievance.  Any grievance not reported or filed within 
ten (10) days shall be invalid. 
 

B. It is expected and understood that grievances and complaints between Fire Fighters shall be resolved by oral discussion 
between the parties involved.  To the extent that such grievances or complaints are required to be reported to the Chief, 
or their designee, the matter will be resolved as hereinafter set forth.  
 

C. Any difference of opinion, misunderstanding, complaint or grievance, the subject matter of which is itself a mandatory 
subject of bargaining which may arise, with the exception of disputes within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Police and 
Fire Commission under Section 62.13 shall be processed as follows: 

 
Step 1:  The aggrieved employee shall present the grievance orally to their Battalion Chief or Deputy Chief  
as appropriate, accompanied by a Union representative.  The Battalion Chief or Deputy Chief shall discuss the 
grievance with the employee and the Union representative and shall furnish the employee and the Union with a 
response to the grievance within ten (10) days of such discussion. 

 
 Step 2:  If the grievance is not settled at the first step, the grievance shall be presented, in writing, to the Chief within ten 

(10) days of the Battalion Chief’s or Deputy Chief’s answer pursuant to Step 1.  Such grievance shall make specific 
reference to the contract Article alleged to be violated.  The Chief shall, within ten (10) days after such grievance is 
presented, hold an informal meeting with the aggrieved employee and the Union representative.  The Chief shall reduce 
their decision to writing and furnish a copy of the same within ten (10) days of such meeting to all parties.  

 
Step 3:  If the grievance is not settled at the second step, the grievance shall be presented in writing to the Director of 
Human Resources within ten (10) days of the Chief’s written decision as required in Step 2.  The Director of Human 
Resources shall within ten (10) days of receipt of such grievance set up an informal meeting to be attended by all parties 
and their representatives.  Within ten (10) days after such meeting the Director of Human Resources shall reduce their 
decision to writing and forward copies to all parties. 

 
 Step 4:  If any grievance relative to interpretation or application of this Agreement is not settled at the third step,   
             mediation may be the next step of the grievance procedure if requested or agreed upon by both parties. 
 
 Step 5:  If the grievance is not settled in the third or fourth step, arbitration is the next and final step, but must be 

requested in writing within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Director of Human Resources’ decision as in Step 3 or 
mediation as in Step 4.  The decision of the arbitrator is to be final and binding upon both parties to the grievance.  

 
D. The term “Arbitrator” as used herein shall refer to a single arbitrator. 
E. Final and binding arbitration may be initiated by a notification in writing to the Wisconsin Employment Relations 

Commission.  Said notice shall identify the Agreement provisions, the grievance or grievances, the department and the 
employees involved. 
 

F. All expenses, which may be involved in the arbitration proceedings, shall be borne by the parties equally.  However, 
expenses relating to the calling of witnesses or the obtaining of depositions or any other similar expense associated with 
such proceedings shall be borne by the party at whose request such witnesses or depositions are required. 

 
G. The arbitrator so selected shall hold a hearing at a time and place convenient to the parties.  Statements of positions 

may be made by the parties, and witnesses may be called. 
 



 

 

16 

 

H. For purposes of receiving testimony and evidence, the provisions of Section 788.06 and 788.07 of the Wisconsin 
Statutes shall apply.  The arbitration award shall be reduced to writing, subject to Section 788.08 through and including 
788.15 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
 

I. All records pertinent to the grievance of the aggrieved employee covered by this Agreement shall be made available to 
the Union upon request for the purpose of handling grievances. 
 

J. Any period of time specified in this Article for the giving of notice or taking any action shall be interpreted to exclude 
Saturdays, Sundays and holidays and may be extended by mutual agreement. 
 

K. In the event that the grievance arises out of the direct act of the Chief, the first step of this grievance procedure shall be 
automatically waived.  
 

L. In the event that any individual named to hear the grievance of a Fire Fighter in Steps 1 through 3 is unavailable within 
the period of time prescribed to present the grievance to him/her, the time limitation of the grievance procedures shall be 
satisfied if such grievance is presented in writing, addressed to the appropriate Battalion Chief, the Chief or the Human 
Resources Director at the Chief’s office at Station #1 within the time period prescribed.  In the event that the Fire Fighter 
against whom action is pending under Article 21 or to whom a notice or communication must be addressed under this 
Article 22, is unavailable, the time limitations of Article 21 and 22 shall be satisfied if such notice or communication is 
forwarded to the Secretary of the Union within the time limitation prescribed.  Provided further, however, that the period 
required for such Fire Fighter’s response shall be extended for a period equal to such Fire Fighter’s vacation or other 
authorized leave.  
 

M. The Union may appoint stewards and shall inform the City of the names of the individual(s) so appointed and of any 
change thereafter made in such appointments.  The City shall allow a steward the necessary time to process grievances 
during the course of the duty day.  Union Stewards will be allowed reasonable use of the City’s computer system for the 
processing of grievance forms and documents.  The Chief or their designee shall make necessary transfers.   
 

N. All grievances shall be numbered in a manner acceptable to both parties for reference purposes throughout the process. 
 
ARTICLE 23 – MILITARY LEAVE 
 
A. All employees who are duly enrolled members of the National Guard, the State Guard, the Officers Reserve Corps, the 

Enlisted Reserve Corps, Naval Reserve Corps, Naval Reserve, the Marine Corps Reserve, or any other reserve 
component of the military or naval forces of the United States, of the State of Wisconsin, now, or hereafter organized or 
constituted under Federal law, are entitled to leave of absence without loss of seniority, to enable them to attend military 
or naval schools, field camps of instruction and naval exercises which have been duly ordered held but not to exceed  
twenty (20) days, in the calendar year in which so ordered and held.  All military leave, including active duty shall be 
governed by USERRA. 
 

B. The difference in pay between the military pay during the time of attendance and the employee’s regular pay during the 
same period shall be paid by the City. 
 

C. The leave granted is in addition to other leaves. 
 
ARTICLE 24 – WAIVER 
 
The waiver or any breach, term or condition of this Agreement by either the City or the Union shall not constitute a precedent in 
the future enforcement of all its terms and conditions. 
 



 

 

17 

 

ARTICLE 25 – SAVINGS CLAUSE 
 
If any article or section of this Agreement or any addendums thereto should be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal 
of competent jurisdiction or if compliance with or enforcement of any article or section should be restrained by such tribunal, the 
remainder of this Agreement and addendums shall not be affected thereby and the parties shall enter into immediate collective 
bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such article or section. 
 
ARTICLE 26 – NO OTHER AGREEMENT 
 
The employer agrees not to enter into any other agreement written or verbal, with employees individually or collectively, which in 
any way conflicts with the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 27 – CHANGES IN THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT 
 
If either party desires to negotiate any changes in this Agreement to become effective after the end of the term of this Agreement 
or any extension thereof, they shall notify the other party in writing of its desire to enter into such negotiating one hundred-eighty 
(180) days prior to the end of the contract period.  The other party shall acknowledge receipt of such notice, in writing, within five 
(5) days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. 
 
ARTICLE 28 – TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement expresses the complete agreement and understanding of the parties on all matters pertaining to wages, hours 
and working conditions and constitutes the full settlement of all bargaining issues for the term of the Agreement. 
 
This Agreement shall become effective as of January 1, 2023, and remain in full force and effect to and including December 31, 
2025, and shall renew itself for additional one year periods thereafter unless either party pursuant to Article 27 had notified the 
other party in writing that it desires to alter or amend this Agreement at the end of the contract period. 
 
ARTICLE 29 – FUNCTION OF MANAGEMENT 
 
Except as herein otherwise provided, the Management of the Department and the direction of the working forces, including the 
right to hire, promote, demote, layoff, suspend without pay, discharge for proper cause, transfer, determine the number of 
employees to be assigned to any job classification, and to determine the job classifications needed to operate the Employer’s 
jurisdiction is vested exclusively in the Employer. 
 
It is further agreed, except as herein otherwise provided, that the responsibilities of Management include, but are not limited to 
those outlined in this Agreement.  In addition to any specified herein, the Employer shall be responsible for fulfilling all normal 
managerial obligations, such as planning, changing or developing new methods of work performance, establishing necessary 
policies, organizations and procedures, assigning work and establishing work schedules and of applying appropriate means of 
administration and control.  Provided however, that the exercise of the foregoing rights by the City will not be used for the 
purpose of discrimination against any member of the Union or be contrary to any other specific provisions of this Agreement, and 
provided that nothing herein shall be construed to abrogate the provisions of the grievance procedure contained in Article 22. 
 
ARTICLE 30 – AMENDMENT 
 
This Agreement is subject to amendment, alteration or addition only by a subsequent written agreement between and executed 
by the City and the Union when mutually agreeable. 
 
ARTICLE 31 – PROBATIONARY STATUS, NEW EMPLOYEES, TRANSFERS  
 



 

 

18 

 

A. The Chief shall establish order at the time of hire.  New employees shall be considered probationary employees until 
they have been in the employ of the City for 18 months.  At the end of such period, the employee shall acquire seniority 
from the date hired.  Probationary employees shall have all benefits and conditions of work afforded to employees with 
seniority, except tenure and as otherwise expressly noted herein. 
 

B. Promotions:  Employees promoted to a higher classification shall serve in a probationary status for six (6) months, 
during which period they may be reduced to their previous position if they do not demonstrate their ability to perform the 
duties of the new position to the Employer’s satisfaction.  During this period, the employee retains the option to return to 
their previous position.  This period may be extended for an additional six (6) months or up to an additional twelve (12) 
months to satisfy Specialty requirements of the promotion by mutual agreement of the Employer and the Union.  The 
employee involved has the right to be present during discussions between the parties relative to such extensions. 
 

C. Fire fighter/Inspectors who have completed five (5) years of service in the position, or as otherwise approved by the City, 
may request to return to the position of Fire fighter by submitting a request to the Chief.  The employee will be required 
to remain in the Fire fighter/Inspector position until the department can transition a new employee to the appropriate 
training level.  Returning employees will be subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Must be qualified as a relief driver for a period of two years.  Prior to December 31,2019, candidates that 

successfully complete the driver’s academy must be qualified as a relief driver for 6-months.  After January 1, 2020, 
candidates that successfully complete the driver’s academy must be qualified as a relief driver for 2-years. 
 

2. If the employee was previously qualified as an Acting Company Officer, or a Company Officer, the employee must 
return to the acting list for a minimum period of two (2) years and at least six (6) months immediately preceding the 
promotion to Company Officer.  Any time served on the acting list prior to transferring to the Fire fighter/Inspector 
position shall count toward the acting requirement as posted on the vacancy announcement and such time served in 
the position of Fire fighter/Inspector shall not count as an interruption to the acting requirement timeframe. 

 
ARTICLE 32 – CONTINUING EDUCATION 
 
The City will reimburse employees for one-half of the cost of tuition and books for continuing education courses or programs, 
provided that the employee submits evidence of a passing grade and further provided that the Chief or their designee has 
approved, in advance, the employee’s participation in such course or program.  Such approval shall not entitle the employee to 
payment or time off pursuant to Articles 5A and 4E of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 33 – PHYSICAL FITNESS 
A. Effective January 1, 1991, all Protective Status employees must participate in the following program.  If they  
             do so, and later decide to again participate, their continued participation shall be mandatory.  All employees  
             participating in the program shall be required to maintain a fitness level of “III” or better, in accordance with  
             the agreed upon Fitness Standards.   
B. All employees will be tested for fitness levels annually, except that those who fall below the “III” level shall be  
             tested monthly until they reach and maintain a “III” level.  The employer shall schedule one test date and one  
             make-up date for each shift.  Employees unable to test with their assigned shift may test on alternative test  
             dates.  Employees who test on their off-duty time shall not be compensated for attendance at the testing  
             procedure. 
C. Employees whose fitness level falls below the “III” level must show progress toward the “III” level in their  
             monthly testing and must reach the “III” level within one year. 
D. Employees may be subject to progressive discipline for failure to comply with “3” above.  

 
E. All employees who test above the “III” level shall be compensated based upon the physical fitness schedule in  
             Exhibit “A”.  The results of the annual testing shall be reflected in pay rates during the subsequent calendar  



 

 

19 

 

             year. 
F. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as a waiver of any employee’s rights under State Statutes 62.13  
             or Article 22 or this agreement. 
G.       Any employee who is certified by a physician as being unable to perform any of the aspects of this program,  
            due to a temporary physical condition, shall be excused from the testing process until the employee is able to    
            participate fully.  Employees shall suffer no loss of pay under this provision for a period not to exceed 180  
            days from the date of the testing process.  The employee may re-test, upon being released to participate by  
            the physician, within that payment period and shall be responsible for coordinating the re-test.  Employees  
            who elect to re-test will be placed in the appropriate pay schedule from the date of the successful re-test until  
            the end of the payment period.  Upon being released to participate by the physician, the employee shall  
            participate in the next scheduled test opportunity. 
 
ARTICLE 34 – NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
The Employer and the Union agree not to discriminate against any individual with respect to hiring, compensation, terms or 
conditions of employment because of such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, marital status, family status, 
sexual orientation or national origin, nor will they limit, segregate or classify employees in any way to deprive any individual 
employee of employment opportunities because of race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, marital status, family status, sexual 
orientation or national origin. 
 
It is agreed that the use of any word in this Agreement which refers to employees in the masculine gender shall be considered to 
refer to employees of both sexes. 
 
ARTICLE 35 – PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 
 
Part-Time employees are defined as those employees who are normally scheduled to work less than 1456 hours per year.  Part-
time employees shall not receive any fringe benefits of this Agreement except that any part-time employee who works more than 
1000 hours in a calendar year shall be eligible for pro-rata benefits, provided the employee meets any other eligibility 
requirements for such benefits. 
 
Pro-rata calculations shall be made by dividing actual hours worked in the calendar by 2912. 
 
Part-time employees shall not be used to circumvent the hiring of new employees for full-time positions. 
 
Any employment opportunity whether caused by a bargaining unit employee’s absence or by a temporary or permanent 
vacancy, shall be offered first to full-time employees.  The offer shall be in accordance with terms of this contract and the parties’ 
past practice.  In the event that no full-time employee accepts the offer of work, then, and only then, may the work be offered to 
any part-time employee.  Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the employer to fill a vacancy, or otherwise employ 
anyone.  However, if employment is offered to any employee, it shall be provided pursuant to the terms of this section. 
 
ARTICLE 36 –  SPECIALTY PAY 
 
The department retains the right to set the number and classifications needed for Specialties.   
A. The department will solely determine whether or not to participate in Specialties. 
B. Employees, who are required by the department to maintain skills or competencies as outlined below will receive 

specialty pay. 
C. Employees electing to participate in a Specialty must make a minimum five (5) year commitment to the Specialty.  

The five years will commence from the date of assignment. 
D. Employees wishing to withdraw from participation must submit a letter of intent to withdraw from the Specialty to the 

Battalion Chief Resource Development and Special Operations or Deputy Fire Chief as appropriate.  The employee 
will be required to remain in the Specialty until the department can transition a new member to the appropriate 



 

 

20 

 

training level. 
E. Employees may be compensated for up to two (2) Specialties.* 
F. Employees must be able to obtain & maintain required training and competencies to satisfy the designated level and 

to the satisfaction of the Fire Chief. 
G. Employees in the position of Fire Fighter/Inspector will be allowed to maintain one specialty at the employee’s option. 
H. Specialty Teams: All team members must obtain and maintain Technician level training. 
I. Hazmat Team Compensation: Each Hazmat Team Technician Member will be paid $10 bi-weekly as specialty pay. 
J. Technical Rescue Team Compensation: Each Technical Rescue Technician Team Member will initially be paid 

$10 bi-weekly as specialty pay, for completion of any two (2) of the four (4) Technical Rescue Elements (Collapse, 
Confined Space, Ropes, Trench).  Participants must make steady progress towards obtaining the needed training 
and skills and are to achieve the full qualifications within two (2) years.  Upon completion of all four (4) elements, 
each Technical Rescue Technician Team Member will be paid $20 bi-weekly as specialty pay.     

K. Swift Water/Ropes Rescue Team Compensation: Each Swift Water Rescue Technician Team Member will be paid 
$10 Bi-weekly as specialty pay.   

L. Confined Space/Ropes Technician level Compensation:  Each employee required to have Confined 
Space/Ropes Technician level training will be paid $10 Bi-weekly as specialty pay.   

 
ARTICLE 37 – ADVANCED LIFE SUPPORT (ALS) ENGINE 
 
 ALS Engines: 

1. Each frontline emergency response vehicle, engines, and ladders, with the exception of 9300, will be staffed with a 
minimum of one paramedic and one Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) under the ALS Engine Company EMS Plan. 

2. The Fire Department will need a minimum of 30 paramedics to ensure coverage 24/7/365. 
a. Note: The State of Wisconsin Department of Health Services allows for a two-year phase in period. ALS 

Engines can begin with less than 30 paramedics and build up to that number over time.  
 
All locally offered courses required by Medical Control to maintain a paramedic license will be sponsored utilizing on- and off-
duty hours. Off duty training will be paid in accordance with the labor agreement. Any out-of-town training course will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis and should not be the primary source of recertification course work. 
 
Once the Fire Department exceeds the minimum number of paramedics (30). A paramedic may choose to be removed from the 
active paramedic pool (process outlined below). Open Fire Fighter/Paramedic positions will be filled by the most senior Fire 
Fighter/Paramedic in the Fire Fighter ranks.  
 
Fire Fighter/Paramedics that choose to drop their paramedic designation must maintain an EMT license. To drop their status, the 
employee will provide a written request to the Deputy Chief of Operations by July 31st of each calendar year. The Fire Chief or 
designee will determine if staffing allows the change from active status. Approvals will be made based on the number of active 
status years as a paramedic first, followed by department seniority. Any approved changes will take place the following January 
during shift alignments. The employee’s pay will be reduced to the appropriate pay scale. 
 
A Fire Fighter/Paramedic may request immediate withdrawal from active status if there is a Fire Fighter/Paramedic that can fill 
the future opening and the Fire Chief approves. 
 



 

 

21 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this   day of   2022. 
 
CITY OF APPLETON 
 
 
BY:         INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF  
  Jacob Woodford, Mayor     FIRE FIGHTERS, LOCAL 257 
 
 
Attest:               

        President 

 

BY:                

 Kami Lynch, City Clerk     Vice President 

 

         

Approved as to form:       

 

         

Chris Behrens, City Attorney      

 

Provision has been made to pay any liability     

which may accrue under this contract.     

 

 

         

Jeri Ohman, Director of Finance    

City of Appleton 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

22 

 

EXHIBIT A 

2023 - 2025 FIRE FIGHTER/EMR SALARY SCHEDULE 
12/1/23 - 2.25%  
7/1/24 - 1%  
12/1/24 -2% 
12/1/25 - 2.5% 

  
1/1/2023* 

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2023  

Hourly Rate 
7/1/2024  

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2024 

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2025 

Hourly Rate  

FIRE FIGHTER  

Start step 0 - 1 year $29.3000 $29.9593 $30.2589 $30.8641 $31.6357  

1 - 2 years $30.1500 $30.8284 $31.1367 $31.7594 $32.5534  

2 - 3 years $31.1000 $31.7998 $32.1178 $32.7602 $33.5792  

3 - 4 years $31.9800 $32.6996 $33.0266 $33.6871 $34.5293  

4 - 5 years $32.8900 $33.6300 $33.9663 $34.6456 $35.5117  

5 - 6 years $33.8800 $34.6423 $34.9887 $35.6885 $36.5807  

6 - 7 years $34.9400 $35.7262 $36.0835 $36.8052 $37.7253  

7 - 8 years $35.9600 $36.7691 $37.1368 $37.8795 $38.8265  

Over 8 years $37.3900 $38.2313 $38.6136 $39.3859 $40.3705  
       

FIRE FIGHTER/INSPECTOR  

Start Step $38.6900 $39.5605 $39.9561 $40.7552 $41.7741  

1 Year Step $39.8700 $40.7671 $41.1748 $41.9983 $43.0483  
       

FIRE DRIVER ENGINEER  

Start Step $38.2000 $39.0595 $39.4501 $40.2391 $41.2451  

1 Year Step $39.0100 $39.8877 $40.2866 $41.0923 $42.1196  
       

FIRE LIEUTENANT  

Start Step $39.8700 $40.7671 $41.1748 $41.9983 $43.0483  

1 Year Step $40.7500 $41.6669 $42.0836 $42.9253 $43.9984  
       

FIRE CAPTAIN  

Start Step $41.5700 $42.5053 $42.9304 $43.7890 $44.8837  

1 Year Step $42.3500 $43.3029 $43.7359 $44.6106 $45.7259  
       
*1/1/2023 rate is the 10/1/2022 rate from the 2020-2022 contract and rounded to four digits.          
New employees possessing career firefighting experience, at the discretion of the Chief, may be hired at any step up to and including 
the 4-5 year step of the pay schedule. For purposes of future pay advancement, such employees shall be deemed to have the years 
of service which their pay step represents. For all other purposes, seniority shall be determined from the actual date that the 
employee was hired. 
       

Physical Fitness Pay - Employees will be paid an additional 1% or 2% which will be added to their hourly base wage as outlined in 
Article 33. 

 



 

 

23 

 

2023 - 2025 FIRE FIGHTER/EMT SALARY SCHEDULE 
12/1/23 - 2.25%  
7/1/24 - 1%  
12/1/24 - 2% 
12/1/25 - 2.5% 

  
1/1/2023* 

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2023  

Hourly Rate 
7/1/2024  

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2024 

Hourly Rate 
12/1/2025 

Hourly Rate 

FIRE FIGHTER  

Start step 0 - 1 year $29.5930 $30.2589 $30.5615 $31.1727 $31.9521 

1 - 2 years $30.4515 $31.1367 $31.4481 $32.0770 $32.8789 

2 - 3 years $31.4110 $32.1178 $32.4390 $33.0878 $33.9150 

3 - 4 years $32.2998 $33.0266 $33.3569 $34.0240 $34.8746 

4 - 5 years $33.2189 $33.9663 $34.3060 $34.9921 $35.8668 

5 - 6 years $34.2188 $34.9887 $35.3386 $36.0454 $36.9465 

6 - 7 years $35.2894 $36.0835 $36.4443 $37.1733 $38.1026 

7 - 8 years $36.3196 $37.1368 $37.5082 $38.2583 $39.2148 

Over 8 years $37.7639 $38.6136 $38.9997 $39.7798 $40.7742 
       

FIRE FIGHTER/INSPECTOR  

Start Step $39.0769 $39.9561 $40.3557 $41.1628 $42.1918 

1 Year Step $40.2687 $41.1748 $41.5865 $42.4183 $43.4788 

        

FIRE DRIVER ENGINEER  

Start Step $38.5820 $39.4501 $39.8446 $40.6415 $41.6576 

1 Year Step $39.4001 $40.2866 $40.6895 $41.5032 $42.5408 
       

FIRE LIEUTENANT  

Start Step $40.2687 $41.1748 $41.5865 $42.4183 $43.4788 

1 Year Step $41.1575 $42.0836 $42.5044 $43.3546 $44.4384 

        

FIRE CAPTAIN  

Start Step $41.9857 $42.9304 $43.3597 $44.2269 $45.3325 

1 Year Step $42.7735 $43.7359 $44.1733 $45.0567 $46.1832 
       
New employees possessing career firefighting experience, at the discretion of the Chief, may be hired at any step up to and including 
the 4-5 year step of the pay schedule. For purposes of future pay advancement, such employees shall be deemed to have the years 
of service which their pay step represents. For all other purposes, seniority shall be determined from the actual date that the 
employee was hired. 
       
EMT pay started on 1/1/2021 for union personnel who have their EMT certification.  Once this EMT certification is obtained, it must 
be maintained. EMT pay is 1% over the employees base wage under the Fire Fighter EMR wage schedule. 
       

*1/1/2023 rate is the 10/1/2022 rate from the 2020-2022 contract with the EMT of 1% added to the base rate vs. 
being based on the over 8-year Fire Fighter rate. 

 

      
       
Physical Fitness Pay - Employees will be paid an additional 1% or 2% which will be added to their hourly base wage as outlined in 
Article 33 

 



 

 

24 

 

2023 - 2025 FIRE FIGHTER/PARAMEDIC ASSIGNED TO ALS ENGINE SALARY SCHEDULE 
12/1/23 - 2.25%  
7/1/24 - 1%  
12/1/24 - 2% 
12/1/25 - 2.5% 

  
1/1/2023* Hourly 
Rate 

12/1/2023  
Hourly Rate 

7/1/2024  
Hourly Rate 

12/1/2024 
Hourly Rate 

12/1/2025 
Hourly Rate 

FIRE FIGHTER  

Start step 0 - 1 year $30.3988 $31.0828 $31.3936 $32.0215 $32.8220 

1 - 2 years $31.2806 $31.9845 $32.3043 $32.9504 $33.7742 

2 - 3 years $32.2663 $32.9923 $33.3222 $33.9887 $34.8384 

3 - 4 years $33.1793 $33.9258 $34.2651 $34.9504 $35.8241 

4 - 5 years $34.1234 $34.8911 $35.2400 $35.9448 $36.8434 

5 - 6 years $35.1505 $35.9414 $36.3008 $37.0268 $37.9525 

6 - 7 years $36.2503 $37.0659 $37.4366 $38.1854 $39.1400 

7 - 8 years $37.3085 $38.1479 $38.5294 $39.3000 $40.2825 

Over 8 years $38.7921 $39.6650 $40.0616 $40.8629 $41.8844 

       

FIRE FIGHTER/INSPECTOR  

Start Step $40.1409 $41.0440 $41.4545 $42.2835 $43.3406 

1 Year Step $41.3651 $42.2959 $42.7189 $43.5732 $44.6626 

       

FIRE DRIVER ENGINEER  

Start Step $39.6325 $40.5242 $40.9295 $41.7481 $42.7918 

1 Year Step $40.4729 $41.3835 $41.7973 $42.6333 $43.6991 

       

FIRE LIEUTENANT  

Start Step $41.3651 $42.2959 $42.7189 $43.5732 $44.6626 

1 Year Step $42.2781 $43.2294 $43.6617 $44.5350 $45.6483 

       

FIRE CAPTAIN  

Start Step $43.1289 $44.0992 $44.5403 $45.4311 $46.5668 

1 Year Step $43.9381 $44.9268 $45.3760 $46.2835 $47.4406 
       
New employees possessing career firefighting experience, at the discretion of the Chief, may be hired at any step up to and including 
the 4-5 year step of the pay schedule. For purposes of future pay advancement, such employees shall be deemed to have the years of 
service which their pay step represents. For all other purposes, seniority shall be determined from the actual date that the employee 
was hired. 
       
Paramedic pay will begin when the AFD operates ALS Engines. Once this paramedic certification is obtained, it must be maintained.  
Paramedic pay is 3.75% over the employees base wage under the Fire Fighter/EMR wage schedule. 

*1/1/2023 rate is the 10/1/2022 rate from the 2020-2022 contract with the paramedic pay of 3.75% added to the base 
rate. 

 

       

Physical Fitness Pay - Employees will be paid an additional 1% or 2% which will be added to their hourly base wage as outlined in 
Article 33 

 



 

 

25 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

DISCIPLINARY ACTION SCHEDULE  
 
The following shall generally constitute the penalties to be imposed for violation of the Department’s rules of conduct.  The Chief 
shall furnish copies of all written reprimands to the Union. 
 
A. Generally, an employee will be subject to discharge or such lesser penalty or punishment as the Chief in their discretion 

may impose, for violations of the following rules: 
 

1. Dishonesty, theft of personal property of another employee or City property. 
 

2. Drunkenness, drinking, being under the influence or in possession of alcoholic beverages while on duty and/or on 
City property or when in uniform in a public place provided, however, that having such beverages in a locked 
personal vehicle shall not be considered “possession” for purposes of this Paragraph. 

 
Notwithstanding the above, the following provisions shall generally be utilized when test results for breath alcohol 
are positive: 
a. If test results demonstrate the presence of any breath alcohol concentration, the employee shall be subject 

to discipline without receipt of a prior warning letter based on the following schedule: 
1. Concentration equal to or above the State legal limit as set forth in Wis. Stats. § 340.01  
      (46m)(a) - discharge. 
2.  Concentration equal to or above .04% but less than the State legal limit as set forth in   
     Wis. Stats. § 340.01 (46m)(a) - one week suspension without pay 
3.  Any concentration less than .04% - suspension without pay for the balance of the workday 
     plus one day. 

b. In addition to the above, any employee who has a breath alcohol concentration of less than the State legal 
limit as set forth in Wis. Stats. § 340.01 (46m)(a) shall be required as a condition of continued employment, 
to submit to assessment under the Employee Assistance Program and to comply fully with any 
recommendations made under that program. 

c. Any employee who has been suspended pursuant to the above and who subsequently has a positive breath 
alcohol test shall be subject to discharge. 

 
3. Use of, being under the influence or in possession of any controlled substance while on duty and/or on City 

property or when in uniform in a public place, unless such substance has been legally prescribed.   
 

4. Refusal to comply with direct orders of supervisor. 
 

5. Absence of two (2) consecutive working days without authorization by Operations personnel. 
 

6. Immoral or indecent conduct, rape, attempted rape, or felony sexual assault. 
 

7. Willfully endangering others while on duty. 
 

8. Willful or malicious damage to vehicle or equipment. 
 
B. Generally, an employee shall be subject upon the first offense to a written reprimand; upon second offense, twenty-four 

(24) hours suspension without pay; upon third offense, discharge or such lesser penalty or punishment as the Chief in 
their discretion may impose for violation of the following rules: 

 



 

 

26 

 

1. Being absent from duty, without authorization (employee has not arrived at their duty station nor has the employee 
called in to the officer in charge with a valid excuse within one hour of the start of their shift.) 

 
2. Sleeping on duty during unauthorized rest periods or without permission of officer in charge.  Such unauthorized 

times shall be 0700 hours to 1200 hours and 1300 hours to 2100 hours and any other time a Fire Fighter is 
performing assigned duties but does not include authorized lunch periods. 

 
3. Gambling while on duty. 

 
4. Violation of safety rules or common-sense safety practices. 

 
5. Failure to report vehicle accident to supervisor. 

 
6. Performance of services or obligations of a personal nature while on duty and without permission. 

 
7. Carrying unauthorized passengers in City owned vehicles. 

 
8. Failure to check in and out with the officer in charge when leaving station during duty hours. 

 
9. For violation of any rules of conduct not specifically addressed elsewhere in this exhibit “B”. 

 
C.  Generally, operations employees shall be subject to no penalty or punishment whatsoever for the first two offenses, upon 

third offense, a written reprimand, upon fourth offense, twenty-four (24) hours suspension without pay, upon fifth offense, 
forty-eight (48) hours suspension without pay, upon sixth offense, discharge or such lesser penalty or punishment as the 
Chief in their discretion may impose for violation of the following rules: 

 
1. Tardiness.  Tardiness shall be defined as an absence from duty less than one (1) hour after an employee’s shift 

starting time. 
 

Provided, however, that all previous warnings or penalties will be stricken from an employee’s record after one (1) 
year from previous tardy offense to the extent they apply to disciplinary decisions that are not subject to Secs. 
62.13(5)(em) and (5)(i), Stats. Stricken shall not imply that this will be physically removed from the employee’s file; 
rather, that it will not be used to determine future discipline. 
 
And further provided that all previous warnings or penalties shall not be stricken from an employee’s record after 
one (1) year from previous tardy offense to the extent they apply to disciplinary decisions that are subject to Secs. 
62.13(5)(em) and (5)(i), Stats. 

 
D. The term “24 hours suspension without pay” shall be defined to mean the employee will be suspended 24 work hours and 

be deducted 24 hours pay provided, however, this section shall not be implemented in a manner that violates the Fair 
Labor Standards Act.  For this purpose, the hourly rate is established by dividing the wage rate shown in Exhibit A by 80. 

 
E. Prior disciplinary action for a related offense shall not be used as a basis for progressive discipline when one year or more 

has elapsed since the previous related offense to the extent they apply to disciplinary decisions that are not subject to 
Secs. 62.13(5)(em) and (5)(i), Stats. 

 
And further provided that all prior disciplinary action for a related offense shall be used as a basis for progressive 
discipline when one year or more has elapsed since the previous related offense to the extent they apply to disciplinary 
decisions that are subject to Secs. 62.13(5)(em) and (5)(i), Stats. 



 

 

27 

 

City of Appleton 
and 

Fire Fighters Local 257 
Side Letter Agreement- 

Implementation of N.F.P.A. Physicals 
August 23, 2002 

 
The City of Appleton will pay the cost of the annual medical evaluations.  Any follow-up evaluation or treatment for medical 
conditions identified during the annual physical will be paid for in accordance with the health insurance benefits provided in the 
bargaining agreement. 
 
1. In accordance with NFPA 1582 Section 1-3.2, the requirements of NFPA 1582 will be phased in based upon employees 

hiring dates. The standard will be utilized as a recommendation for all employees hired prior to January 1, 2002. In 
addition, employees hired prior to January 1, 2002, the following language will be followed, in accordance with NFPA 
section 2-5.3, the fire department physician shall not medically certify any current member for return to duty if any 
Category A or B medical conditions specified in Chapter 3 of the standard is present, that is determined to be severe 
enough to affect the member’s performance. For employees hired after January 1, 2002, in accordance with section 2-
5.2, the fire department physician shall not medically certify the current member for return to duty if any Category A 
medical condition specified in Chapter 3 of the standard is present. 
 

2. The City will make every attempt to schedule the medical evaluation on duty.  If the medical evaluation needs to be 
performed off-duty, the employee shall be paid according to the Collective Bargaining Agreement, ARTICLE 5 – 
Overtime-D.  Such compensation will not offset the employee’s FLSA time. 

 
3. The City agrees to comply with the NFPA Standard recommendations and State Statutes with regard to medical 

evaluation records, results, reporting and confidentiality. 
 
4. The intent of the NFPA annual physical is not to institute a random drug-screening program. 
 
5. When the City physician determines that an employee is not fit for duty, the employee may, at his or her own expense, 

choose to seek a medical opinion from another physician. After the second physician has rendered their opinion, and if, 
the opinions of the City’s physician and the employee’s physician are in conflict, the employee will be asked to sign a 
release so that the two physicians can discuss their opinions. (The most current copy of the Patient Registration 
Release form will be provided).  Should the two physicians be unable to resolve those conflicts, the City will agree to pay 
for another medical exam conducted by a physician practicing in the field related to the disputed medical condition.  This 
third physician will be mutually agreed upon by both the City’s and employee’s physicians and the opinion of this third 
physician shall be final.  Should the employee refuse to sign a release allowing the City’s physician to communicate with 
the employee’s physician, the third opinion shall not be obtained and the decision of the City’s physician shall be final. 
 
Once the City physician and employee’s physician have agreed on a third physician, the City Human Resources 
Department shall be notified of the selection.  The Human Resources Department will schedule the appointment with the 
selected physician’s office and notify the employee of the scheduled time.  The employee shall be placed on paid 
administrative leave pending the decision of the third physician.  In the event the employee does not keep the scheduled 
appointment, absent an unusual emergency, the employee will be placed on unpaid administrative leave from the date 
of the original appointment until the third opinion is rendered.    

 
6. In the event an employee is determined to be unfit for full duty, the employee may be offered alternate duty. 

 
7. In the event that the employee is determined to be unfit for full duty the employee may utilize paid leave under the 

collective bargaining agreement and any leave available by law.  In the event that an employee has exhausted all 
available paid leave, said employee shall be placed on a leave of absence without pay.  An employee placed on unpaid 
leave pursuant to this letter, will receive up to a total of three (3) months continued Health and Dental Insurance 
benefits, paid for by the City, in addition to the employees’ entitlement under the FMLA.  This three (3) month extension 
of Health and Dental Insurance benefits is based upon the condition resulting in the employee being determined to be 



 

 

28 

 

unfit for full duty, and, unlike FMLA benefits, does not result in a new entitlement with the beginning of a new calendar 
year. 
 

8. In accordance with the NFPA standard, the Department shall provide encouragement and resources to the employee so 
as to expedite their return to full duty.  Such resources shall include: the City’s Employee Assistance Program, 
recommendations from the City’s physician, access to the Fire Department’s fitness facility-with a physician’s release 
and a signed consent/waiver form (attached).  

9. A copy of NFPA 1582 shall be utilized as a reference. 

 
 

 



1 

 CITY OF APPLETON 

POLICY 

 

TITLE: 

FRINGE BENEFITS 
 
ISSUE DATE: 

April 6, 2000 

 
LAST UPDATE: 
December 18, 2002, April 17, 2003 
September 11, 2003, July 2004, February 2006 

November 2006, September 2009, January 2010 

November 2011, August 2012, April 2014, 

December 2015, September 2016, December 

2017, April 2019, February 2021 

 
SECTION: 
 
Human Resources 

 
POLICY SOURCE: Human 

Resources Department 

POLICY AUDIENCE: 

All Employees   

Excludes Valley Transit, Police and 

Fire protective employees covered 

by a collective bargaining 

agreement. 

 
TOTAL PAGES: 17 

  

 
Reviewed by Legal Services Date:  

March 2000  

July 21, 2004 
September 2009 

June 27, 2014 

December 2015 

May 2021 

 
Committee Approval Date:  

March 28, 2000  

July 28, 2004 
March 22, 2006  

October 28, 2009 

December 12, 2011 

August 20, 2012 

July 21, 2014 

December 7, 2015 

December 11, 2019 
May 12, 2021 

 
Council Approval Date:  

April 5, 2000  

August 4, 2004 
April 5, 2006  

November 4, 2009 

December 21, 2011 

September 5, 2012 

August 6, 2014 

December 16, 2015 

December 18, 2019 
May 19, 2021 

 

I.  PURPOSE 
 

To outline for employees the fringe benefits available to all employees, excluding represented Valley 

Transit, Police and Fire protective employees.    
 

II.  POLICY 
 

It is the policy of the City of Appleton to make available fringe benefits as outlined in this policy.  It is 

also the policy of the City of Appleton to provide incentives, recognize significant levels of 

responsibilities, and to attract and retain qualified employees by offering comparable benefits.     
 

III.   DISCUSSION 
 

This policy provides the current fringe benefits available.  These benefits are subject to change with 

approval of the Common Council. 
 

IV.  DEFINITIONS  
 

A. Regular Full-Time (exempt): Employees who work a minimum of 2080 hours per year or 80 hours 

bi-weekly and not eligible for overtime or compensatory time for any hours worked beyond 40 hours 

per week.  A full-time exempt employee is expected to work whatever hours necessary to complete 

the job they have been hired for.  Employees who are classified as exempt are paid on a “salaried 

basis” meaning that the person will be paid the same full salary for any week in which work is 

performed without regard to the number of hours worked.   

 



2 

B. Regular Full-Time (non-exempt): Employees who work 2080 hours per year and are eligible for 

overtime after working 40 hours per week. 

 

C. Regular Part-Time (exempt): Employees who are normally scheduled to work a minimum 1040 

hours per year but less than 2080 hours per year and are not eligible for overtime or compensatory 

time for any hours worked beyond their standard bi-weekly hours.   

 

D. Regular Part-Time (non-exempt): Employees who are normally scheduled to work a minimum 1040 

hours per year but less than 2080 hours per year and are eligible for straight time pay for hours 

worked beyond their standard biweekly hours and for overtime after working 40 hours per week. 

 
E. Non-represented: All employees whose benefits are not covered by a Collective Bargaining 

Agreement.  

 

F. Represented:  Employees whose benefits are covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement.  Those 

include: Valley Transit Teamster Local 662, Appleton Professional Police Non-supervisory Unit and 

the Appleton International Association of Firefighters Local 257. 

  

G. Domestic Partner:  Persons without registration that meet the following criteria: 

 a.     Each individual is at least 18 years old and competent to enter into a contract; 

 b.     Neither individual is married to, or in a domestic partnership with, another; 

 c.    They share a common residence 

 d.    Their partnership must not violate Wisconsin Statutes which bar marriage between certain 

persons based on kinship and divorce; 

 e.    They must consider themselves to be members of each other’s immediate family and 

 f.    They must agree to be responsible for each other’s basic living expenses. 

 

Employees who wish to utilize the funeral leave benefits available for domestic partners must submit 

in writing to the Human Resources Department proof that the criteria listed above in (a-f) are met.  

Human Resources will make a determination on eligibility based on the information provided by the 

employee.  

 

H.  Look-Back Measurement Period:  Rules set by Health Care Reform to offer coverage to an employee 

who at time of hire wasn’t eligible for medical insurance coverage.  If during measurement period 

the employee’s hours increase to over 30 hours per week on average then must be offered medical 
insurance.  Measurement Period is the 12 months the City will use to review hours worked in the 

calculation.  Administrative Period is the 60 day period for the City to administratively compute 

hours work to know if insurance should be offered.  Stability Period is the 12 month period of time 

that once an employee qualifies must be allowed to stay on medical insurance. 

 

V. BENEFITS 

 

A. Health and Dental Insurance 

 

1.  Health Insurance: 

Regular full-time and part-time employees working 30 hours or more per week, shall be eligible 

for health insurance benefit plan options as outlined in Attachment A. 

 

Effective January 1, 2013 part-time employees who are enrolled in the City health insurance 

program shall be grandfathered and will continue to be eligible for health insurance benefits 



3 

provided they maintain their enrollment in the plan.  If said employee chooses to drop coverage 

the part-time employee must work 30 hours per week to re-enroll. 

  

  Health insurance is effective upon the 31st calendar day of employment. Employees not enrolling 

  at this time will be required to provide a certificate of previous insurance coverage or will have to 

  wait until the open enrollment period for coverage the following calendar year.  
 

Premiums will be deducted from the employee’s payroll check.  All premiums will be taken on a 

pre-tax basis unless the employee notifies the Human Resources Department in writing of their 

desire to have the premium deducted on a taxable basis. Any payments for insurance premiums 
that cannot be taken through payroll, are due on or before the first of the month for the month of 

coverage to the Human Resources Department.  Failure to make timely payments may cause 

cancellation of coverage. 

 

Employees who have a spouse who also work for the City must select either one family plan or 

two single plans. 

 

The City will follow the Health Care Reform Act look-back provision in order to determine if a 

previously not eligible employee becomes eligible for medical insurance.  The Measurement 

Period will be November 1 through October 31.  The Administrative Period will be November 1 
through December 31.  The Stability Period will be January 1 through December 31.   

 

2. Dental Insurance:   

Regular full-time and part-time employees shall be eligible for a dental insurance benefit plan as 

outlined in Attachment B. 

     

Premiums will be deducted from the employee’s payroll check.  All premiums will be taken on a 

pre-tax basis unless the employee notifies the Human Resources Department in writing of their 

desire to have the premium deducted on a taxable basis. Any payments for insurance premiums 

that cannot be taken through payroll, are due on or before the first of the month for the month of 
coverage to the Human Resources Department.  Failure to make timely payments may cause 

cancellation of coverage. 

 

 Dental insurance is effective upon the 31st calendar day of employment. Employees not enrolling 

at this time will have to wait until the open enrollment period for coverage the following 

calendar year.  

   

Employees who have a spouse who also work for the City must select either one family plan or 

two single plans. 

   

Life Insurance  

 

1.   Basic Life Insurance:  Regular full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible for term 

life insurance in an amount equal to one times the employee’s annual salary rounded to the next 
even thousand increment to a maximum of $50,000.  The City shall pay the full cost of the 

premium. 

   

2.   Optional Life Insurance:  In addition to the $50,000 term life insurance, regular full-time and 

regular part-time employees can purchase optional life insurance in $10,000 increments.  

Optional life insurance can be purchased for spouse and dependent children.  The employee must 

pay the full premium for all optional life insurance. 



4 

 

Life insurance is effective on the first of the month after thirty-one (31) calendar days of 

employment. 

 

B. Long-Term Disability Insurance 

 

Regular full-time and regular part-time employees will be eligible for long-term disability 

insurance.  Coverage will be provided at 60 % of the employee’s salary for non-work related 

injuries or illnesses after a ninety (90)-calendar day waiting period.  The carrier must deem 

employees eligible.  The City shall pay the full cost of the premium. 

   
Long-term disability insurance is effective on the first of the month after ninety (90) 

(uninterrupted) calendar days of employment. 

 

C. Wisconsin Retirement System   

 

The City shall pay one half of all actuarially required contribution for funding benefits under the 

retirement system for regular full-time and regular part-time employees, this excludes Police and 

Fire protective employees. Participation in the Wisconsin Retirement System is mandatory. 

 

D. Deferred Compensation Program (Section 457 Plan)/Roth 

 

 Regular full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible to participate in the City Deferred 

Compensation Program upon enrollment into the program anytime on or after their first day of 

employment.  Any amounts contributed to the program, which must be by payroll deduction, are 

paid for fully by the employee.  Under this plan, you may contribute money (on a pre-tax basis) 

in a tax deferred investment of your choice to earn tax deferred interest until you are ready to 

receive distributions, usually at retirement.  There is also a Roth option that must be by payroll 

deduction and is paid for fully by the employee.  This allows you to contribute money (on an 

after tax basis) to investments of your choice. 

 

E. Post Employment Health Plan (PEHP) 

 

The City of Appleton participates in the PEHP for Non-Represented Public Employees in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan’s Participation Agreement.  
 

1.   Monthly Contributions: 

The City agrees to contribute to the Plan on behalf of all regular full-time non-represented 

employees.  The City shall contribute for each Eligible Employee the amount of ten dollars ($10) 

per month.  

 

The City shall pay the annual administration fee on behalf of the eligible active employee. The 

procedure for payment of the administration fee shall be accomplished by a deduction and 

reimbursement directly into the employee’s account.   

 

Regular part-time employees are not eligible for payment of the annual administration fee or the 

monthly contribution to the PEHP.   

 

2.    Additional Contributions: 

In addition to the monthly contribution amount, the City will contribute upon retirement, the 

value of unused sick leave of an Eligible Employee’s accumulated sick leave balance to the 



5 

maximum as follows: 

90 days for formerly represented AFSCME employees; 

90 days plus any accumulated physical fitness bonus incentive for Police Captains and 

Lieutenants and; 

120 days plus any accumulated physical fitness bonus incentive for Police/Fire 

administrative protective status personnel and 

120 days for all other employees 

 (For purposes of the additional contribution, an Eligible Employee is an employee who is 

qualified for an annuity under the Wisconsin Retirement System.)  

 

  PEHP contributions are not reportable earnings to the Wisconsin Retirement System. 
 

Contributions to the PEHP may only be used after an employee leaves employment with the City 

of Appleton.  Monthly contributions are placed into an account that may be used to pay for IRS 

qualified expenses.  The additional contributions are placed into an account that may be used to 

pay for premium contributions only. 

 

F. Flexible Spending Account: All regular full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible to 

participate in the flexible spending account program.  Enrollment shall be January 1 of each year 

for existing employees or within thirty (30) calendar days for newly hired employees or for 

qualifying status changes.  This program allows the employee to use pre-tax funds to pay for IRS 

qualified expenses.  It also allows pre-tax funds for dependent day care expenses for children 

under the age of thirteen (13) or day care expenses for disabled dependents. 

  

G. Worker’s Compensation: Regular full-time employees and regular part-time employees shall 

receive worker’s compensation benefits based on state worker’s compensation laws, with the 

exception’s that there shall be no cap on the weekly (TTD) temporary total disability payments 

and they be compensated for the first three days at 66 2/3% following the date of injury, after the 

7 day period is met.   All protected police and fire personnel shall receive the same benefit 

afforded to the represented employees in the department. 

 

H. Tuition Reimbursement: All regular full-time non-represented employees who successfully 

complete job related continuing education courses toward a degreed program shall be reimbursed 

for fifty percent (50%) of the cost of tuition and books.  The total amount reimbursed will not 

exceed fifty percent (50%) of the amount charged by the University of Wisconsin system for 
similar courses that is paid by the employee.  

 

Library employees shall be reimbursed for up to 25% of the cost of tuition and books, paid by 

the employee, not to exceed that charged by the University of Wisconsin system for similar 

courses for graduate Library education.  

 

The department head and the Director of Human Resources must approve participation in such 

courses, in advance.  Successful completion shall mean a passing grade if the course or program 

is graded on a pass/fail basis or a grade of “C” or better if letter grades are issued.  Class 

participation will be on the employee’s own time. 

 

All tuition reimbursement requests shall be subject to available departmental funds.  

Reimbursements from other sources will offset City contributions. (ie; grants). 

 

I. Direct Deposit: All employees are required to have their payroll checks direct deposited into a 

bank or credit union of their choice.  The full amount of the deposit must go into one account. 



6 

 

J. Employee Assistance Program (EAP): The City sponsors an EAP to help employees and those 

living in their households maintain healthy levels of emotional, work-life, and physical well-

being, and to limit the effect of personal problems on job performance. All employees and those 

living in their households are eligible to utilize resources and services offered through the EAP. 

This benefit comes at no cost to the employee or participant and is designed to provide short-

term confidential counseling and referral services, financial information and resources, legal 

support and resources, work-life solutions, and Guidance Resources Online. Services rendered 

by the EAP are provided through a contract with a private employee assistance consulting firm.  

 

K. Other Benefits:  Other voluntary benefits may be offered based on the City’s discretion.  
 

VI.             PAID LEAVE   

Employees shall receive a total of twelve (12) holidays per year (this includes scheduled 

holidays, as listed below).  When a holiday falls on Saturday or Sunday, it shall be determined by 

the Mayor in November of the previous year, if service to the public will be required on the 

Friday or Monday.  If it is determined that service will be provided to the public, employees shall 

work those days as part of their normal workweek and will be given a floating holiday off in lieu 

of the Friday before and/or the Monday after a holiday to be scheduled with supervisory 

approval.  Department Directors will inform employees the November prior to the beginning of 

the following year of any variations of the following schedules.  For those employees who are 

not required to service the public as noted above, when New Years, Independence Day, or 

Christmas falls on Saturday they shall be observed on the preceding Friday and when they fall on 

Sunday it they shall be observed on the following Monday. 

 

A. Holidays: the City (excluding Valley Transit and Library) shall observe the following holidays: 

  

1. New Year’s Day 

2. Memorial Day 

3. Independence Day 

4. Labor Day 

5. Thanksgiving Day 

6. Day after Thanksgiving 

7. Last working day before Christmas  

8. Christmas Day 
9. Four floating holidays 

10. Any additional holidays granted by the Common Council 

 

  Valley Transit shall observe the following holidays: 

 

1. New Year’s Day 

2. Memorial Day 

3. Independence Day 

4. Labor Day 

5. Thanksgiving Day 

6. Christmas Day 

7. Six floating holidays 

8. Any additional holidays granted by the Common Council. 

 

  The Appleton Public Library shall observe the following holidays: 

 



7 

1. New Year’s Day 

2. Memorial Day 

3. Independence Day 

4. Labor Day 

5. Thanksgiving Day 

6. Christmas Eve  

7. Christmas Day  

8. New Year’s Eve 

9. Four floating holidays 

10. Any additional holidays granted by the Common Council and Library Board 

   
Regular full-time employees are eligible for holidays based on eight (8) hours for each of the 

above listed holidays.  .  Police Lieutenants and Captains who are required to work (minimum 

staffing) on Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve or Christmas Day shall 

be entitled to receive $100 compensation and will be allowed to take an alternative day off. 

 

Regular part-time employees are eligible for holidays pro-rated based on the approved budgeted 

position.  If one of the above listed holidays falls on a regularly scheduled day off for a regular 

part-time employee, the employee may have the option, with department head approval, of 

taking pay for the holiday, taking an additional day off during the pay period or scheduling the 

holiday as a floating holiday to be used by December 31. 

 

Floating Holidays may be charged in one quarter hour increments and/or pursuant to 

departmental policy.  Floating Holidays must be used during the calendar year or they will be 

lost.  Department directors/ or designee shall approve the number of employees off on a floating 

holiday at any one given time, as well as how employees will pick floating holidays and whether 

or not employees will be allowed to cancel scheduled floating holidays. 

 

In order for regular full-time and regular part-time employees to be eligible for holiday pay, they 

must work their regularly scheduled work day immediately preceding and following the holiday, 

except in the case of an employee on an approved paid leave.  Floating holidays will be pro-rated 

in the year of hire and termination/resignation/retirement as follows: 

  

              Hired            Leaving 

   January-March 3  0 
   April-June  2  1 

   July-September 1  2 

   October-December 0  3 

 

 

Non-exempt employees who work on any of the scheduled holidays shall receive double time 

pay for all hours worked on the holiday unless otherwise noted in departmental policies or have 

received an additional day off as noted above.   

 

When an exempt employee is required to work one of the holidays listed above, that supervisor 

shall be given an additional floating holiday off, to be scheduled with supervisory approval. This 

provision shall not apply to Fire personnel working a 24-hour shift.      

                   

Non-represented Fire Personnel working a 24-hour shift shall be granted pay for scheduled 

holidays in accordance with the current International Association of Fire Fighters Local 257 

collective bargaining agreement.  In addition to the pay for scheduled holidays, 24-hour shift 



8 

personnel shall be entitled to floating holidays based on the following schedule: 

 

Upon promotion or year of hire:  one (1) floating holiday 

After five (5) years of city service:  two (2) floating holidays 

After eight (8) years of city service:  three (3) floating holidays 

  

 Floating Holidays shall be charged in one quarter hour increments and/or pursuant to 

departmental policies or guidelines.  

 

B. Vacation:  All regular full-time employees shall be entitled to paid vacation benefits as of 

January 1 of each year based upon their length of continuous service.  For purposes of 
determining future vacation eligibility, the year of hire shall be treated as a full year of service.  

  

Regular part-time employees are eligible for vacation pro-rated based on the approved budgeted 

position.  Regular part-time employees shall use vacation based on the number of hours 

scheduled to work on the day or days for which the vacation is requested.   

  

Paid vacations shall be provided in accordance with the following:  

   

Vacation Schedules:  Existing employees shall be placed on the schedule below effective 

January 1, 2012.  Employees will not lose earned vacation as a result of that placement and shall 

move to the next increment based on their years of service on the schedule below. 

  

 Year of hire:  Persons hired prior to July 1 of any year shall receive one week (5 working days) 

of vacation during their year of hire subject to approval of their department head or Mayor if 

appropriate and in accordance with department policies.  

 

1.    Non-exempt:  

After one year of continuous service: one week of vacation (five working days.)   

After two years of continuous service:  two weeks of vacation (ten working days.) 

  After six years of continuous service: two weeks plus two days of vacation (twelve 

working days.)   

     After eight years of continuous service: three weeks of vacation (fifteen working days.)   

After twelve years of continuous service: four weeks of vacation (twenty working days.) 

After fifteen years of continuous service: four weeks plus two days of vacation (twenty-two 

working days.) 

After twenty years of continuous service: five weeks  

 

2.   Exempt: 

After one year of continuous service: two weeks (ten working days.)   

After five years of continuous service: three weeks (fifteen working days) 

After eight years of continuous service: three weeks plus three days of vacation (eighteen    

working days.)   

After twelve years of continuous service: four weeks plus two days of vacation (twenty- two 

working days.) 

After twenty years of continuous service: five weeks plus four days of vacation (twenty-nine   

working days.) 

 

3. Fire Personnel working a 24-hour shift: 



9 

After one year of continuous service: three days of vacation. 

After two years of continuous service: six days of vacation. 

After five years of continuous service: seven days of vacation. 

After eight years of continuous service: ten days of vacation. 

After twelve years of continuous service: thirteen days of vacation. 

After sixteen years of continuous service:  fourteen days of vacation. 

After twenty years of continuous service: sixteen days of vacation. 

 

Administration of Vacation: 

 

Department directors/or designee shall approve the number of employees off on vacation at any 
one given time, as well as how employees will pick vacations and whether or not employees will 

be allowed to cancel vacations. 

 

With the exception of the year of hire, vacation credits are earned in one year and are available 

for use in the following year.  All employees entitled to three (3) weeks or more of vacation must 

schedule and take at least two (2) weeks of vacation during the year of entitlement.  All 

employees entitled to less than three (3) weeks of vacation must schedule and take at least one 

(1) week of vacation during the year of entitlement.  Employees who do not schedule the 

minimum required vacation will have it scheduled for them at a time determined by the 

department. If a department is unable to schedule the minimum required vacation for the 

employee, the time will be lost.   

                                                                

 Vacation benefits shall be charged in one quarter hour increments and/or pursuant to 

departmental policies or guidelines.  

 

 When a holiday falls during an employee's vacation, he/she shall not be required to use a 

vacation day in lieu of the holiday. 

.              

In the event an employee or family member becomes ill during an employee’s vacation, the 

employee will not be allowed to substitute sick leave for vacation unless the need for sick leave 

commences prior to the start of the approved vacation.  

 

   Regular employees who move from one position to another by transfer, promotion, or demotion, 

in the City, shall be credited with accumulated vacation leave in their new position.           
  An employee whose employment status is changed from temporary to regular status without a 

break in service shall receive vacation credits from the original date of hire.  Library employees 

whose status is changed from temporary to regular status will have their vacation based on their 

status effective date change.        

                                                                      

No credit for vacation leave shall be granted for time worked by an employee in excess of their 

normal workweek.       

                                                                      

  Use of vacation time must be approved in advance by the department head.                                    

   

 Vacation Carry-Over:  

  

 Any employee may carry over, from one year to the next, up to a maximum of five (5) days 

(forty hours) vacation.   

 

 Non-represented Fire employees working a 24-hour shift may carry over, from one year to the 



10 

next, three (3) days.   

 

Any vacation time that is carried over into a subsequent year shall be considered the first 

vacation time used by the employee in the subsequent year.  The process at year end for 

employees who have unused vacation will be as follows: 

 

1. Any unused eligible balance up to forty hours will automatically be carried over to the 

next year. 

2. Any remaining balance up to forty hours may be paid to the employees PEHP or H.S.A. 

account. (No more than a total of up to 40 hours for the two plans combined) 

  

 Any employee wishing to have their remaining balance paid to the PEHP (up to 40 hours 

 maximum), must enter the hours of the remaining balance in the payroll system on the 

 payroll that includes 12/31 and use a code of “VT” in Iseries or 822 in Munis.   

 

  

Any employee wishing to have their remaining balance paid to their H.S.A. account (up 

to 40 hours maximum), must enter the hours of the remaining balance in the payroll 

system on the payroll that includes 12/31 and use the code of “XV” in Iseries or 818 in 

Munis.    

 

Fire personnel employees who have vacation balances as of December 31, will have the unused 

eligible balance up to three days for Fire personnel working a 24 hour shift, automatically carried 

over to the next year and any remaining balance up to three days for Fire personnel working a 24 

hour shift may be paid to their PEHP account or their H.S.A. account: (No more than a total of 

up to 40 hours for the two plans combined)   

In both payout options, Fire employees working a 24-hour shift will have their shift hours 

converted to a 40 hour paid work week.   

 

All eligible vacation not used in the year in which it is available and not carried over, must be 

entered into the payroll system with the VT or XV codes for payment to their PEHP or H.S.A. 

account or the vacation time will be lost.  

 

At termination or retirement, any unused vacation will be paid to the employee in a lump sum.  

Vacation cannot be used over payroll periods to extend the last day of employment. 
 

Exceptions to the above vacation carryover and PEHP/H.S.A. contribution beyond forty hours 

and three days for Fire personnel working a 24 hour shift, may be made in unusual circumstances 

as pre-approved by the Department Director or Mayor as appropriate and the Human Resources 

Director. 

 

The Human Resources Director may request exceptions to the vacation provisions as it relates to 

placement on the schedule, on a case-by-case basis with a report to the Human Resources 

Committee.   

          

C. Paid Time Off:  (PTO) Employees shall receive six (6) PTO days January 1 of each year to be 

used as paid time off.  Part-time employees shall receive a pro-rated amount based on their 

approved budgeted position.  For newly hired employees, PTO days shall be pro-rated based on 

the month hired.  Employees will be allowed to carryover three (3) PTO days not used as of 

December 31st.  Any request made for PTO days shall follow the normal procedure for the type 

of leave being requested.  (e.g. vacation, floating holidays and sick leave must follow the normal 



11 

guidelines used for requesting that type of benefit) 

 

 PTO days shall be pro-rated in the year of hire/termination/resignation/retirement as follows: 

                                                                                             

Hired      Leaving 

  January-February  5  0 

  March-April   4  1 

  May-June   3  2 

  July-August   2  3 

    September-October  1  4 

    November-December  0  5 
  

Fire employees working a 24-hour shift shall receive four (4) PTO days on January 1st of each 

year to be used as paid time off.  Fire employees will be allowed to carryover two (2) PTO days 

not used as of December 31st. 

 

PTO days for Fire employees working a 24-hour shift shall be pro-rated in the year of 

hire/termination resignation/retirement as follows: 

 

                                                                                            Hired      Leaving 

  January-March   3  0 

  April-June   2  1 

  July-September  1  2 

    October-December  0  3 

     

Employees who use more PTO than they are entitled to in the year they leave employment shall 

owe the City the time back, unless the employee leaves employment as a result of physician 

certified disability.  

  

 PTO days shall be charged in one quarter hour increments and/or pursuant to departmental 

policies or guidelines.  

 

D. Sick Leave:   Employees who have sick leave on the books will have that balance grandfathered 

as of December 31, 2011 and employees will no longer earn sick leave.   

                                              
Sick leave that has been grandfathered may be used for an absence due to illness of, or injury to, 

the employee or an immediate family member living in the employee's residence, unless 

otherwise qualified under the Family Medical Leave Act.   

        

Sick leave cannot be used until all Paid Time Off (PTO) days have been exhausted unless 

otherwise qualified under the Family Medical Leave Act.  Employees must use the 2nd sick leave 

bank before accessing the regular bank; 

 

1.  PTO 

2.  2nd sick leave bank 

3.  Regular sick leave bank   

                    

 Sick leave and PTO may be used for doctor or dental appointments, which cannot be scheduled 

during an employee's regular time off.  Employees are encouraged to schedule routine 

appointments that minimize the operational impact to the department. 

                                                                                                                               



12 

 Sick leave and PTO shall be charged in no less than one quarter-hour increments provided it is 

pre-approved by the employee’s supervisor and/or pursuant to departmental policies or 

guidelines 

    

A regular employee who moves from one position to another by transfer, promotion, or 

demotion, in the City, shall have their total sick leave credits transferred to the new department.    

 

Employees who wish to utilize the sick leave benefits available for domestic partners must 

submit in writing to the Human Resources Department proof that the criteria listed above in (a-f) 

under Definitions (G) are met.  Human Resources will make a determination on eligibility based 

on the information provided by the employee.  
 

E. Funeral Leave: In the case of the death of the employee's spouse, domestic partner, child, or 

stepchild, regular full-time employees may be paid for scheduled time lost up to ten (10) working 

days, but not to exceed (80) eighty hours, at the employee's regular straight time rate.  Leave 

must be taken within 60 days of the death. 

 

In the case of death in the immediate family of a regular full-time employee, the employee will 

be paid for the scheduled time lost up to three (3) scheduled workdays, but not to exceed (24) 

twenty-four hours at the employee’s regular straight time hourly rate.   

 

For purposes of funeral leave, immediate family shall be defined as the employee’s grandchild; 

mother or step-mother; father or step-father; legal guardian; sister or brother; mother-in-law or 

father-in-law; any other relative living in the employee's residence at the time of death; or the 

mother or father of the employee’s domestic partner.   

 

In the event of death of the grandparent of the employee, employee spouse, or domestic partner, 

the employee will be given leave for the day of the funeral, but not to exceed (8) hours at the 

employee’s straight time hourly rate. 

  

Fire employees working a 24-hour shift shall be eligible for funeral leave based on the following: 

Spouse, domestic partner, child or stepchild:  5 workdays without loss of pay 

Immediate Family: 2 workdays  

Grandparent: 1 workday 

Employees who wish to utilize the funeral leave benefits available for domestic partners must 

submit in writing to the Human Resources Department proof that the criteria listed above in (a-f) 

under Definitions (G) are met.  Human Resources will make a determination on eligibility based 

on the information provided by the employee.  

 

Regular part-time employees are eligible for funeral leave pro-rated based on the approved 

budgeted position. 

 

F. Compensatory Time: Non-exempt regular full-time employees will be paid overtime at time and 

one-half for all hours in excess of forty hours worked in a pay week.  Non-exempt regular full-

time employees, with the prior approval of their supervisor, may have the option of converting 

additional time worked to compensatory time off up to a maximum of 40 hours.  Request for 

usage of compensatory time shall be pursuant to departmental policies.    

 

G. Jury Duty/Witness Duty: Regular full-time and regular part-time employees shall receive full pay 

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red



13 

for any work day the employee serves as a juror or if subpoenaed on witness duty if the 

employee was scheduled for work.  In order for an employee to be eligible for witness duty pay, 

the reason for being a witness must be related to their employment with the City of Appleton.  

As a condition for such payment, the employee shall report for work for their regularly scheduled 

hours immediately before and following such duty when reasonably possible and shall 

immediately notify the Employer upon receipt of the jury summons or subpoena. The employee 

shall complete a Jury Duty Request form and submit it to their supervisor as soon as they are 

notified by subpoena of their requested appearance. 

 

In order to receive full pay the employee is required to, upon receipt of jury or witness pay, 

submit their jury or witness pay to the City payroll office.  The payroll office will cash the 
employees check, retain the portion of the check representing per diem payments, and give the 

employee the mileage and meal reimbursement portions of the check. 

 

Employees, at their option, may use paid time off for a day of jury or witness duty and thereby 

retain the jury or witness pay as well as full pay for the day(s).  

 

VII. LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

  

 Leaves of absence may be granted without pay subject to the following conditions: 

 

Leave without pay shall be granted at the City’s discretion. Leaves will be granted at the total 

discretion of the Department Head and the Human Resources Director. Any leave request from a 

Library employee must also be approved by the Library Board. A Request for leave of absence 

must be requested at least 30 days prior to the taking of such leave, or in emergency cases as 

soon as reasonable or practicable. An acceptable physician’s certification shall be required for all 

medical leaves of absences. No leave of absence shall be granted for more than one calendar 

year.   

 

A leave of absence may be considered for up to one calendar year. If leave is needed beyond one 

calendar year and it is related to a medical condition, then employee may be placed on an 

inactive status. Inactive status may only be considered if: 

• The employee is not permanently restricted from returning to their position. 

• There is no financial impact to the City (e.g. salary or fringe benefits) while on an 

inactive status. 

• The position will not be held vacant. 

• All other requirements under Leave of Absence in this policy are followed. 

Employees returning from an inactive status will be eligible to return to the same or a like 

position in that department, if one exists, when they are deemed fit for duty. The inactive status 

will end no later than three years from the date of leave, at which point employment will 

terminate. 

 

When such leave is requested as an extension of medical leave, an acceptable physician’s 

certificate shall be required.  

 

The employee must exhaust all available paid time off benefits prior to the commencement of an 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not

Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not

Bold

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not

Bold



14 

unpaid leave of absence. 

 

Return to work earlier than the scheduled termination of leave date may be arranged by the 

department head and the employee with the approval of the Human Resources Director, provided 

it does not conflict with the physician’s certification. 

 

Employees on an unpaid leave of absence with the City may not be employed elsewhere unless 

otherwise approved by the Human Resources Director. 

 

If an employee is unable to return to work on the date stipulated, they he/she may submit a 

written request to extend their leave of absence, subject to the approval of the Human Resources 
Director.  If, on the date following the expiration of the leave of absence, an extension is not 

requested and granted and the employee has not returned to their position, the employee shall be 

considered to have voluntarily resigned from City employment. 

 

The appropriate Department Head may approve leaves of absence without pay for a period of 

less than 3 days in a given year provided that all available paid time off benefits have been 

exhausted prior to the requested leave dates. 

 

Any employee absent from work without approval shall receive no pay for the duration of the 

absence, and shall be subject to corrective action up to and including discharge. 

 

VIII. BENEFIT STATUS DURING LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

 

Employees on an approved leave of absence without pay may elect to continue health, dental, and life 

insurance coverage during the period they are on leave beyond the first thirty days in addition to any 

voluntary insurance policies they may have elected.  The employee shall be responsible for paying the 

full premium(s), due on or before the first of the month, in the Human Resources Department for all of 

the desired coverage.  Failure to make timely payments will cause cancellation of coverage. 

 

Paid time off   and vacation shall not be earned by an employee during a leave of absence without pay, a 

suspension without pay, or when the employee is otherwise in a non compensable status, excluding 

approved FMLA, should such period without pay exceed thirty calendar days in any calendar month.  In 

this case, the employee’s vacation, floating holiday and PTO entitlement for the following year shall be 

pro-rated. 
  

 

IX. PHYSICAL FITNESS PROGRAM-POLICE & FIRE SWORN PERSONNEL  

 

Exempt non-represented protective status personnel shall have the option of participating in the Physical 

Fitness Salary Incentive and Physical Fitness Bonus Incentive program. 
 

All participating protective status personnel will be tested on the schedule for the represented employees 

within their respective departments, either annually (Fire) or bi-annually (Police).  
 

A. Physical Fitness Salary Incentive: 

Annual Testing:  Participating employees receiving a score of “excellent” will be paid a physical 

fitness salary incentive of 2% of base pay and those receiving a score of “good” will be paid a 

physical fitness salary incentive of 1% of their base pay until the next testing date. Such payment 

shall be in a lump sum payable within thirty (30) days of the finalization of the testing results and 

shall be calculated on the basis of 2% or 1% of the employee’s annual base pay, calculated on 



15 

the rate of pay at the time of the test. Employees receiving a score of “adequate” or “poor” will 

not be eligible for a physical fitness salary incentive. 

 

Bi-Annual Testing:  Participating employees receiving a score of “excellent” will be paid a 

physical fitness salary incentive of 2% of base pay and those receiving a score of “good” will be 

paid a premium of 1% of their base pay until the next testing date.  Such payment shall be in a 

lump sum payable within thirty (30) days of the finalization of the testing results and shall be 

calculated on the basis of 2% or 1% of one half of the employee’s annual base pay, calculated on 

the rate of pay at the time of the test.  Employees receiving a score of “adequate” or “poor” will 

not be eligible for a physical fitness salary incentive. 

 

B. Physical Fitness Bonus Incentive:   

Annual Testing:  Participating employees shall be eligible for eight (8) hours of physical fitness 

bonus pay for each testing period that the employee receives a score of “excellent” and four (4) 

hours of physical fitness bonus pay for each testing period that the employee receives a score of 

“good”.  Employees who score as “adequate” or “poor” will not be eligible for a physical fitness 

bonus incentive. 

 

Bi-Annual Testing:  Participating employees shall be eligible for four (4) hours of physical 

fitness bonus pay for each testing period that the employee receives a score of “excellent” and 

two (2) hours of physical fitness bonus pay for each testing period that the employee receives a 
score of “good”.  Employees who score as “adequate or “poor” will not be eligible for a physical 

fitness bonus incentive. 

 

The accumulated total physical fitness bonus incentive shall be paid to the eligible employee upon 

retirement (as defined by WRS) to the PEHP.  Such payment will be made in accordance with and in 

addition to the retirement benefits outlined in section V. (Benefits) E. (Post Employment Health Plan) 

and section XI. (Termination Benefits) of this policy.   

 

X. TERMINATION BENEFITS 

 

A. Retirement:  Employees retiring, with proper notice, at or above the normal retirement age 

established under the Wisconsin Retirement System and/or eligible for a retirement annuity from 

the Wisconsin Retirement System shall be eligible for the following benefits: 

a. A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated and carry-over vacation balance * 

 

b. A lump sum pay-out of floating holiday and PTO based upon the proration outlined in, 

Section IV-Paid Leave, of this policy.** 

 

c. A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated compensatory time. 

 

d. Accumulated and unused sick leave to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days, 

(90 days maximum for formerly represented AFSCME employees and Police Captains and 

Lieutenants), shall be paid to the Post Employment Health Plan.  Additionally, any 

accumulated physical fitness bonus incentive for protective status personnel shall be paid to 

the PEHP).  

 

e. If the employee has completed at least five (5) years of service with the City, the employee 

may be eligible for a medical plan option exclusive of Dental.  Such medical option may be 

made available to employees and spouses at their own expense, up to the time the employee 



16 

and/or spouse turns age 65 or becomes eligible for Medicare, provided they exercise this 

option prior to their last day of work.  

 

f. The option of continuing dental coverage for a period of eighteen (18) months following the 

month in which their retirement occurred, in accordance with state and federal laws. 

 

B. Resignation:  Employees who resign their employment with proper notice shall be eligible for 

the following benefits:   

 

a.     A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated and carry-over vacation balance. * 

 
b.    A lump sum pay-out of floating holiday and PTO based upon the proration outlined in, 

Section IV Paid Leave, of this policy.** 

 

c.    A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated compensatory time. 

 

d.    The option of continuing the medical and dental coverage for a period of eighteen (18) 

months following the month in which their resignation occurred, in accordance with state 

and federal laws. 

  

C. Retirement or Resignation without proper notice: Employees who retire or resign their 

employment without proper notice (unless the reason for lack of proper notice is due to a 

physician certified disability) may be eligible for the following benefits:  

a. A lump sum pay-out of any carry-over vacation balance.* 

 

b. A lump sum pay-out of any accumulated vacation balance based upon the following pro-

ration 

 1.  Employees required to give a (2) week notice will have a reduction of 10 days. 

 2.  Employees required to give a (30) thirty day notice will have a reduction of 30 days. 

 

c. Floating holiday and/or PTO** 

 

d. Employees will receive a lump sum pay-out of their accumulated compensatory time. 

 

e. The option of continuing the medical and dental coverage for a period of up to eighteen (18) 

months following the month in which their retirement or resignation occurred, in accordance 

with state and federal laws. 

 

f. Accumulated and unused sick leave to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days, 

(90 days maximum for formerly represented AFSCME employees and Police Captains and 

Lieutenants), shall be paid to the Post Employment Health Plan.  Additionally, any 

accumulated physical fitness bonus incentive for protective status personnel shall be paid to 

the PEHP).  

 

D. Termination:  Employees benefits: 

a. A lump sum pay-out of any carry-over vacation * 

 

b. Floating holiday and/or PTO** 

 

c. Employees will receive a lump sum pay-out of their accumulated compensatory time. 



17 

 

d. The option of continuing the medical and dental coverage for a period of up to eighteen (18) 

months following the month in which their termination occurred, in accordance with state 

and federal laws. 

 

E. Death of an employee:  In the event of the death of an employee, the following benefits shall be 

direct deposited into the employee’s account: 

 

a. A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated and carry-over vacation balance.* 

 

b. A lump sum pay-out of floating holiday and PTO based upon the proration outlined in, 
Section VI Paid Leave, of this policy. 

 

c. A lump sum pay-out of their accumulated compensatory time. 

 

d. A lump sum pay-out of accumulated and unused sick leave to a maximum of ninety (90) 

working days.  For those employees who are eligible, up to an additional thirty (30) days of 

accumulated sick leave (beyond the 90 days) and any accumulated physical fitness bonus 

incentive for protective status personnel shall be paid to the employee’s spouse and if no 

spouse is living, the employee’s estate. 

 

e. A medical plan option exclusive of Dental, may be made available to the employee’s spouse 

at their own expense, up to the time the spouse turns age sixty-five (65) or becomes eligible 

for Medicare, provided they exercise this option within thirty days of the employee’s death.  

 

f. The spouse shall have the option of continuing dental coverage for a period of eighteen (18) 

months following the month in which the employee’s death occurred, in accordance with 

state and federal laws. 

 

 

*Employees leaving with less than twelveeighteen (128) months of service shall owe the City back all vacation 

time used. have vacation prorated based on the following formula: 

 

5/6 vacation day for each month of completed service minus any vacation time used between their date of hire 

and their last day of work. In the event the employee has used more vacation than they were entitled, based on 
this formula, the employee shall have an amount equal to the paid but unearned vacation deducted from their 

final pay (unless the employee leaves employment as a result of a physician certified disability).  

 

**Employees who have used more floating holiday and/or PTO benefit than they were entitled pursuant to 

Section VI Paid Leave, of this policy in the last year of their employment will have an amount equal to the paid 

but unearned benefit deducted from their final pay (unless the employee leaves employment as a result of a 

physician certified disability). 



  
57-22 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR THE  
CITY OF APPLETON. 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 

 Section 1:  The Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 – Chapter 14: Downtown Plan, Section 

4: Downtown Development Concept, Opportunity Site #7 Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking 

Ramp, pages 314, 318, and 319 be amended to read as follows: 

 7. Soldiers Square See Comp Plan Amend #3-22 Pages 318-319, Page 314 

7. Soldier’s Square/YMCA Parking Ramp, Pages 318 and 319 
 
The right of way (ROW) known as Solider Square houses the historic civil war 
monument dedicated in 1911.  This bronze and granite sculpture is currently 
undergoing much needed maintenance and restoration.    
 
A philanthropic public-private partnership to restore the monument (public) and 
raise funds to undertake the expansion of a flexible outdoor pedestrian zone 
(private) that would include:  
• An extended pedestrian area around the civil war monument, including 

benches, reflection area, informative plaques, etc.   
• Maintain street parking to support a variety of businesses and public 

ingress/egress to area. 
• Encourage sustainable elements. 
• Environment support small group gatherings, place making and increase 

vibrancy. 
 

The YMCA Parking Ramp is being replaced with a new parking ramp. 
 
Figure 42 deleted per Comprehensive Plan Amendment #3-22. 

 
 Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

58-22 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 19-86 OF CHAPTER 19 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO PARKING 
RESTRICTIONS. 

(Municipal Services Committee 10/5/2022) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 



  
Section 1:  That Section 19-86 of Chapter 19 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to parking restrictions, is hereby created as follows.  This ordinance 

supersedes and repeals any conflicting ordinance regarding parking in the designated area. 

 
Parking be restricted to vehicles displaying handicapped license plates or 
Wisconsin Handicapped permit only on the west side of Locust Street from a 
point 15 feet south of College Avenue to a point 40 feet south of College Avenue. 
 
 
Section 2: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication, and upon its passage and publication, the Traffic Engineer is authorized and directed 

to make the necessary changes in the Parking District Map in accordance with this Ordinance. 

Dated:   October 19, 2022 
 

 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 10-5-22 Special Session
	0001_2_CC Minutes 10-5-22
	0002_1_TA 3-22 Public Hearing Notice
	0005_1_Pillow Talk n Wine SL
	0006_1_StaffReport_SoldiersSquare_CompPlanTextAmend_For09-14-22
	0007_1_StaffReport_TrailViewEstatesSouth3_FinalPlat_For10-12-22
	6025Final3-1 of 3
	6025Final3-2 of 3
	6025Final3-3 of 3

	0008_1_StaffReport_2821NBallardRd_SUP_For10-12-22
	0009_1_Finance Memo_SSB Construction Project Bid Rejection
	0010_1_2022 AWWTP BIOGAS BOILER SYSTEM HVAC Upgrades Project_
	0011_1_2022 Telulah Pavilion Repairs Project
	0012_1_2022 AWWTP Painting Project
	0013_1_Library Sidewalk Budget Amendment
	0014_1_Parker Johns Variance Request Memo 10-12-22
	0014_2_Variance Request Narrative from Parker Johns
	0014_3_Storage Shed_Sheet A1_Elevations_Parker Johns
	Sheets
	A1 - Elevations


	0014_4_Bldg Remodel Plans_Parker Johns
	0014_5_NEBP Plat 3 Declaration of Covenants + Restrictions
	0014_6_NEBP Map
	0015_1_2022 Sept ESC Ord revisions combined
	2022 Ch 24 update UC memo
	Department of Public Works – Engineering Division
	MEMO

	Erosion Control - Redline - 09-15-2022
	Erosion Control Program Sept 2022 Update redline
	2.4 Construction Site Pollutant Control Revised September 2022
	EC Plan Checklist - WPDES 2022

	0016_1_2022 Sept ESC Program combined
	2022 ESC Program update UC memo
	Department of Public Works – Engineering Division
	MEMO

	Erosion Control Program Sept 2022 Update redline
	2.4 Construction Site Pollutant Control Revised September 2022
	EC Plan Checklist - WPDES 2022
	Erosion Control - Redline - 09-15-2022

	0017_1_Utilities Committees - 10-11-22 - Project List - 2023 Add-on Water Main Replacements
	0018_1_Fire TA August 19, 2022 for HR Committee
	0018_2_Fire Fighter Contract 2023
	0019_1_Fringe Benefit Policy 2022
	0020_1_Ordinances to Council 10-19-22
	The right of way (ROW) known as Solider Square houses the historic civil war monument dedicated in 1911.  This bronze and granite sculpture is currently undergoing much needed maintenance and restoration.
	A philanthropic public-private partnership to restore the monument (public) and raise funds to undertake the expansion of a flexible outdoor pedestrian zone (private) that would include:
	 An extended pedestrian area around the civil war monument, including benches, reflection area, informative plaques, etc.
	 Maintain street parking to support a variety of businesses and public ingress/egress to area.
	 Encourage sustainable elements.
	 Environment support small group gatherings, place making and increase vibrancy.
	The YMCA Parking Ramp is being replaced with a new parking ramp.
	Figure 42 deleted per Comprehensive Plan Amendment #3-22.


	undefined_108: 
	Site Name: 
	Address: 
	Date: 
	Site Plan: 
	Reviewed By: 
	undefined_2: 
	undefined_3: 
	undefined_4: 
	undefined_5: 
	undefined_7: 
	undefined_9: 
	undefined_11: 
	undefined_12: 
	undefined_14: 
	undefined_16: 
	undefined_18: 
	undefined_19: 
	undefined_21: 
	undefined_23: 
	undefined_25: 
	undefined_26: 
	undefined_28: 
	undefined_30: 
	undefined_32: 
	undefined_34: 
	undefined_36: 
	undefined_38: 
	undefined_40: 
	undefined_42: 
	undefined_44: 
	undefined_46: 
	undefined_48: 
	undefined_49: 
	undefined_51: 
	undefined_53: 
	undefined_55: 
	undefined_56: 
	undefined_58: 
	undefined_59: 
	undefined_60: 
	undefined_61: 
	undefined_63: 
	undefined_65: 
	undefined_67: 
	undefined_68: 
	undefined_70: 
	undefined_72: 
	undefined_74: 
	undefined_75: 
	undefined_77: 
	undefined_79: 
	undefined_81: 
	undefined_82: 
	undefined_84: 
	undefined_86: 
	undefined_88: 
	undefined_89: 
	undefined_91: 
	undefined_93: 
	undefined_95: 
	undefined_96: 
	undefined_98: 
	undefined_100: 
	undefined_101: 
	undefined_103: 
	undefined_105: 
	undefined_107: 
	undefined_110: 
	undefined_112: 
	undefined_114: 
	undefined_115: 
	undefined_117: 
	undefined_119: 
	undefined_121: 
	undefined_122: 
	undefined_124: 
	undefined_126: 
	undefined_128: 
	undefined_129: 
	undefined_131: 
	undefined_133: 
	undefined_135: 
	undefined_136: 
	undefined_138: 
	undefined_140: 
	undefined_142: 
	undefined_143: 
	undefined_145: 
	undefined_146: 
	undefined_147: 
	undefined_148: 
	undefined_150: 
	undefined_152: 
	undefined_154: 
	undefined_155: 
	undefined_157: 
	undefined_159: 
	undefined_161: 
	undefined_162: 
	undefined_164: 
	undefined_166: 
	undefined_168: 
	undefined_169: 
	undefined_171: 
	undefined_173: 
	undefined_175: 
	undefined_176: 
	undefined_178: 
	undefined_180: 
	undefined_182: 
	undefined_183: 
	undefined_185: 
	undefined_187: 
	undefined_189: 
	undefined_191: 
	undefined_193: 
	undefined_195: 
	undefined_197: 
	undefined_198: 
	undefined_200: 
	undefined_202: 
	undefined_204: 
	undefined_205: 
	undefined_207: 
	undefined_209: 
	undefined_211: 
	undefined_213: 
	undefined_215: 
	undefined_217: 
	undefined_219: 
	undefined_221: 
	undefined_223: 
	undefined_225: 
	undefined_227: 
	undefined_228: 
	undefined_230: 
	undefined_232: 
	undefined_234: 
	undefined_235: 
	undefined_237: 
	undefined_239: 
	undefined_241: 
	undefined_243: 
	undefined_245: 
	undefined_247: 
	undefined_249: 
	undefined_251: 
	undefined_253: 
	undefined_255: 
	undefined_257: 
	undefined_259: 
	undefined_261: 
	undefined_263: 
	undefined_265: 
	undefined_267: 
	undefined_269: 
	undefined_271: 
	undefined_273: 
	undefined_275: 
	undefined_277: 
	undefined_279: 
	undefined_281: 
	undefined_282: 
	undefined_284: 
	undefined_286: 
	undefined_288: 
	undefined_289: 
	undefined_291: 
	undefined_293: 
	undefined_295: 
	undefined_296: 
	undefined_298: 
	undefined_300: 
	undefined_302: 
	undefined_303: 
	undefined_305: 
	undefined_307: 
	undefined_309: 
	undefined_311: 
	undefined_313: 
	undefined_315: 
	undefined_317: 
	undefined_318: 
	undefined_320: 
	undefined_322: 
	undefined_324: 
	undefined_325: 
	undefined_327: 
	undefined_329: 
	undefined_331: 
	undefined_332: 
	undefined_334: 
	undefined_336: 
	undefined_338: 
	undefined_339: 
	undefined_341: 
	undefined_343: 
	undefined_345: 
	undefined_346: 
	undefined_348: 
	undefined_349: 
	undefined_351: 
	undefined_352: 
	undefined_354: 
	undefined_356: 
	undefined_358: 
	undefined_359: 


